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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period from to
Commission File Number 001-35506

PROOFPOINT, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 51-0414846
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)
892 Ross Drive 94089
Sunnyvale, California (Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

(408) 517-4710
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area ode

S ecurities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ofie Act:

Title of Each Class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock , $0.0001 par value per share NASDAQ Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tifie Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%dbéturities Act. YESM NO O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. YES] NO M

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant &k filed all reports required to be filed by Secti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l88ring the preceding

12 months (or for such shorter period that thestegit was required to file such reports), anché®) been subject to such filing requirements ferpist 90 days. YE& NO
O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasnitted electronically and posted on its corpokéb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8&Bof this chapter) during the preceding 12 meith for such shorter period that the registraas vequired to submit and
post such files). YE® NOO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (828% of this chapter) is not contained herein, w&ilichot be contained, to the
best of registrant’'s knowledge, in definitive praxtyinformation statements incorporated by refeeendPart 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthis Form 10-K. O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&uee the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smalfeporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the ExchaAge.

Large accelerated filéd Accelerated fileld Non-accelerated fildf Smaller reporting compariy
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Erge Act). YES] NO M
The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmga@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistrant, based upon the closing price of a shitieeoregistrant’s common
stock on June 30, 2014 as reported by the NASDAG&ISelect Market on that date, was approxima2/291,000,000 . This calculation does not reffedetermination that
certain persons are affiliates of the registrantfuy other purpose.
The number of shares outstanding of the regissaatmmon stock as of February 13, 2015 was 38,993%Bares.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s Proxy Statement 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxgt&ment”), to be filed with the Securities and lEege Commission,
are incorporated by reference into Part |1l of thisiual Report on Form 10-K where indicated. ThexipiStatement will be filed with the Securities dxthange Commission
within 120 days of the registrant's fiscal yeareh®ecember 31, 2014 .
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg statements within the meaning of the Pri&geurities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. All statements contained in this AnihRaport on Form 10-K other than statements obhistl fact, including statements
regarding our future results of operations andrfmal position, our business strategy and pland,cam objectives for future operations, are
forward-looking statements. The words "believe,'ayi "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate;intend,"” "expect," and similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statemefit® have based these forward-looking statemergeliaon our current expectations and
projections about future events and trends thabelieve may affect our financial condition, resutoperations, business strategy, short-term
and long-term business operations and objectivekfinancial needs. These forward-looking statesiant subject to a number of risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, including thoseriestin Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in this Aumal Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we
operate in a very competitive and rapidly changingironment. New risks emerge from time to times hot possible for our management to
predict all risks, nor can we assess the impaatldctors on our business or the extent to which factor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from #haentained in any forward-looking statements wg make. In light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the future evemtdrands discussed in this Annual Report on ForaK 1ay not occur and actual results cc
differ materially and adversely from those antitguhor implied in the forward-looking statementse ihdertake no obligation to revise or
publicly release the results of any revision tasthforward-looking statements, except as requiyeldw. Given these risks and uncertainties,
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliamcseich forward-looking statements.

Unless expressly indicated or the context requiteerwise, the terms “Proofpoint,” “Company,” “Regant,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
mean Proofpoint, Inc. and its subsidiaries unlhescontext indicates otherwise.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Proofpoint is a leading security-as-a-service giewithat enables large and mid-sized organizatieilwide to defend, protect,
archive and govern their most sensitive data. @ousty-as-a-service platform is comprised of argnated suite of on-demand data protectio
solutions, including threat protection, incidergpense, regulatory compliance, archiving, goveragabiscovery, and secure communication.
Our solutions are built on a flexible, cloud-bagpdatform and leverage a number of proprietary tetdgies - including big data analytics,
machine learning, deep content inspection, se¢arage, advanced encryption, intelligent messaggnmg, dynamic malware analysis, threat
correlation, and virtual execution environments address today's rapidly changing threat landscape

A fundamental shift in the sources of cyber crifn@mn hackers to organized crime and governmentapated with the emergence of
international data trafficking and sophisticategtatted persistent threats ("APTs"), polymorphie#ts, zero-day exploits, and user-transplan
"drive-by" downloads, is driving an unprecedenteal/evof targeted, malicious attacks designed td gtdaable information. At the same time,
the growth of business-to-business collaboratiahthe use of social media for mass communicatisnyell as the consumerization of IT and
the associated adoption of mobile devices and uagethinternet-based applications, has prolifers¢editive data and reduced the
effectiveness of many existing security productsese factors have contributed to an increasing eumisevere data breaches and expandin
regulatory mandates, all of which have accelerdtedand for effective data protection and governaodations.

Our platform addresses this growing challenge kyonty protecting data as it flows into and outtod enterprise via on-premise and
cloud-based email, instant messaging, social matieother web-based applications, but also by keepack of such information as it is
modified and distributed throughout the enterpfisecompliance and data loss prevention and secarehiving these communications for
compliance and discovery. We address four impogesthlems for the enterprise:

» Keeping malicious content out of the extended @nises

* Preventing the theft or inadvertent loss of gamsinformation and, in turn, ensuring compliangih regulatory data
protection mandates;

» Collecting, retaining, governing and discoveringsigve data for compliance and litigation supparig
» Securely sharing sensitive data with customerdnpes and supplie!

Our platform and its associated solutions are spklistomers on a subscription basis and can Heysspthrough our unique cloud-
based architecture that leverages both our glddtal cknters as well as optional points-of-preséeténd our customers' firewalls. Our flexible
deployment model enables us to deliver superiaurigcaand compliance while maintaining the favombtonomics afforded by cloud
computing, creating a competitive advantage faowes legacy on-premise and cloud-only offerings.

We were founded in 2002 to provide a unified solutio help enterprises address their growing datarity requirements. Our first
solution was commercially released in 2003 to cantburgeoning problem of spam and viruses aei ilmpact on corporate email syste
To address the evolving threat landscape and thtiath of communication and collaboration systemgdmd corporate email and networks,
we have broadened our solutions to defend agaiwilarange of threats, protect against outboudrdy risks, and archive and govern
corporate information. Today, our solutions aredusg approximately 3,300 customers worldwide, idatg 45 of the Fortune 100, protecting
tens of millions of end-users. We market and saiflsmlutions worldwide both directly through outesateams and indirectly through a hybrid
model where our sales organization actively aseists1etwork of distributors and resellers. We alstribute our solutions through strategic
partners.

The Proofpoint Solution

Our integrated suite of on-demand security-as-gicesolutions enables large and mid-sized orgéinizaito defend, protect, archive
and govern their sensitive data. Our comprehendatform provides threat protection, incident resg® regulatory compliance, archiving,
governance, eDiscovery, and secure communicatioesd solutions are built on a cloud-based architecprotecting data not only as it flows
into and out of the enterprise via on-premise daddzbased email,
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instant messaging, social media and other web-bagglitations, and also keeps track of this infdramaas it is modified and distributed
throughout the enterprise for compliance and dzga prevention and securely archiving these comeations for compliance and discovery.
We have pioneered the use of innovative technatagieleliver better ease-of-use, greater protecti@inst the latest advanced threats, and
lower total cost of ownership than traditional altgives. The key elements of our solution include:

»  Superior protection against advanced, targeteddlse We use a combination of proprietary technologiefg data
analytics, machine learning, deep content inspectignamic malware analysis, threat correlatiorl, wértual execution
environments to predictively and actively deted atop targeted "spear phishing" and other soghit&d advanced and next-
generation threat attacks, including APTSs, thatlesnpolymorphic threats, zero-day exploits, usaengparent “drive-by”
downloads and other penetration tactics. By praegsnd modeling billions of requests per day, &e recognize anomalies
in traffic flow to predictively detect targeted adks, before users are exposed. Our deep congg@dtion technology enabl
us to identify malicious message attachments astthduish between valid messages and "phishing'$ages designed to
look authentic and trick the end-user into divutggensitive data or clicking on a malicious wel li@ur machine learning
technology enables us to detect targeted "zero-taitacks in real-time, even if they have not bseen previously at other
locations, and quarantine them appropriately. GQuachic malware analysis and virtual execution eminent technologies
enable us to examine web site destinations and ldadable files to identify and block potentiallydtite code that would
otherwise compromise end-user computers, evercif aieb sites are otherwise benign and considepdabkle. Our threat
correlation technologies enable us to rapidly comfaind contain threats, providing rapid automateitient response.

» Comprehensive, integrated data protection, comgkamnd eDiscovery suiteWe offer a comprehensive solution for data
protection and governance through an integratenirgg-as-a-service platform that is comprisedioé fmain suites:
Proofpoint Enterprise Protection, Proofpoint Entisgo Privacy, Proofpoint Enterprise Archive & Gowance, Proofpoint
Nexgate Social Media Security & Compliance, andoyoint Essentials. Together, these solutions ograve ar
organization's ability to detect and mitigate inbdwnd outbound threats and securely archive eutbder communication
across all major communication channels includingpeemise and cloud-based email, instant messagiigl media and
other web-based applications. In addition, our cammpolicy framework and reporting systems enabimoizations to
comply with complex regulatory mandates, implermemtsistent data governance policies and ensureéceadd incident
response across the enterprise.

» Designed to empower e-users. Unlike legacy offerings that simply block commurtioa or report audit violations, our
solutions actively enable secure business-to-basiaad business-to-consumer communications. Oysteasse policybasel
email encryption service automatically encryptssi#tare emails and delivers them to any PC or motideice. In addition,
our secure file-transfer solution makes it easyefud-users to securely share various forms of deotsrand other content
that are typically too large to send through tiadil e-mail systems. All of our solutions proviaebile-optimized
capabilities to empower the growing number of peapho use mobile devices as their primary compytiagiorm.

»  Security optimized cloud architecturéOur multi-tenant security-as-a-service solutioretages a distributed, scalable
architecture deployed in our global data centerslé®p content inspection, global threat correfaéind analytics, high-speed
search, secure storage, encryption key managestdtware updates, intelligent message routing,ather core functions.
Customers can choose to deploy optional physicuairtiral points-of-presence behind their firewdtis those who prefer to
deploy certain functionality inside their secunityrimeter. This architecture enables us to levetlagdenefits of the cloud to
cost-effectively deliver superior security and cdianpce, while optimizing each deployment for thetoumer's unique threat
environment.

» Extensible securi-as-a-service platform.The key components of our security-as-a-servicéqula, including services for
secure storage, content inspection, reputationdaig analytics, encryption, key management, aauttity and policy, can be
exposed through application programming interfaoe#\Pls, to integrate with internally developegbgations as well as
with those developed by third-parties. In additithrese APIs provide a means to integrate with thercsecurity and
compliance components deployed in our customergstnuctures.

Our Security-as-a-Service Platform
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We provide a multi-tiered security-as-a-servicdfplan consisting of solutions, platform technologand infrastructure. Our platform
currently includes five solutions bundled for tleneenience of our customers, distributors and lerselProofpoint Enterprise Protection,
Proofpoint Enterprise Privacy, Proofpoint Enterpiisrchive & Governance, Proofpoint Nexgate Socialdid Security & Compliance, and
Proofpoint Essentials. Each of these solutionslik &s an aspect of our security-as-a-servicequat, which includes both platform services
and enabling technologies. Our platform servicewide the key functionality to enable our variongisons while our enabling technologies
work in conjunction with our platform services toable the efficient construction, scaling and meiance of our customer-facing solutions.

Our suite is delivered by a cloud infrastructurd aan be deployed as a secure cloud-only solutioas a hybrid solution with
optional physical or virtual points-of-presence ibdhour customers' firewalls for those who pretedéploy certain functionality inside their
security perimeter. In all deployment scenarios,aoud-based architecture enables us to levetagbenefits of the cloud to cost-effectively
deliver superior security and compliance while rtaiiming the flexibility to optimize deployments foustomers' unique environments. The
modularity of our solutions enables our existingtomers to implement additional modules in a sinaple efficient manner.

a2
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Solutions
Proofpoint Enterprise Protectio

Proofpoint Enterprise Protection is our commundaradiand collaboration security suite designed adet customers' mission-critical
messaging infrastructure from outside threats tliolg spam, phishing, unpredictable email volumesware and other forms of objectionable
or dangerous content before they reach the engergdfiey capabilities within Proofpoint Enterprigetéction include:

* Threat detection. Uses our Proofpoint MLX machine learning technglagd reputation data to examine millions of pdssib
attributes in every message, including envelopé&éeaand structure, embedded web links, imageshattents and sender
reputation, as well as unstructured content imtlessage body, to block phishing and spear phisdtiagks, spam and other
forms of malicious or objectionable content. Thituion also includes sophisticated policy and irgitontrols designed to
ensure security and the effective handling of laksifications of content.

5
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» Virus protection. Combats email-borne viruses, worms and trojans avgblution that combines efficient message haggdlin
comprehensive reporting, and robust policy managemigh leading third-party antivirus scanning emeg.

»  Zero-hour threat detection.Protects enterprises against new phishing attatkses and other forms of malicious code
during the critical period after new attacks aleased and before full information is availablebaracterize the threat.

* Smart search. Offers an easy-to-use interface that providestigad visibility into message flows across an oligation's
messaging infrastructure, using built-in loggingl aeporting capabilities with advanced messagéngadorensics and log
analysis capabilities.

* Targeted attack protectiorEnterprises are protected against advanced pertsikteats such as phishing and other targeted
email attacks by the use of big data analysis,iptigd, virtual execution and dynamic malware as@yechniques to identi
and apply additional security controls against &lisps messages and any associated links to the web

e Threat responseProvides threat information and Indicators of Coompise correlation, aggregating across Proofpoidt an
other third-party security products, to confirm amahtain system compromises. By taking advantadgki®fautomated
incident response, enterprises can minimize eafitin windows and leverage staff for breach prewerdnd mitigation.

Key benefits of Proofpoint Enterprise Protectiodlule:

e Superior protection from advanced threats, spamanges. Protects against advanced threats, spam androtid@ious
code such as viruses, worms and spyware.

« Comprehensive outbound threat protectioAnalyzes all outbound email traffic to block sparnmuses and other malicious
content from leaving the corporate network, anggint the responsible compromised systems.

« Automated Incident Respon Analyzes and correlates incident data to configstem compromises, then acts to contain
systems to help minimize and mitigate exposure.

« Effective, flexible policy management and admiaigtn. Provides a user-friendly, web-based administratiberface and
robust reporting capabilities that make it easgl@fine, enforce and manage an enterprise's megsagiicies.

e Easy-to-use end-user controlsGives email users easy, self-service control tiveir individual email preferences within the
parameters of corporate-defined messaging policies.

Proofpoint Enterprise Privac

Our data loss prevention, encryption and compliaatetion defends against leaks of confidentiabinfation, and helps ensure
compliance with common U.S., international and stdgspecific data protection regulations - inchglthe Health Care Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996 ("HIPAA"), the Gramheach-Bliley Act, Canada's Personal Informationtction and Electronic Documents
Act, as well as acts such as CA SB 24 MA 201 CMRQ,7ITAR, NERC-CIP, CFTC red flag rules, BaselHuroSOX (Directive
84/253/EEC), European Union Data Privacy Directargg the Payment Card Industry Security Stand#relg capabilities within Proofpoint
Enterprise Privacy include:

« Advanced data loss preventic Our advanced data loss prevention solution ifleatregulated private content, valuable
corporate assets and confidential information leefbleaves the organization via email, wedsed applications, or our Sec
Share solution. Pre-packaged smart identifiersdigtibnaries automatically and accurately detewide range of regulated
content such as social security numbers, healttrdeccredit card numbers, and driver's licensebmim In addition to
regulated content, our machine learning technot@gyidentify confidential, organization-specifiment and assets. Once
identified and classified, sensitive data can loeked, encrypted and transmitted or re-routedmatyr based on content and
identity-aware policies.
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Flexible remediation and supervisiorContent, identity and destination-aware policiealda effective remediation of
potential data breaches or regulatory violatioremnBdiation options include stopping the transfengletely, automatically
forcing data-encryption, or routing to a compliascgervisor or the end-user for disposition. ProofpEnterprise Privacy
provides comprehensive reporting on potential wiots and remediation using our analytics capadslit

Policy-based encryption.Automatically encrypts regulated and other sensitiata before it leaves an organization's securit
perimeter without requiring cumbersome end-userrkapagement. This enables authorized externalieats whether or
not they are our customers, to quickly and easlyrgbt and view content from most devices.

Secure file transfer.Provides secure, large file transfer capabilitieg enables end-users to send large files quieklsily,
and securely while eliminating the impact of lasggchments on an email infrastructure.

Secure shareCloud-based security-focused solution designexhtible enterprise users to securely exchange filzgavith
ease while staying compliant with enterprise dal&ies.

Content Control Automated discovery and remediation solution idies and enables corrective action on sensit@ent
across enterprise; reduces risk of data breachkesanpliance violations.

Key benefits of Proofpoint Enterprise Privacy irdgu

Regulatory compliance Enables outbound messages to comply with natamélistate government and industry-specific
privacy regulations.

Superior malicious and accidental data loss pratett Protects against the loss of sensitive data, lvendétom a
cybercriminal attempting to exfiltrate valuable alfitom a compromised system, or from an employeglantally distributin
a file to the wrong party through email, webmadicisl media, file sharing, or other Internet-basegthanisms for publishing
content.

Easy-to-use secure communicatiorAllows corporate end-users to easily share semsitata without compromising security
and privacy, and enables authorized external rexipito transparently decrypt and read the comratiaits from any device.
Our mobile-optimized interfaces provide an easyeeiemce for the rapidly growing number of recipgeah smartphones and
tablets.

Proofpoint Enterprise Archive & Governan

Proofpoint Enterprise Archive & Governance is dasitjto ensure accurate enforcement of data govegndata retention and
supervision policies and mandates; cost-effecttigation support through efficient discovery; aattive legal-hold management.

Proofpoint Enterprise Archive can store, govern disdover a wide range of data including emailtansmessage conversations,
social media interactions, and other files throughibe enterprise. The key capabilities within Ppoint Enterprise Archive include:

Secure cloud storageWith our proprietary double blind encryption teclogy and the associated data storage architecture
all email messages, files and other content argyptexl with keys controlled by the customer betbedata enters the
Proofpoint Enterprise Archive. This ensures thareour employees and law-enforcement agencies tanoess a readable
form of the customer data without authorized acbgsthe customer to the encryption keys storedrktiie customer's
firewall.

Search performance By employing parallel, big data search techniguasare able to deliver search performance medsure
in seconds, even when searching hundreds of tesloytarchived data. Traditional on-premise sohgioan take hours or
even days to return search results to a compleryque

Flexible policy enforcemer Enables organizations to easily define and autically enforce data retention and destruction
policies necessary to comply with regulatory maeslatr internal policies that can vary by user, gr@geography or domain.
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Active lege-hold management Enables administrators or legal professionalsagily designate specific individuals or
content as subject to legal-hold. Proofpoint EnisgpArchive then provides active management aséhelds by suspending
normal deletion policies and automatically archivfubsequent messages and files related to thgnaésd matter.

End-user supervision.Leveraging our flexible workflow capabilities, Pfpoint Enterprise Archive analyzes all electronic
communications, including email and communicatifsom leading instant messaging and social netwagrkites, for
potential violations of regulations, such as thioggosed by Financial Industry Regulatory Autho(itiyINRA™) and the SEC
in the financial services industry.

Key benefits of Proofpoint Enterprise Archive indé

Regulatory compliance Helps organizations meet regulatory requiremewtarbhiving all messages and content accordi
compliance retention policies and enabling staffiytstematically review messages for compliancersigien.

Proactive data governanceAllows organizations to create, maintain and cdesity enforce a clear corporate data retentio
policy, reducing the risk of data loss and the cb&Discovery.

Efficient litigation support. Provides advanced search features that reduamst®f eDiscovery and allow organizations to
more effectively manage the litigation hold process

Reduced storage and management coHelps to simplify mailbox and file system managetignautomatically moving
storage-intensive attachments and files into cfisttve cloud storage.

Proofpoint Enterprise Governance can track, clgssibnitor, and apply governance policies to urtdtmed information across the
enterprise. By proactively governing unstructung@imation "in-place," organizations can effectiwelanage regulatory compliance, increase
control over information and mitigate legal andafigial risks. The key capabilities within Proofgdiinterprise Governance include:

Document trackin—digital thread. Proofpoint Enterprise Governance creates a unidiggtdl fingerprint" for every
document and version. Our solution can monitor mugbr document stores including share-drives, d&oft Sharepoint,
Microsoft Exchange, Lotus Domino, EMC Documenturd desktops, and track every document, version @catibn. This
enables organizations to track and govern thesisea documents wherever they travel inside osiolgt the enterprise.

Cloud-based search and analytic®y employing advanced search techniques, we dect@aldleliver detailed reporting on all
monitored documents and locations. Administratars quickly locate all copies and versions of a gidlecument or run
summary reports detailing types and locations arfest documents throughout the enterprise.

Flexible policy enforcementEnables organizations to easily define and autamalitienforce data retention and destruction
policies necessary to comply with regulatory maeslatr internal policies that can vary by user, grquoject or geography.

Key benefits of Proofpoint Enterprise Governaneaude:

Regulatory compliance Helps organizations meet regulatory requirementsylstematically retaining required documents
and unstructured content according to compliantantien policies and enabling staff to efficientiwiew and enforce these
policies.

Proactive data governanceAllows organizations to create, maintain and cdesidy enforce a clear corporate data retentio
and destruction policy around documents and othstructured content, reducing the risk of data &wsthe cost of
eDiscovery.

Efficient litigation support. Provides advanced search features that locatepikts of documents wherever they live redu
the cost of eDiscovery and allowing organizatiansffectively manage the litigation process.

8
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* Reduced storage and management coReduces document management and storage costsoyading the reporting and
clean-up of unnecessary documents including dupkcantermediate versions and non-business records

Proofpoint Nexgate Social Media & Compliar

Our Nexgate Social Media Security & Compliance soluenables customers to effectively protect tbeline brand presence and
social media communication infrastructure. Nexdgatdnology automatically identifies and remediditasdulent social media accounts,
account hacks, and content that contains malwpean @ind abusive language. In addition, the Nexgltgion enables enterprises to enforce
policies on authorized accounts and posts in dadeomply with a wide-range of social media regatatrequirements including FTC, FINRA,
FFIEC, FDA, HIPAA, PHI, SEC, ABA and more. Key cdjiaies within Proofpoint Nexgate Social Media &@pliance include:

« Discovery: Using a native clouttased platform, customers can quickly find theaaniedia applications, accounts, and prope
that are affiliated with their brands, measureftadprint and activity for their accounts, benchkntirat against competitors,
identify key content and risks and report on aspetsecurity and compliance.

* Monitoring: Leveraging social media APls, the platform camitoy and apply content policies to the brandivned social med
accounts for security, compliance and acceptalde us

« Protection: Using proprietary Deep Social Linguistic Analy@iBSLA) technology, social media and brand managans
aggregate content from across their enterprise@ridw it for security, risk and compliance viotats (including FINRA, FFIEC,
FDA, SEC, FCA violations), allowing them to safslyndicate content distribution across their satiatlia marketing platforms.

Key benefits of Proofpoint Nexgate Social MediaB#g & Compliance include:

* Abuse preventio: Scans social networks to discover and track gargration’s accounts and detect fraudulent socédia
accounts. Automatically protects social media cledsifrom malware, spam, hacks, abusive and offer=iwntent. Effectively
scales account moderation with automated, accigafdification of bad content.

» Additional security: Detects unauthorized changes and anomalous let@visocial account profiles. Locks down pages and
accounts in the event of vandalism or hack. Catahedogs unauthorized changes to accounts andiagsbapplications.

» Enhanced complianc: Reduces potential liability from inadvertent pogtof sensitive data and demonstrates compliantte w

more than 35 standards and industry regulation®rAates compliance review processes and sociataty@rograms through
seamless integration with leading social media mameent suites.

Proofpoint Essential

Proofpoint Essentials is our suite of security-aervice and compliance solutions specifically gesd for distribution across
managed service providers and dedicated secusgflees. Key capabilities include inbound emaikfiing to block spam and malware,
outbound filtering for compliance with company patis, email continuity to enable email service ity and email archiving.

Platform Services

Our platform services provide the key functionatyimplement our various solutions, using our dingttechnologies. Our platform
services primarily consist of:
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» Content inspection.Applies our Proofpoint MLX machine learning techiég to understand the meaning of email,
documents and social networking communicationstandentify and classify content as malicious, #@resor relevant to a
litigation matter for threat protection, data Igsevention and discovery.

* Reputation. Leverages machine learning and big data analygiesalyze and correlate billions of requests pgridareate .
dynamic reputation profile of hundreds of millicofsIP addresses, domains, web links and otherriatazontent. This
database of reputation profiles is used to helptifieand block malicious attacks.

» Encryption and key manageme Securely encrypts data and stores and indexedréds of thousands of individual
encryption keys without requiring cumbersome keghange or other end-user sgt- Enables authorized users to quickly
easily decrypt and view content from a wide varigftglevices.

» Notification and workflow. Creates notifications and an enabling workflow l&yteadministrators and compliance officers of
an incident and enable subsequent review, commgittacking, escalation and remediation of eachneve

» Analytics and search.Provides an easy-to-use, web-based interface &clsing and analyzing information to enable
enterprises to rapidly trace inbound and outbourdsages, analyze how messages were processeddnfzoiht Enterprise
deployment, report on the disposition and statiengfemail message, and retrieve in real-time aechcommunications for
litigation support and eDiscovery.

Enabling Technologie

Our enabling technologies are a proprietary séudfling blocks that work in conjunction with oupgication services to enable the
efficient construction, scaling and maintenancewfcustomer-facing solutions. These technologigsgrily consist of:

« Big data analytics Indexes and analyzes petabytes of informatigeaftime to discover threats, detect data leakis an
enable end-users to quickly and efficiently acée&smation distributed across their organizations.

e Machine learning Builds predictive data models using our proprieRroofpoint MLX machine learning techniques to
rapidly identify and classify threats and sensitieatent in real-time.

» ldentity and policy Enables the definition and enforcement of soffsittd data protection policies based on a widefset
variables, including type of content, sender, riecip pending legal matters, time and date, regofagtatus and more.

e Secure storage.Stores petabytes of data in the cloud cost-effelstiusing proprietary encryption methods, keeggagsitive
data tamper-proof and private, yet fully searchableal-time.

» Intelligent message routingPolicies can be established by administrators toraatically direct email communications
differently through the email network, based oneztp of the messages, for security, compliancesrsigory, system
performance, or other reasons.

« Threat correlation. Utilizes inputs from Proofpoint, cloud, and otlieird-party products to assess Indicators of Commige

and confirm successful system compromises by noalécactors in near-real-time, then administers ag¢wontrols to
effectively contain the compromised systems.

» Virtual execution environmentsAn advanced approach to threat detection whereipexted malware is exposed to a
permuted set of instrumented virtual system enwirents, to assess maliciousness, exploit activiticmpromise process:

Infrastructure
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We deliver our security-as-a-service solutionsudigtoour cloud architecture and international dataer infrastructure. We operate
thousands of physical and virtual servers acragst elata centers located in the United States, @zanhe Netherlands and Germany.

Our cloud architecture is optimized to meet thequaidemands of delivering real-time security-agtaise to global enterprises. Key
design elements include:

»  Security. Security is central to our cloud architecture endesigned into all levels of the system, inahgdphysical security,
network security, application security, and seguaitour thirdparty data centers. Our security measures havéhmeigorou:
standards of SSAE 16 certification. In additiorihis commercial certification program, we have asocessfully completed
the FISMA certification for our cloud-based archigiand governance solution, enabling us to semeidiorous security
requirements of U.S. federal agencies.

» Scalability and performanceBy leveraging a distributed, scalable architexztne process billions of requests against our
reputation systems and hundreds of millions of mgss per day, all in near real-time. Massively-ifelrquery processing
technology is designed to ensure rapid searchtsesuér this vast data volume. In addition to #ggregate scalability across
all customers, our architecture also scales taffely meet the needs of several of our largedividual customers, each of
which has millions of users and processes tensilbbns of messages per day.

» Flexibility. Our cloud architecture enables individual custontemdeploy entirely in Proofpoint's global data s or in
hybrid configurations with optional points of prese located behind the customer's firewall. Thiglalament flexibility
enables us to deliver security, compliance andoperdnce tailored to the unique threat profile apdrating environment of
each customer.

» High availability. Our services employ a wide range of technologieliding redundancy, geographic distribution, rémalet
data replication and end-to-end service monitotingrovide 24x7 system availability.

* Network operations control.We employ a team of skilled professionals who nwnihanage and maintain our global data
center infrastructure and its interoperability wiitle distributed points of presence located bebimdcustomers' firewalls to
ensure 24x7 operations.

* Low cost. We deploy our services on shared, low-cost, comtpadimputing and storage infrastructure. In additiwe
utilize multi-tenancy and hardware virtualization to further bardware and management costs. Because we ifyirefr
on internally developed and open source technaiagfead of commercially licensed technology, weadsie to offer a cost-
effective solution to our customers.

Customers

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximately@@@&tomers of all sizes across a wide varietypddistries, including 45 of the
Fortune 100. A number of our largest customersouselatform to protect millions of users and hanidins of millions of messages per day.
We have a highly diversified customer base, with oustomer, a strategic partner serving a numbenafcustomers with our platform, who
accounted for 12% of total revenue in 2014 and d4%tal revenue in both 2013 and 2012. In each gi&ee the launch of our first solution
2003, we have retained over 90% of our customers.

We target large and mid-sized organizations aciseajor verticals including aerospace and defeedacation, financial services,
government, healthcare, manufacturing and retaél.Have been particularly successful selling tdahgest enterprises; 25 of the 50 largest
companies in the United States as ranked by FoiMagazine are our customers. We have also had ssipemetrating the market leaders in a
number of significant verticals including:

» 3 ofthe 5 largest U.S. retail
» 2 of the 5 largest U.S. aerospace and defenseacoort
e 5 ofthe 5 largest U.S. bar

» 3 of the 5 largest global pharmaceutical comp:
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* 2 of the 5 largest U.S. petroleum refining comps

Sales and Marketing
Sales

We primarily target large and mid-sized organizadiacross all industries. Our sales and marketiograms are organized by
geographic regions, including Asia-Pacific, EMEApan, North America, and South America, and wéherrsegment and organize our sales
force into teams that focus on large enterprisggd(employees and above), mid-sized organizafed® - 2,500 employees) and existing
customers. In addition, we create integrated salelsmarketing programs targeting specific vertioalkets. This vertical-market approach
enables us to provide a higher level of servicewamtkrstanding of our customers' unique needsydima the industry-specific business and
regulatory requirements in industries such as heaite, financial services, retail and education.

We sell through both direct and indirect channielduding technology and channel partners:

» Direct sales and reseller channéeWe market and sell our solutions to large and niddescustomers directly through our
field and inside sales teams as well as indirgbtlgugh a hybrid model, where our sales organinaittively assists our
network of distributors and resellers. Our salesqenel are primarily located in North America, wédditional personnel
located in Asia-Pacific, EMEA, Japan and South AiogerOur reseller partners maintain relationshifif ¥heir customers
throughout the territories in which they operat®viding them with services and third-party solagdo help meet their
evolving security requirements. As such, thesengastact as a direct conduit through which we camect with these
prospective customers to offer our solutions. @geller channel includes top security organizatinalsiding Accuvant,
Adaptive Solutions, Inc., Exclusive Networks SA&HNet Security, Forsythe Technology Inc., InsiDirect USA, SBS
Security, SHI International Corp, Vinitech, Inc.daWorld Wide Technology Inc.

» Strategic relationships.We also sell our solutions indirectly through keghinology companies such as IBM and Microsoft
that offer our solutions in conjunction with onemeore of their own products or services. These aorigs each have a large,
established customer base built around a broafbpiabf products and solutions sold under their dosaind, and they
promote our products to augment their own brandédisns.

For sales involving a partner such as a distribueseller or strategic partner, the partner engagtn the prospective customer
directly and involves our sales team as neededdistan developing and closing an order. At theatwsion of a successful sales cycle, we sel
the associated subscription, hardware and sertodd® partner who in turn resells these item&odustomer, with the partner earning a fee
based on the total value of the order. With theeoobmpleted, we provide these customers with taecess to our security-as-a-service
platform and other associated services, enablirtg astablish a direct relationship and providertiveth support as part of ensuring that the
customer has a good experience with our platforiihé end of the contract term, the partner engadfhsthe customer to execute a renewal
order, with our team providing assistance as requir

Marketing

Our marketing programs include a variety of onlim@rketing, advertising, conferences, events, whdigers, public relations activiti
and web-based seminar campaigns targeted at kesiatemakers within our prospective customers.

We have a number of marketing initiatives to baigareness about our solutions and encourage cusastoption of our solutions.
We offer free trials, competitive evaluations arekfsecurity and compliance risk audits to alloaspective customers to experience the
quality of our solutions, to learn in detail abthe features and functionality of our suite, anduantify the potential benefits of our solutions.
Customer Service and Support

We believe that our customer service and suppoktige a competitive advantage and are criticaktaining and expanding our

customer base. We conduct regular third-party sisrt® measure customer loyalty and satisfactioh witr solutions.
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Proofpoint Support Servict

We deliver 24x7x365 customer support from suppenters located in the United States, Japan, Maagéngapore, Canada and the
United Kingdom. We offer a wide range of suppofedhgs with varying levels of access to our suppesources.

Proofpoint Professional Services and Train

With our security-as-a-service model, our solutiares designed to be implemented, configured, aedadpd without the need for any
training or professional services. For those custsrthat would like to develop deeper expertistaénuse of our solutions or would like some
assistance with complex configurations or the irtipgrof data, we offer various training and profesal services. Many implementation
services can be completed in one day and are plynpaovided remotely using web-based conferendaads. If requested, our professional
services organization also provides additionalséasce with data importing, design, implementatoustomization, or advanced reporting. We
also offer a learning center for both in-person anlihe training and certification.
Research and Development

We devote significant resources to improve and eod@aur existing security solutions and maintameffectiveness of our platform.
We also work closely with our customers to gairuahle insights into their threat environments agxlisity management practices to assist us
in designing new solutions and features that extbadlata protection, archiving and governancelilipas of our platform. Our technical st
monitors and tests our software on a regular baswe maintain a regular release process to et enhance our existing solutions.
Leveraging our on-demand platform model, we calayegeal-time upgrades with no downtime.

Research and development expenses were $51.9m)ifig4.4 million and $24.8 million for 2014, 2048d 2012, respectively.
Competition

Our markets are highly competitive, fragmented sugject to rapid changes in technology. We competearily with companies thi
offer a broad array of data protection and goveraawolutions. Providers of data protection soligiganerally have product offerings that
include threat protection, virus protection, datssl prevention, flexible remediation, data encomtand in some cases secure file transfer.
Providers of governance solutions generally haeeyet offerings that provide data storage, searalicy enforcement, legal-hold
management, and in some cases supervision.

Key competitors include:

« Data Protection and PrivacyCisco (through its acquisition of IronPort), McAfemn Intel subsidiary (through its acquisitic
of Secure Computing and MX Logic), Microsoft (thghuits acquisition of Frontbridge), and Symantécdtigh its
acquisitions of Brightmail and MessagelLabs)

» Archiving and GovernanceHewlettPackard (through its acquisition of Autonomy) an@ntec (through its acquisitions
KVS and LiveOffice)

We believe we compete favorably based on the fatigfactors:
» level of protection against advanced thre
» comprehensiveness and integration of the solt
» flexibility of delivery models
» total cost of ownershi
» scalability and performanc

. customer support; a
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» extensibility of platforn

Certain of our competitors have greater sales, ateudx and financial resources, more extensive ggaic presence and greater name
recognition than we do. We may face future comioetiin our markets from other large, establishemhpanies, as well as from emerging
companies. In addition, we expect that there mlyilto be continued consolidation in our industrgttcould lead to increased price competitior
and other forms of competition.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trade secrets, pateoigyrights and trademarks, as well as contragitatéections, to establish and
protect our intellectual property rights and proter proprietary technology. As of December 311420we had 42 patents and 24 patent
applications. We have a number of registered amelgistered trademarks. We require our employeesuttants and other third parties to e
into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreermgeand control access to software, documentatidrotgher proprietary information. Althou
we rely on intellectual property rights, includitrgde secrets, patents, copyrights and trademasksell as contractual protections to establisk
and protect our proprietary rights, we believe fhators such as the technological and creativiés sKiour personnel, creation of new modu
features and functionality, and frequent enhanceésrerour solutions are more essential to estahlishnd maintaining our technology
leadership position.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tealogy and our intellectual property rights, unauwired parties may attempt to copy
or obtain and use our technology to develop pradwith the same functionality as our solution. Eialj unauthorized use of our technology
and intellectual property rights is difficult.

We expect that software and other solutions inimdustry may be subject to third-party infringemelatims as the number of
competitors grows and the functionality of produatslifferent industry segments overlaps. Any afaé third parties might make a claim of
infringement against us at any time.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 859 employeesaldeengage a number of temporary employees arsliitants. None of our
employees is represented by a labor union witheetsp his or her employment with us. We have npeeenced any work stoppages and we
consider our relations with our employees to bedg@ur future success will depend upon our abibitattract and retain qualified personnel.
Competition for qualified personnel remains inteasd we may not be successful in retaining ourdaployees or attracting skilled person

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in 2002. Our ppalcexecutive offices are located at 892 Ross &@r8unnyvale, California 940¢
and our telephone number is (408) 517-4710. Ousiteeks www.proofpoint.com.

Proofpoint, the Proofpoint logo, all of our prodmetmes and our other registered or common lawmades, service marks, or trade
names appearing in this Annual Report on Form Jdrékour property. Other trademarks appearing mghaspectus are the property of their
respective holders.

Geographic Information

For financial reporting purposes, net revenue and-ived assets attributable to significant gepbia areas are presented in Note 13,
"Segment Reporting", to the consolidated finansiatements, which is incorporated herein by refegen

Available Information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly mpon Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, grard information statements
and amendments to reports filed or furnished puntsteaSections 13(a), 14 and 15(d) of the Secwsrirchange Act of 1934, as amended. The
public may obtain these filings at the Securitied Exchange Commission (“SEC”")'s Public ReferencerR at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
DC 20549 or by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-033& $EC also maintains a website at http://www.gectlyat contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regpréroofpoint and other companies that file matenivith the SEC electronically. Copie
Proofpoint's reports on Form 10-K, Forms 10-Q aathis 8-K, may be obtained, free of charge, eleatedly through our Internet website,
http://
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investors.proofpoint.com/financials.cfm, or by seigdan electronic message by visiting the Contacséktion within the investor relations
portion of our website.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should carefully consider the follmywrisk factors, as well as the
other information in this Annual Report on Form KQbefore deciding whether to invest in shareswwfammmon stock. The occurrence of any
of the events described below could harm our bssingancial condition, results of operation anmdwth prospects. In such an event, the
trading price of our common stock may decline amd may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of losses, and we are unablertljct the extent of any future losses or wheneifer, we will achieve profitability in the
future.

We have incurred net losses in every year sincéngeption, including net losses of $64.2 milligs2,7.5 million and $20.4 million in
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As a resulthadcan accumulated deficit of $274.2 million aPetember 31, 2014. Achieving
profitability will require us to increase revenueanage our cost structure, and avoid unanticigabilities. We do not expect to be profitable
in the near term. Revenue growth may slow or reganay decline for a number of possible reasonfydimg slowing demand for our
solutions, increasing competition, a decreaseeargtiowth of our overall market, or if we fail fonyareason to continue to capitalize on growth
opportunities. Any failure by us to obtain and aursprofitability, or to continue our revenue grbwtould cause the price of our common s
to decline significantly.

Our quarterly operating results are likely to vasjgnificantly and be unpredictable, which could cae the trading price of our stock to
decline.

Our operating results have historically varied frpemiod to period, and we expect that they willtowne to do so as a result of a
number of factors, many of which are outside of @amtrol and may be difficult to predict, including

» the level of demand for our solutions, inchglour newly-introduced solutions, and the levepefceived urgency regarding
security threats and compliance requirements;

» the timing of new subscriptions and renewdlexisting subscriptions;

» the mix of solutions sold;

» the extent to which customers subscribe falitamhal solutions or increase the number of users;
» customer budgeting cycles and seasonal buparttgrns;

» the extent to which we bring on new distrilysto

« any changes in the competitive landscape ofrmustry, including consolidation among our cotitpes, customers, partners
or resellers;

» timing of costs and expenses during a quarter;

» deferral of orders in anticipation of new ga@uns or enhancements announced by us;

e price competition;

« changes in renewal rates and terms in anyteyar

» the impact of acquisitions;

 litigation costs;

« any disruption in our sales channels or teatiim of our relationship with important channeitpars;

» general economic conditions, both domesticatig in our foreign markets;

16




Table of Contents
» insolvency or credit difficulties confrontirayr customers, affecting their ability to purchas@ay for our solutions; or
» future accounting pronouncements or changesiiraccounting policies.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulativectftéd some of the factors referred to above maylt@s significant fluctuations in
our quarterly financial and other operating restuttsluding fluctuations in our key metrics. Thiariability and unpredictability could result in
our failing to meet the expectations of securitiralysts or investors for any period. If we faihteet or exceed such expectations for these ol
any other reasons, the market price of our sharelsl ¢all substantially and we could face costhydaits, including securities class action st
In addition, a significant percentage of our opeexpenses are fixed in nature and based ondsted revenue and cash flow trends.
Accordingly, in the event of revenue shortfalls, ave generally unable to mitigate the negative ithpa margins or other operating results in
the short term.

We may fail to meet or exceed the expectationgofisties analysts and investors, and the markes for our common stock could
decline. If one or more of the securities analydts cover us change their recommendation regamlimgtock adversely, the market price for
our common stock could decline. Additionally, otock price may be based on expectations, estinoatEsecasts of our future performance
that may be unrealistic or may not be achievedtheuy our stock price may be affected by finangialia, including press reports and blogs.

If we are unable to maintain high subscription remel rates, our future revenue and operating resuitdl be harmed.

Our customers have no obligation to renew theisetiptions for our solutions after the expiratidrtteeir initial subscription period,
which typically ranges from one to three yearsadidition, our customers may renew for fewer supsion services or users, renew for shorter
contract lengths or renew at lower prices due topetitive or other pressures. We cannot accurgt@glict renewal rates and our renewal rate
may decline or fluctuate as a result of a numbdaators, including competition, customers’ IT betlgg and spending priorities, and
deteriorating general economic conditions. If oustomers do not renew their subscriptions for elut®ns, our revenue would decline and
our business would suffer.

If we are unable to sell additional solutions to paustomers, our future revenue and operating resulvill be harmed

Our future success depends on our ability to skeliteonal solutions to our customers. This may regjincreasingly sophisticated and
costly sales efforts and may not result in addél@ales. In addition, the rate at which our cugtienpurchase additional solutions depends on
number of factors, including the perceived needaftitional solutions, growth in the number of arsérs, and general economic conditions. |
our efforts to sell additional solutions to our mmsers are not successful, our business may suffer.

If our solutions fail to protect our customers frorsecurity breaches, our brand and reputation coldd harmed, which could have a matetr
adverse effect on our business and results of ofierss.

The threats facing our customers are constantliviegpand the techniques used by attackers to aaresabotage data change
frequently. As a result, we must constantly updatesolutions to respond to these threats. If Wlddaipdate our solutions in a timely or
effective manner to respond to these threats, astomers could experience security breaches. Meahgrél, state and foreign governments
have enacted laws requiring companies to notifyviddals of data security breaches involving thegrsonal data. These mandatory disclos
regarding a security breach often lead to widespnegative publicity, and any association of uhwitch publicity may cause our custome
lose confidence in the effectiveness of our datarsty measures. Any security breach at one ofcostomers would harm our reputation as a
secure and trusted company and could cause theflasstomers. Similarly, if a well-publicized bobeof data security at a customer of any
other cloudbased data protection or archiving service providlerther major enterprise cloud services providere to occur, there could be a
loss of confidence in the cloubdased storage of sensitive data and informatioe rgdiy.

In addition, our solutions work in conjunction wihvariety of other elements in customers’ IT agcusity infrastructure, and we may
receive blame and negative publicity for a secusigach that may have been the result of the @abfione of the other elements not provided
by us. The occurrence of a breach, whether orausdexd by our solutions, could delay or reduce miageeptance of our solutions and have a
adverse effect on our business and financial padoce. In addition, any revisions to our solutitreg we believe may be necessary or
appropriate in connection with any such breach o@ase us to incur significant expenses. Any ofdlegnts could have material adverse
effects on our brand and reputation, which couldrhaur business, financial condition, and operatesylts.
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If our customers experience data losses, our brarehutation and business could be harme

Our customers rely on our archive solutions toestbeir corporate data, which may include finangabrds, credit card information,
business information, health information, otherspeally identifiable information or other sensitipersonal information. A breach of our
network security and systems or other events @age the loss or public disclosure of, or acceghiby parties to, our customers’ stored files
or data could have serious negative consequencesiftousiness, including possible fines, penalied damages, reduced demand for our
solutions, an unwillingness of our customers toawgesolutions, harm to our brand and reputatiod, ttme-consuming and expensive
litigation. The techniques used to obtain unautteatiaccess, disable or degrade service, or sab®atgms change frequently, often are not
recognized until launched against a target, and onigynate from less regulated or remote areasratdlie world. As a result, we may be
unable to proactively prevent these techniqueslément adequate preventative or reactionary megsarenforce the laws and regulations
that govern such activities. In addition, becausth® large amount of data that we collect and rganti is possible that hardware failures,
human errors or errors in our systems could résulata loss or corruption, or cause the infornratftat we collect to be incomplete or contain
inaccuracies that our customers regard as signtfitour customers experience any data lossngrdata corruption or inaccuracies, whether
caused by security breaches or otherwise, our brapdtation and business would be harmed.

Our errors and omissions insurance may be inadequahay not be available in the future on accdetisms, or at all. In addition,
our policy may not cover any claim against us &msl of data or other indirect or consequential dgsaDefending a suit based on any data
loss or system disruption, regardless of its meaitild be costly and divert management’s attention.

Defects or vulnerabilities in our solutions couldanm our reputation, reduce the sales of our solutand expose us to liability for losse

Because our solutions are complex, undetectedsefiaitures or bugs may occur, especially whentgwig are first introduced or
when new versions or updates are released despitfforts to test those solutions and enhancenmitsto release. We may not be able to
correct defects, errors, vulnerabilities or faikipromptly, or at all.

Any defects, errors, vulnerabilities or failuresor solutions could result in:

« expenditure of significant financial and devetamt resources in efforts to analyze, correct, iake or work around errors or
defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabijities

» loss of existing or potential partners or custon

» loss or disclosure of our customershfidential information, or the inability to acsesuch informatiol

» loss of our proprietary technoloy

» our solutions being susceptible to hacking ecebnic breakns or otherwise failing to secure d:

» delayed or lost revent

» delay or failure to attain market accepta

* lost market shar

* negative publicity, which could harm our reputafior

« litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigatiotigat would be costly and harm our reputa

Limitation of liability provisions in our standatdrms and conditions and our other agreements wiagdequately or effectively

protect us from any claims related to defects,rernaulnerabilities or failures in our solutionsciuding as a result of federal, state or locaklaw
or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decisionthim United States or other countries.

Because we provide security solutions, our softwavebsite and internal systems may be subject teritional disruption that coulc
adversely impact our reputation and future sales.
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We could be a target of attacks specifically desibio impede the performance of our solutions archtour reputation. Similarly,
experienced computer hackers may attempt to peaetus network security or the security of our wiband misappropriate proprietary
information and/or cause interruptions of our segsi Because the techniques used by such commaiezrs to access or sabotage networks
change frequently and may not be recognized wadit¢hed against a target, we may be unable taaticthese techniques. If an actual or
perceived breach of network security occurs, ild@adversely affect the market perception of odutsons, and may expose us to the loss of
information, litigation and possible liability. Bddition, such a security breach could impair dailitg to operate our business, including our
ability to provide support services to our custosner

We believe that there is a trend for large and msized enterprises to migrate their epremise email systems to clodolsed offerings. If w
fail to successfully develop, market, broaden ohance our solutions to continue to be attractivedristing customers currently usin
cloud-based email systems or to new prospects, our ghilitgrow or maintain our revenue could be harmexhd our business could suffer.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue fmmsolutions that protect and archive data incustomers’ on-premise email
systems and expect to continue to do so for thesémable future. We currently derive a portionuwfrevenue from customers using cloud-
based email systems such as Google’'s Google AgpMamosoft's Office 365, both of which include yamg degrees of threat protection and
governance services as part of their offering.ghiicant market shift from ofpremise email systems toward such clebased email systems
could decrease demand for our solutions becausensess who move to clouthased email systems may no longer value our threht
governance solutions and may choose to insteadampeting or low cost alternatives from companieshsas Google or Microsoft that may
offer competing solutions in connection with thelwud-based email systems. If our current or protye customers who utilize cloutlased
systems fail to find value in our solutions or naitgr to these other threat or governance offerimgsbusiness could be adversely affected.

Historically, our solutions have been used primarifor email, and any decrease in the use of emg#tems by large and m-sized
enterprises over time, or the failure of our newdgveloped solutions for emerging methods of comneation and collaboration to gain
acceptance could harm our business.

Historically, our customers have primarily used saiutions to protect and archive data in theipooaite email systems. If the use of
email decreases, demand for our solutions wouldedse and we may fail to diversify our revenue limsiecreasing demand for our other
technology solutions.

In addition, messaging and collaboration techn@sgire evolving rapidly. For instance, the widesgradoption and use of mobile
devices, unmanaged Interabaised collaboration and file sharing applicatioms$ social networking sites have caused valuablesanditive
data to proliferate well beyond traditional corgeramail systems, resulting in new and increasaugisty risks. We are devoting resources to
continue acquiring, developing and marketing olmtsans for these emerging methods of communicadiod collaboration. However, our
customers may not perceive the need to deployalutiens intended to address these emerging affe@s.are unable to successfully develop,
market, broaden or enhance our solutions to adtinessider range of threats caused by the protifamaof new technologies and methods of
communication, demand for our existing solutionsildalecrease, and our business would be harmed.

Our solutions collect, filter and archive customedata which may contain personal information, whiglaises privacy concerns and could
result in us having liability or inhibit sales of ar solutions.

Many federal, state and foreign government bodiesaaencies have adopted or are considering addptive and regulations
regarding the collection, use, and disclosure a$qeal information. Because many of the featuresuofsolutions use, store, and report on
customer data which may contain personal informaftiom our customers, any inability to adequatelgrass privacy concerns, or comply v
applicable privacy laws, regulations and policiesald, even if unfounded, result in liability to wWmage to our reputation, loss of sales, and
harm to our business. Furthermore, the costs optiante with, and other burdens imposed by, suafs,laegulations and policies that are
applicable to the businesses of our customers immatythe use and adoption of our solutions and cedwverall demand for them. Privacy
concerns, whether or not valid, may inhibit mar&keéoption of our solutions. For example, in the BaiStates regulations such as the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which protects and restricts the useofisumer credit and financial information, andtealth Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA)vhich regulates the use and disclosure of perdmesdth information, impose significant
security and data protection requirements and atitigs on businesses that may affect the use asptiad of our solutions. The European
Union’s Data Protection Directive requires membates to impose restrictions on the collection asel of
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personal data that, in some respects, are mongsiri, and impose more significant burdens on stbjgsinesses, than current privacy
standards in the United States.

The regulatory framework for privacy issues is &irgd worldwide, and various government and consuagencies and public
advocacy groups have called for new regulationdrahges in industry practices. It is possible tieat laws and regulations will be adopted in
the United States and internationally, or existangs and regulations may be interpreted in new wingg would affect our business.
Complying with any new regulatory requirements ddakrce us to incur substantial costs or requireoushange our business practices in a
manner that could reduce our revenue or comproaus@bility to effectively pursue our growth strgye

Any failure or perceived failure to comply with lavand regulations may result in proceedings obastagainst us by government
entities or others, or could cause us to lose waiscustomers, which could potentially have areeshyeffect on our business.

We operate in a highly competitive environment witrige, established competitors, and our compestaray gain market share in the
markets for our solutions that could adversely affeour business and cause our revenue to decline.

Our traditional competitors include securifgcused software vendors, such as Symantec Coipoi@aid McAfee, Inc., an Intel
Corporation subsidiary, which offer software produtat directly compete with our solutions. In #idd to competing with these vendors
directly for sales to customers, we compete widmtHor the opportunity to have our solutions buddigth the product offerings of our
strategic partners. Our competitors could gain etaskare from us if any of these partners replacesalutions with the products of our
competitors or if these partners more actively ptamour competitors’ products over our solutiomsadidition, software vendors who have
bundled our solutions with theirs may choose todbeitheir software with their own or other vendasftware, or may limit our access to
standard product interfaces and inhibit our abtlitglevelop solutions for their platform.

We also face competition from large technology canigs, such as Cisco, Google Inc., Hewlettckard Company, Intel and
Microsoft. These companies are increasingly devetppnd incorporating into their products data @ctibn and storage software that compete
on various levels with our solutions. Our competitposition could be adversely affected to therdteat our customers perceive that the
functionality incorporated into these products vebrdplace the need for our solutions or that buftiom one vendor would provide them with
increased leverage and purchasing power and a batttmer experience. We also face competitiom fneany smaller companies that
specialize in particular segments of the marketshith we compete.

Many of our competitors have greater financialhtecal, sales, marketing or other resources thadav@nd consequently may have
the ability to influence our customers to purchidmér products instead of ours. Further consolaatiithin our industry or other changes in
competitive environment could also result in largempetitors that compete with us on several leweladdition, acquisitions of smaller
companies by large technology companies that sjgezia particular segments of the markets in whighcompete would result in increased
competition from these large technology comparkes.example, Cisco’s acquisition of IronPort, are@rand web security service, resulted in
Cisco becoming one of our competitors. If we arsuggessful in responding to our competitors omhtanging technological and customer
demands, our competitive position and financialitesould be adversely affected.

If we do not effectively expand and train our salfssce, we may be unable to add new customers orease sales to our existing custom
and our business will be harmed.

We continue to be substantially dependent on desdarce to obtain new customers and to sell &t solutions to our existing
customers. We believe that there is significant petition for sales personnel with the skills anthtécal knowledge that we require. Our
ability to achieve significant revenue growth vd#pend, in large part, on our success in recryitiagning and retaining sufficient numbers of
sales personnel to support our growth. New hirgaire significant training and may take significéimie before they achieve full productivity.
Our recent hires and planned hires may not becanpecgluctive as we expect, and we may be unabileewr retain sufficient numbers of
qualified individuals in the markets where we dsibess or plan to do business. If we are unahbiéréoand train sufficient numbers of
effective sales personnel, or the sales persomeelad successful in obtaining new customers aegsing sales to our existing customer base
our business will be harmed.
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Our sales cycle is long and unpredictable, and @ales efforts require considerable time and expersg a result, our results are difficult to
predict and may vary substantially from quarter ¢parter, which may cause our operating results todtuate.

We sell our security and compliance offerings prilgdo enterprise IT departments that are managiggowing set of user and
compliance demands, which has increased the compteEhcustomer requirements to be met and confitinethe sales cycle. Additionally, v
have found that increasingly security, legal anahgliance departments are involved in testing, eatalg and finally approving purchases,
which has also made the sales cycle longer angtestctable. We may not be able to accuratelyipted forecast the timing of sales, which
makes our future revenue difficult to predict andld cause our results to vary significantly. lmliéidn, we might devote substantial time and
effort to a particular unsuccessful sales effar as a result we could lose other sales oppoigsrotr incur expenses that are not offset by an
increase in revenue, which could harm our business.

Our cash flow is dependent in part upon our averaggntract durations, so significant shortening ofio average contract durations may
cause significant negative impact to our operatingsults.

With the majority of our business, we invoice oustomers for the entire contract amount at the efahe term and these amounts
recorded as deferred revenue on our balance shigtethe dollar weighted average duration of thesatracts for any given period over the
past three years typically ranging from 17 to 2the. As a result, while our practice of invoicitigstomers for the entire amount of the
contract at the start of the term provides us witklatively immediate contribution to cash flolwe revenue is recognized ratably over the tert
of the contract, and hence contributions towardatireg income are realized over an extended peliaddese average contract durations were
to shorten significantly from their current rangamay cause us to experience less favorable dawls fis compared to our current operating
condition, requiring us to seek additional souraesapital to fund our operations.

Because our lon-term success depends, in part, on our ability igand the sales of our platform to our customergéded outside of the
United States, our business will be increasinglyssaptible to risks associated with internationalevptions.

One key element of our growth strategy is to dgvelavorldwide customer base and expand our opestiridwide. Our
international revenue keeps growing as we add grepk offices and customers internationally, paldidy in Europe and Asia.

Operating in international markets requires sigaffit resources and management attention and Wjkstiuus to regulatory, economic,
political and competitive risks and competitionttaee different from those in the United Statescd&@ese of our limited experience with
international operations, we cannot assure youdhainternational expansion efforts will be suafabor that expected returns on such
investments will be achieved in the future.

In addition, our international operations may faibucceed due to other risks inherent in operdtirginesses internationally,
including:

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which eeyse our revenues and operating results to diféterially from expectatior

» our lack of familiarity with commercial and sathorms and customs in other countries which ntgisely affect our ability to
recruit, retain and manage employees in these deant

« difficulties and costs associated with staffing amahaging foreign operatiol

» the potential diversion of management’s attantmoversee and direct operations that are gebmafy distant from our U.S.
headquarters;

» compliance with multiple, conflicting and changigovernmental laws and regulations, including legrpent, tax, privacy and
data protection laws and regulations;

» legal systems in which our ability to enforcelqmotect our rights may be different or less dffecthan in the United States,
including more limited protection for intellectyaloperty rights in some countries;

e immaturity of compliance regulations in other jditions, which may lower demand for our solutit
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» greater difficulty with payment collections and ¢ payment cycle
» higher employee costs and difficulty terminatimgnperforming employee
» differences in work place cultur:
* the need to adapt our solutions for specific caes
» our ability to comply with differing technical arertification requirements outside the United St
« tariffs, export controls and other ntariff barriers such as quotas and local contelesi
* adverse tax consequenc
» restrictions on the transfer of fun
« antibribery compliance by us or our partners, includimgler the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
» new and different sources of competit

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgsfalild harm our existing and future internatioopérations and seriously impair
our overall business.

If the market for our delivery model and cloud comting services develops more slowly than we expagt,business could be harme

Our success will depend to a substantial extethenvillingness of enterprises, large and smalintoease their use of cloud
computing services. The market for messaging siycamid data compliance solutions delivered as\dac®eim particular is at an early stage
relative to on-premise solutions, and these apjptica may not achieve and sustain high levels ofated and market acceptance. Many
enterprises have invested substantial personndirmanttial resources to integrate traditional goise software or hardware appliances for
these applications into their businesses or magloetant or unwilling to use cloud computing seed because they have concerns regarding
the risks associated with reliability and securitynong other things, of this delivery model, oraibslity to help them comply with applicable
laws and regulations. If enterprises do not percdie benefits of this delivery model, then thekatfor our services may develop more slc
than we expect, which would adversely affect owsitess and operating results.

If we are unable to enhance our existing solutioaad develop new solutions, our growth will be hardhand we may not be able to achie
profitability.

Our ability to attract new customers and increasemue from existing customers will depend in lgyget on our ability to enhance
and improve our existing solutions and to introdoee solutions. The success of any enhancemergveisolution depends on several factors,
including the timely completion, introduction andrket acceptance of the enhancement or solutiop.n&w enhancement or solution we
develop or acquire may not be introduced in a ynoelcost-effective manner and may not achievebtbad market acceptance necessary to
generate significant revenue. If we are unablaitzassfully develop or acquire new solutions oragitke our existing solutions to meet
customer requirements, we may not grow as expectddve may not achieve profitability.

We cannot be certain that our development actsvitigl be successful or that we will not incur dedaor cost overruns. Furthermore,
we may not have sufficient financial resourcesdtnitify and develop new technologies and bring rodients or new solutions to market in ¢
timely and cost-effective manner. New technologied enhancements could be delayed or cost morembaxpect, and we cannot ensure the
any of these solutions will be commercially suct@séand when they are introduced.

If we are unable to co-effectively scale or adapt our existing architectuto accommodate increased traffic, technologiealvances or
changing customer requirements, our operating retsutould be harmed.

As our customer base grows, the number of useesairg our solutions over the Internet will coreasgingly increase. Increased
traffic could result in slow access speeds andarsptimes. Since our customer agreements oftéudmservice availability commitments,
slow speeds or our failure to accommodate incretiadit could result in breaches of our

22




Table of Contents

service level agreements or obligate us to issnécgecredits. In addition, the market for our gmos is characterized by rapid technological
advances and changes in customer requirementsdéin i accommodate increased traffic and respomechnological advances and evolving
customer requirements, we expect that we will lpgired to make future investments in our netwodh#ecture. If we do not implement futi
upgrades to our network architecture cost-effebtiva if we experience prolonged delays or unfessdifficulties in connection with
upgrading our network architecture, our servicdigumay suffer and our operating results coulchbemed.

If we fail to manage our sales and distribution chaels effectively or if our partners choose notitwarket and sell our solutions to the
customers, our operating results could be adverssfgcted.

We have derived and anticipate that in the futugemill continue to derive a substantial portiortted sales of our solutions through
channel partners. In order to scale our channgjrpro to support growth in our business, it is inb@ot that we continue to help our partners
enhance their ability to independently sell andiofgpur solutions. We may be unable to continusuecessfully expand and improve the
effectiveness of our channel sales program.

Our agreements with our channel partners are gnacm-exclusive and some of our channel partherge entered, and may
continue to enter, into strategic relationshipsweitir competitors or are competitors themselveghEBy many of our channel partners have
multiple strategic relationships and they may egfard us as significant for their businesses. @angel partners may terminate their
respective relationships with us with limited ormatice and with limited or no penalty, pursue otbartnerships or relationships, or attempt tc
develop or acquire products or services that coenwéth our solutions. Our partners also may impairability to enter into other desirable
strategic relationships. If our channel partnersidbeffectively market and sell our solutionghiéy choose to place greater emphasis on
products of their own or those offered by our cotitpes, or if they fail to meet the needs of ousttuimers, our ability to grow our business anc
sell our solutions may be adversely affected. Sirlyi) the loss of a substantial number of our clehpartners, and our possible inability to
replace them, the failure to recruit additionalmfa partners, any reduction or delay in theirsalfeour solutions, or any conflicts between
channel sales and our direct sales and marketingties could materially and adversely affect oesults of operations.

Because we recognize revenue from subscriptiong tive term of the relevant service period, decremase increases in sales are n
immediately reflected in full in our operating rests.

We recognize revenue from subscriptions over thma t# the relevant service period, which typicaliyge from one to three years,
with some up to five years. As a result, most af quarterly revenue from subscriptions results fegneements entered into during previous
quarters. Consequently, a shortfall in demand €orsolutions in any quarter may not significanttiguce our subscription revenue for that
quarter, but could negatively affect subscriptiemenue in future quarters. We may be unable tosadjur cost structure to compensate for this
potential shortfall in subscription revenue. Acdogly, the effect of significant downturns in satefssubscriptions may not be fully reflected in
our results of operations until future periods. Gubscription model also makes it difficult fortosrapidly increase our subscription revenue
through additional sales in any period, as subBoripevenue must be recognized over the termettntract.

Interruptions or delays in services provided byrthparties could impair the delivery of our serviemd harm our business

We currently serve our customers from thipdrty data center facilities and resources locateéle United States, Canada and Europe
We also rely on bandwidth providers, Internet senproviders, and mobile networks to deliver odutsons. Any damage to, or failure of, the
systems of our thireparty providers could result in interruptions ta sarvice. If for any reason our arrangement wite or more of our data
centers is terminated we could experience additiexgense in arranging for new facilities and suppgOur data center facilities providers h
no obligations to renew their agreements with usanmercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we @anable to renew our agreements with the
facilities providers on commercially reasonablenteior if in the future we add additional data cefdeility providers, we may experience cc
or downtime in connection with the transfer tother addition of, new data center facilities. Iniéidd, the failure of our data centers to meet
our capacity requirements could result in interiu in the availability of our solutions, impaliret functionality of our solutions or impede our
ability to scale our operations. As we continuadad data centers, restructure our data managena@rs, pnd increase capacity in existing and
future data centers, we may move or transfer otar @lad our customers’ data. Despite precautiorentdlaring such processes and procedure:
any unsuccessful data transfers may impair thee@hgliof our service, and we may experience costiwamtime in connection with the trans
of data to other facilities.
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We also depend on access to the Internet through-glarty bandwidth providers to operate our businésge lose the services of o
or more of our bandwidth providers, or if theseyiers experience outages, for any reason, we eayddrience disruption in delivering our
solutions or we could be required to retain th@ises of a replacement bandwidth provider. Our tess also depends on our customers hi
high-speed access to the Internet. Any Internetgrsg or delays could adversely affect our abititprovide our solutions to our customers.

Our operations also rely heavily on the availapiif electricity, which also comes from thirparty providers. If we or the thirgharty
data center facilities that we use to deliver @ivises were to experience a major power outagfetioe cost of electricity were to increase
significantly, our operations and financial resaibslld be harmed. If we or our thifparty data centers were to experience a major power
outage, we or they would have to rely on back-upegators, which might not work properly or might poovide an adequate supply during a
major power outage. Such a power outage couldtrisalsignificant disruption of our business.

The occurrence of an extended interruption of @uhind-party services for any reason could result in lepgtterruptions in our
services or in the delivery of customers’ email aagliire us to provide service credits, refunddemnification payments or other payments tc
our customers, and could also result in the lossisfomers.

Any failure to offer higr-quality technical support services may adverselfeaf our relationships with our customers and harour financial
results.

Once our solutions are deployed, our customersriepe our support organization to resolve any teethmssues relating to our
solutions. In addition, our sales process is higldgendent on our solutions and business reputatidron strong recommendations from our
existing customers. Any failure to maintain highatity technical support, or a market perceptior tha do not maintain high-quality support,
could harm our reputation, adversely affect oulitgib sell our solutions to existing and prospeetcustomers, and harm our business,
operating results and financial condition.

We offer technical support services with many af salutions. We may be unable to respond quicklyugh to accommodate short-
term increases in customer demand for supporteEsviVe also may be unable to modify the formatunfsupport services to compete with
changes in support services provided by competilncseased customer demand for these servicdsoutitorresponding revenue, could
increase costs and adversely affect our operagiagits.

We have outsourced a substantial portion of outdmode customer support functions to thigghrty service providers. If these
companies experience financial difficulties, do matintain sufficiently skilled workers and resowgte satisfy our contracts, or otherwise fail
to perform at a sufficient level, the level of soppservices to our customers may be significadigyupted, which could materially harm our
reputation and our relationships with these custeme

If we fail to develop or protect our brand, our biness may be harme:

We believe that developing and maintaining awareaesl integrity of our company and our brand angoirfant to achieving
widespread acceptance of our existing and futuieriafys and are important elements in attracting cestomers. We believe that the
importance of brand recognition will increase asipetition in our market further intensifies. Suafakpromotion of our brand will depend on
the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and onability to provide reliable and useful soluticatscompetitive prices. We plan to continue
investing substantial resources to promote ourdyraath domestically and internationally, but thisrao guarantee that our brand developr
strategies will enhance the recognition of our dr&8ome of our existing and potential competit@gsehwell-established brands with greater
recognition than we have. If our efforts to promatel maintain our brand are not successful, ourabipg results and our ability to attract and
retain customers may be adversely affected. Intiatdieven if our brand recognition and loyaltyrie@ses, this may not result in increased ust
of our solutions or higher revenue.

In addition, independent industry analysts oftemvjate reviews of our solutions, as well as thosewfcompetitors, and perception of
our solutions in the marketplace may be signifiyaimfluenced by these reviews. We have no cordwar what these industry analysts report,
and because industry analysts may influence cuarthpotential customers, our brand could be haifrtedy do not provide a positive review
of our solutions or view us as a market leader.

The steps we have taken to protect our intellectpedperty rights may not be adequate.

24




Table of Contents

We rely on a combination of contractual rightsd&marks, trade secrets, patents and copyrighttablesh and protect our intellectt
property rights. These offer only limited protectidfiowever, and the steps we have taken to protegiroprietary technology may not detet
misuse, theft or misappropriation. Any of our pateropyrights, trademarks or other intellectualperty rights may be challenged by others o
invalidated through administrative process or éitign. Competitors may independently develop teldgies or products that are substantially
equivalent or superior to our solutions or thapipr@priately incorporate our proprietary technolagy their products. Competitors may hire
our former employees who may misappropriate oupipetary technology or misuse our confidential ifation. Although we rely in part
upon confidentiality agreements with our employeesisultants and other third parties to protecttiade secrets and other confidential
information, those agreements may not effectivegupnt disclosure of trade secrets and other cenfid information and may not provide an
adequate remedy in the event of misappropriatianaofe secrets or unauthorized disclosure of centidl information. In addition, others may
independently discover our trade secrets and cenmtial information, and in such cases we couldassert any trade secret rights against suct
parties.

We might be required to spend significant resouteasonitor and protect our intellectual properghts. We may initiate claims or
litigation against third parties for infringemerftaur intellectual property rights or misappropidat of our trade secrets, or to establish the
validity of our intellectual property rights. Anitigation, whether or not it is resolved in our ¢aycould result in significant expense to us and
divert the efforts of our technical and managenpemsonnel, which may adversely affect our busingsstating results and financial conditi
Certain jurisdictions may not provide adequate llétfeastructure for effective protection of outeéfiectual property rights. Changing legal
interpretations of liability for unauthorized uskonir solutions or lessened sensitivity by corpergbvernment or institutional users to
refraining from intellectual property piracy or ethinfringements of intellectual property couldaalsarm our business.

Our issued patents may not provide us with any @gitiye advantages or may be challenged by thirtgs and our patent
applications may never be granted at all. It issfiis that innovations for which we seek patentgution may not be protectable. Additionally,
the process of obtaining patent protection is egpenand time consuming, and we may not be alyedsecute all necessary or desirable
patent applications at a reasonable cost or imealyi manner. Given the cost, effort, risks and dsidma of obtaining patent protection, includ
the requirement to ultimately disclose the invemtio the public, we may not choose to seek patertéption for certain innovations. However,
such patent protection could later prove to be g to our business. Even if issued, there camob&ssurance that any patents will have the
coverage originally sought or adequately protectioiellectual property, as the legal standardatir to the validity, enforceability and scope
of protection of patent and other intellectual mndyp rights are uncertain. Any patents that areddsmay be invalidated or otherwise limited
may lapse or may be abandoned, enabling other atiegt better develop products that compete wittsolutions, which could adversely
affect our competitive business position, busirmeespects and financial condition.

We cannot assure you that the measures we have takeotect our intellectual property will adecglgtprotect us, and any failure to
protect our intellectual property could harm ousibess.

Third parties claiming that we infringe their intééctual property rights could cause us to incur gifjcant legal expenses and prevent us
from selling our solutions

Companies in the software and technology industimetuding some of our current and potential cotitpes, own large numbers of
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade seandtfrequently enter into litigation based on alkgas of infringement, misappropriation or
other violations of intellectual property rights.dddition, many of these companies have the chiyabi dedicate substantially greater
resources to enforce their intellectual propergts and to defend claims that may be brought aggiem. The litigation may involve patent
holding companies or other adverse patent ownecshalie no relevant product revenue and against whomotential patents may provide
little or no deterrence. We have received, and madlye future receive, notices that claim we hafaniged, misappropriated or otherwise
violated other parties’ intellectual property righFor example, on December 16, 2013, Finjan,dued the Company and Armorize in the
United States District Court, Northern District, @dlifornia for alleged patent infringement. To #hdent we gain greater visibility, we face a
higher risk of being the subject of intellectuabperty infringement claims, which is not uncommathwespect to software technologies in
general and information security technology in igatar. There may be thirgbarty intellectual property rights, including issuar pending
patents that cover significant aspects of our teldgies or business methods. Any intellectual priypelaims, with or without merit, could be
very time consuming, could be expensive to settliigate and could divert our management’s attanand other resources. These claims
could also subject us to significant liability fdamages, potentially including treble damages ifaweefound to have willfully infringed patents
or copyrights. These claims could also result infmving to stop using technology found to be wiation of a third-party’s rights. We might
be required to seek a license for the intelleghuaperty, which may not be available on reasontdstas or at all. Even if a license were
available,
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we could be required to pay significant royalti®sjch would increase our operating expenses. Asalt; we may be required to develop
alternative non-infringing technology, which cou&tjuire significant effort and expense. If we carim@nse or develop technology for any
infringing aspect of our business, we would beddrto limit or stop sales of one or more of ouutiohs or features of our solutions and may
be unable to compete effectively. Any of these ltesuould harm our business, operating resultsfanashcial condition.

In addition, our agreements with customers and mélgpartners include indemnification provisions endhich we agree to indemn
them for losses suffered or incurred as a resudtaifs of intellectual property infringement aimisome cases, for damages caused by us to
property or persons. Large indemnity payments cbalun our business, operating results and finacciadlition.

We rely on technology and intellectual propertydicsed from other parties, the failure or loss of iwh could increase our costs and delay
prevent the delivery of our solution

We utilize various types of software and other tetbgy, as well as intellectual property rightselised from unaffiliated third parties
in order to provide certain elements of our solgicAny errors or defects in any thighrty technology could result in errors in our siolos
that could harm our business. In addition, licentsetinology and intellectual property rights may cantinue to be available on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. While we believe thate are currently adequate replacements fotihg-party technology we use, any loss of
right to use any of this technology on commerciadigsonable terms, or at all, could result in delayproducing or delivering our solutions
until equivalent technology is identified and intatgd, which delays could harm our business. mghuation we would be required to either
redesign our solutions to function with softwaraitable from other parties or to develop these comepts ourselves, which would result in
increased costs. Furthermore, we might be forcdidhibthe features available in our current o solutions. If we fail to maintain or
renegotiate any of these technology or intellegiuaperty licenses, we could face significant delagd diversion of resources in attempting tc
develop similar or replacement technology, or¢eriise and integrate a functional equivalent ofébbnology.

Some of our solutions contai“open source”software, and any failure to comply with the terrm§one or more of these open source licen
could negatively affect our business.

Some of our solutions are distributed with softwlamensed by its authors or other third partiesarrsb-called “open source” licenses,
which may include, by way of example, the GNU Gahewublic License, or GPL, and the Apache LiceSgeme of these licenses contain
requirements that we make available source codmdalifications or derivative works we create baspdn the open source software, and tha
we license such modifications or derivative worksler the terms of a particular open source licensher license granting third parties
certain rights of further use. By the terms of @@rbpen source licenses, we could be requiredli¢ase the source code of our proprietary
software, and to make our proprietary softwarelafde under open source licenses, if we combingoaprietary software with open source
software in a certain manner. In the event thatigmas of our proprietary software are determinetlésubject to an open source license, we
could be required to publicly release the affegtedions of our source code, re-engineer all oordign of our technologies, or otherwise be
limited in the licensing of our technologies, eathwhich could reduce or eliminate the value of teaghnologies and solutions. In addition to
risks related to license requirements, usage af gparce software can lead to greater risks tharotithirdparty commercial software, as o}
source licensors generally do not provide warrargiecontrols on the origin of the software. Wedastablished processes to help alleviate
these risks, including a review process for scregnequests from our development organizationgi®iuse of open source software, but we
cannot be sure that all open source software isgtdun for approval prior to use in our solutiottgt our programmers have not incorporated
open source software into our proprietary solutiand technologies or that they will not do so ie tature. In addition, many of the risks
associated with usage of open source software téeneliminated, and could, if not properly addegssegatively affect our business.

Governmental regulations affecting the export ofrt@in of our solutions could negatively affect odousiness.

Our products are subject to U.S. export contraid, \ste incorporate encryption technology into certafiour products. These
encryption products and the underlying technolo@y fme exported outside the United States only thighrequired export authorizations,
including by license, a license exception or otigguropriate government authorizations, includirgyftting of an encryption registration.
Governmental regulation of encryption technologg eegulation of imports or exports, or our failtioeobtain required import or export
approval for our products, could harm our interorzédl sales and adversely affect our revenue.
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Failure to comply with such regulations in the fieteould result in penalties, costs, and restmstion export privileges, which could
also harm our operating results.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periodsve fail to manage such growth and our future gwth effectively, we may be unable
to execute our business plan, maintain high levefsservice or adequately address competitive chragjkes.

We have experienced significant growth in recemiopls. For example, we grew full-time employee ozaht from 680 as of
December 31, 2013 to 859 as of December 31, 201i4.growth has placed, and any future growth magela significant strain on our
management and operational infrastructure, inclydur hosting operations. Our success will depengart, on our ability to manage these
changes effectively. We will need to continue t@iove our operational, financial and managementrotmand our reporting systems and
procedures. Failure to effectively manage growthladtoesult in declines in service quality or cuseraatisfaction, increases in costs,
difficulties in introducing new features or othgyevational difficulties. Any failure to effectivelpanage growth could adversely impact our
business and reputation.

We have and may further expand through acquisitioo§ or investments in, other companies, which ndiyert our management'’s
attention, dilute our stockholders and consume corpte resources that otherwise would be necessarguistain and grow our business.

We have made multiple acquisitions in 2014 and 28-i@our business strategy may, from time to teoefinue to include acquiring
complementary products, technologies or busine¥gesalso may enter into relationships with othesibesses in order to expand our
solutions, which could involve preferred or exclgslicenses, additional channels of distributionineestments by or between the two parties.
Negotiating these transactions can be time congydifficult and expensive, and our ability to dahese transactions may be subjer
third—party approvals, such as government regulationghvare beyond our control. Consequently, we canemakassurance that these
transactions, once undertaken and announced,lagkc

These kinds of transactions may result in unforesgerating difficulties and expenditures. In parér, we may encounter difficulti
assimilating or integrating the businesses, teaugies, products, personnel or operations of acdwoenpanies, particularly if the key
personnel of the acquired business choose not ttk feous, and we may have difficulty retaining ttestomers of any acquired business.
Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing businésgert our resources and require significant manaant attention that would otherwise be
available for development of our business. Any &itjan or investment could expose us to unknowbilities. In addition, as dbecember 3
2014 , we had $134.6 millian goodwill and intangible assets, net of accunadamortization, recorded on our consolidated l&laheet. W
will incur expenses related to the amortizatiomntdingible assets and we may in the future neéuctar charges with respect to the write-down
or impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, gfhcould adversely affect our operating resultsrédger, we cannot assure you that the
anticipated benefits of any acquisition or investimeould be realized or that we would not be exddseunknown liabilities. In connection
with these types of transactions, we may issuetiaddi equity securities that would dilute our $tbalders, use cash that we may need in the
future to operate our business, incur debt on temfgvorable to us or that we are unable to rejpayyr large charges or substantial liabilities,
encounter difficulties integrating diverse busineskures, and become subject to adverse tax capsegs, substantial depreciation or deferre
compensation charges. These challenges relatedtisitions or investments could adversely affegthusiness, operating results and
financial condition.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified gptoyees, lose key personnel, fail to integrate es@iment personnel successfully, or fail
manage our employee base effectively, we may béblent develop new and enhanced solutions, effedyivmanage or expand our busine:
or increase our revenue.

Our future success depends upon our ability taureand retain key management, technical, salesgetiag, finance, and other
critical personnel. Competition for qualified maeatent, technical and other personnel is intenskwenmay not be successful in attracting
and retaining such personnel. If we fail to atti@ad retain qualified employees, our ability tovgrour business could be harmed. Our officers
and other key personnel are employees-at-will,yaa@annot assure you that we will be able to retaém. Competition for people with the
specific skills that we require is significant.drder to attract and retain personnel in a cornipetiharketplace, we believe that we must
provide a competitive compensation package, innlydash and equipased compensation. Volatility in our stock pricaynfrom time to
time adversely affect our ability to recruit oraiet employees. If we are unable to hire and regaalified employees, or conversely, if we fail
to manage employee performance or reduce stafvgd when required by market conditions, our lesdrand operating results could be
adversely affected.
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In addition, hiring, training, and successfullydgtating replacement personnel could be time comgymay cause additional
disruptions to our operations, and may be unsufudesehich could negatively impact future revenue.

Changes in laws and/or regulations related to th&érnet or changes in the Internet infrastructurdésielf may diminish the demand for our
solutions, and could have a negative impact on dusiness

The future success of our business depends upamtiimued use of the Internet as a primary medameommerce, communication
and business applications. Federal, state or florgiyernment bodies or agencies have in the pagted, and may in the future adopt, laws ot
regulations affecting data privacy and the uséefibternet as a commercial medium. Changes ire tla@es or regulations could require us to
modify our solutions in order to comply with thedeanges. In addition, government agencies or @igeganizations may begin to impose
taxes, fees or other charges for accessing themeiter commerce conducted via the Internet. These or charges could limit the growth of
Internetrelated commerce or communications generally, tésal decline in the use of the Internet and tlability of Internetbased
applications such as ours and reduce the demarmdif@olutions.

The legal and regulatory framework also drives dedarfar our solutions. Our customers are subjetdaws, regulations and internal
policies that mandate how they process, handleg,stise and transmit a variety of sensitive dathcammunications. These laws and
regulations are subject to revision, change aratpn¢tation at any time, and any such change aathidr help or hurt the demand for our
solutions. We cannot be sure that the legal andlaeayy framework in any given jurisdiction will Bavorable to our business or that we wil
able to sustain or grow our business if there ayeaalverse changes to these laws and regulations.

If we are required to collect sales and use taxestloe solutions we sell, we may be subject to lipfor past sales and our future sales m
decrease.

State and local taxing jurisdictions have differmides and regulations governing sales and use taxel these rules and regulations
are subject to varying interpretations that mayngesover time. In particular, the applicabilitysafles taxes to our subscription services in
various jurisdictions is unclear. It is possiblattive could face sales tax audits and that ouilitiabor these taxes could exceed our estimates
as state tax authorities could still assert thatveeobligated to collect additional amounts ag$axom our customers and remit those taxes to
those authorities. We could also be subject totawdih respect to state and international jurigdics for which we have not accrued tax
liabilities. A successful assertion that we shcaddcollecting additional sales or other taxes ansewvices in jurisdictions where we have not
historically done so and do not accrue for salesga@ould result in substantial tax liabilities fimrst sales, discourage customers from
purchasing our application or otherwise harm owitess and operating results.

Adverse conditions in the national and global ecanies and financial markets may adversely affect darsiness and financial result:

Our financial performance depends, in part, orsthte of the economy, which deteriorated in themebroad recession, and which
may deteriorate in the future. Challenging econoroieditions worldwide have from time to time cobtried, and may continue to contribute,
to slowdowns in the information technology industesulting in reduced demand for our solutiona assult of continued constraints on IT-
related capital spending by our customers and &ser@ price competition for our solutions. Moreoves,target some of our solutions to the
financial services industry and therefore if thisreonsolidation in that industry, or layoffs, ack of funding for IT purchases, our business
may suffer. If unfavorable economic conditions @ or worsen, our business, financial conditind aperating results could be materially
and adversely affected.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, power outages, floods and other catastropbkivents, and to interruption by manma
problems such as terrorisn

Natural disasters or other catastrophic eventsecaage damage or disruption to our operations,riatemal commerce and the global
economy, and thus could have a strong negativetaffeus. We have significant operations in the&il Valley area of Northern California, a
region known for seismic activity. A major earthgaar other natural disaster, fire, act of termorisr other catastrophic event that results it
destruction or disruption of any of our criticaldiness operations or information technology systeoutd severely affect our ability to condi
normal business operations and, as a result, tunefoperating results could be harmed. These ivegatents could make it difficult or
impossible for us to
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deliver our services to our customers, and coutdesese demand for our services. Because we damytearthquake insurance for direct
guake-related losses, and significant recovery time ctaldequired to resume operations, our financiattmn and operating results could
be materially adversely affected in the event ofagor earthquake or catastrophic event.

A portion of our revenue is generated by sales twgrnment entities, which are subject to a numbércballenges and risks

Sales to U.S. and foreign federal, state and lgoaérnmental agency customers have accounteddortian of our revenue in past
periods, and we may in the future increase salgeternment entities. Sales into government estdie subject to a number of risks. Sellin
government entities can be highly competitive, egdee and time consuming, often requiring significapfront time and expense without any
assurance that we will win a sale. We have investgde creation of a cloud offering certified unteth the Federal Information Security
Management Act and the Federal Risk and Authodraflanagement Program for government usage buaweot be sure that we will
continue to sustain or renew this certificatiomtttihe government will continue to mandate suclifaztion or that other government agencies
or entities will use this cloud offering. Governmelemand and payment for our solutions may be iteplloy public sector budgetary cycles
and funding authorizations, with funding reductiomsielays adversely affecting public sector demfan@ur solutions. Government entities
may have contractual or other legal rights to teateé contracts with our distributors and resellerconvenience or due to a default, and any
such termination may adversely impact our futuseiits of operations. For example, if the distributxeives a significant portion of its
revenue from sales to such governmental entityfitlaacial health of the distributor could be sapdially harmed, which could negatively
affect our future sales to such distributor. Goweents routinely investigate and audit governmentreators’ administrative processes, and
any unfavorable audit could result in the governimefusing to continue buying our solutions, a i&thn of revenue or fines or civil or
criminal liability if the audit uncovers improper tlegal activities. Any such penalties could abady impact our results of operations in a
material way.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, our ability to produce timely and agi@te financial statements or comply wit
applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the repgntaguirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbabgkey Act of 2002, or the
SarbanesOxley Act, and the rules and regulations of the AR Global Market. We expect that the requiremearithese rules and
regulations will continue to increase our legat@mting and financial compliance costs, make saotigities more difficult, time consuming
and costly, and place significant strain on ouspenel, systems and resources.

The Sarbane€xley Act requires, among other things, that wentan effective disclosure controls and procedaresinternal
control over financial reporting. We are continutogdevelop and refine our disclosure controls ather procedures that are designed to er
that information required to be disclosed by uthimreports that we file with the Securities andtiange Commission, or the SEC, is recordec
processed, summarized and reported within the pieni®ds specified in SEC rules and forms, anditifatmation required to be disclosed in
reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated anmthwinicated to our principal executive and finahafficers.

Our current controls and any new controls that exetbp may become inadequate because of changeaditions in our business.
Further, weaknesses in our internal controls magi®sovered in the future. Any failure to develomuaintain effective controls, or any
difficulties encountered in their implementationimprovement, could harm our operating resultsamrse us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations and may result in a restatement offimancial statements for prior periods. Any faildcemplement and maintain effective inter
controls also could adversely affect the resultgesfodic management evaluations and annual indiremegistered public accounting firm
report regarding the effectiveness of our inteowaitrol over financial reporting that we are regdito include in our Annual Report on Form
10-K we will file with the SEC under Section 404tbé Sarbane€xley Act. Ineffective disclosure controls and mrdares and internal cont
over financial reporting could also cause investor®se confidence in our reported financial atiteoinformation, which would likely have a
negative effect on the trading price of our commatmtk.

In order to maintain and improve the effectivenafssur disclosure controls and procedures andnaterontrol over financial
reporting, we have expended, and anticipate thawileontinue to expend, significant resourceg]uiling accountingrelated costs, and
provide significant management oversight. Any figlto maintain the adequacy of our internal costrot consequent inability to produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basislddncrease our operating costs and could makgiapair our ability to operate our busine
In the event that we or our independent registprdalic accounting firm are not able to completewek required under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act on a timely basis, or we areabt# to demonstrate compliance with Section 4@i¢owld be subject to late filings of our
annual and quarterly reports, restatements of diolased financial statements or other correctivexitisure, and, investors may lose confidenc
in
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our operating results and our stock price couldidecln addition, if we are unable to continuameet these requirements, we may not be abl
to remain listed on The NASDAQ Global Market.

We may not be able to utilize a significant portiaf our net operating loss or research tax credircyforwards, which could adversely affe
our profitability.

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards due to prior petasses, which if not utilized wi
begin to expire in 2018 and 2015 for federal amtkespurposes, respectively. We also have fedegsahreh tax credit carryforwards, which if
not utilized will begin to expire in 2022. These pperating loss and research tax credit carryfode/aould expire unused and be unavailable
to offset future income tax liabilities, which cduhdversely affect our profitability.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal RexeCode of 1986, as amended (the “Internal Rev€oadle”), our ability to utilize
net operating loss carryforwards or other taxfaftes, such as research tax credits, in any tayablemay be limited if we experience an
“ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership charggnerally occurs if one or more stockholders mugs of stockholders who own at
least 5% of our stock increase their ownership byenthan 50 percentage points over their lowesteoship percentage within a rolling three-
year period. Similar rules may apply under statddas.

Future issuances of our stock could cause an “cshiechange.” It is possible that any future owhgrghange could have a material
effect on the use of our net operating loss carwdéods or other tax attributes, which could advigraéfect our profitability.

We have been incurring significantly increased cestnd devoting substantial management time as ailtesf operating as a public
company.

As a public company, we incur significant legalc@anting and other expenses that we did not insur private company. For
example, we are required to comply with certaithefrequirements of the Sarban@xley Act and the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and edguis subsequently implemented by the SEC, antl&&®DAQ Global Market, our stock
exchange, including the establishment and maintmaheffective disclosure and financial contraisl @hanges in corporate governance
practices. We expect that compliance with thesairements will continue to increase our legal andricial compliance costs and will make
some activities more time consuming and costhaddition, we expect that our management and otfesopnel will need to divert attention
from operational and other business matters totdesabstantial time to these public company requérgs.

We have incurred and expect to continue to inaggmiBtant expenses and devote substantial managdesffert toward ensuring
compliance with the requirements of Section 40thefSarbanexley Act. We will need to hire additional accoungfiand financial staff with
appropriate public company experience and techaiabunting knowledge. We cannot predict or estria amount of additional costs we
may incur as a public company or the timing of scabts.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our stock price has been volatile in the past andyrbe subject to volatility in the future.

The trading prices of our common stock has beeati®lhistorically, and is likely to continue to babject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors described below. Tfaeters, as well as the volatility of our commoaoc$t, could also impact the price of our
convertible notes. Factors affecting the marketegpdf our securities include:

e variations in our revenue, billings, gross margiperating results, free cash flow, loss pereshad how these results compare to
analyst expectations;

» forward looking guidance that we may provideamling financial metrics such as billings, revergress margin, operating
results, free cash flow, and loss per share;
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» announcements of technological innovations, pevducts or services, strategic alliances, acgpistor significant agreements
by us or by our competitors;

« disruptions in our cloud-based operations ovises or disruptions of other prominent clob@sed operations or servic
« the economy as a whole, market conditions in odustry, and the industries of our custorr

» trading activity by directors, executive offiseand significant stockholders, or the perceptiothé market that the holders of a
large number of shares intend to sell their shares;

» the size of our market float and significant optexercise:
» any future issuances of securit
» sales and purchases of any common stock issuedagpwersion of our convertible notes;

» any other factors discussed her

In addition, the stock markets in general and t&&NAQ Global Market in particular, have experiensedbstantial price and volume
volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to thgerating results of any particular companies.&dwer, if the market for technology stocks,
especially security and cloud computing-relatedlstpor the stock market in general experiencesamavestor confidence, the market price
of our common stock could decline for reasons @beel to our business, operating results or findugoiadition. The market price for our stock
might also decline in reaction to events that afelber companies within, or outside, our induséwen if these events do not directly affect us
Some companies that have experienced volatilithéntrading price of their stock have been suljésecurities litigation. If we are the subject
of such litigation, it could result in substantialsts and a diversion of management’s attentiorresalrces.

We have indebtedness in the form of convertibleisemotes.

In December 2013, we completed an offering of $2®illion aggregate principal amount of 1.25% catitde senior notes (the
"Notes") due 2018. As a result of this convertibtges offering, we incurred $201.3 million prindipanount of indebtedness, the principal
amount of which we may be required to pay at mgtimi 2018, or, upon the occurrence of a maltele fundamental change (as defined in
indenture). There can be no assurance that wéeviible to repay this indebtedness when due, bwhavill be able to refinance this
indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all. Intiaddthis indebtedness could, among other things:

« make it difficult for us to pay other obligatio

« make it difficult to obtain favorable terms fany necessary future financing for working capitapital expenditures, debt service
requirements or other purposes;

e require us to dedicate a substantial portioausfcash flow from operations to service the inddbess, reducing the amount of
cash flow available for other purposes; and

» limit our flexibility in planning for and reactinp changes in our busine
Conversion of our Notes may affect the price of aaommon stock and the value of the Notes.

The conversion of some or all of our Notes maytdiihe ownership interest of existing stockholderthe extent we deliver shares of
common stock upon conversion. Holders of the Nafiide able to convert them only upon the satiséacof certain conditions prior to June
15, 2018. Upon conversion, holders of the Notesredeive cash, shares of common stock or a cortibmaf cash and shares of common

stock, at our election. Any sales in the public keaof shares of common stock issued upon conversisuch Notes could adversely affect
trading price of our common stock and the valuthefNotes.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions@elaware law, could impair a
takeover attempt.
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Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contaiovisions that could have the effect of renderimgye difficult, delaying or
preventing an acquisition of our company deemedsinable by our board of directors. These provsioould also reduce the price that
investors might be willing to pay in the future f&rares of our common stock and result in the nhgmkee of our common stock being lower
than it would be without these provisions. Our aogbe governance documents include provisions:

e creating a classified board of directors whoseniners serve staggered thyear terms

« authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whimbuld be issued by our board without stockholgigraval which may contain
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights whiare superior to our common stock;

» limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and office

« limiting the ability of our stockholders to calhd bring business before special meetings byigiraythat any stockholder action
must be effected at a duly called meeting of theldtolders and not by a consent in writing, andsjgling that only our board of
directors, the chairman of our board of directors, Chief Executive Officer or President may cadlpeecial meeting of the
stockholders; and

* requiring advance notice of stockholder proposaldfisiness to be conducted at meetings of oukistdders and for nominatio
of candidates for election to our board of direstor

These provisions, alone or together, could frustréelay or prevent hostile takeovers and chamgesritrol or changes in our
management.

In addition, the fundamental changes provisionswfNotes may delay or prevent a change in coofrolr company, because those
provisions allow note holders to require us to repase such Notes upon the occurrence of a fundahwrange (as defined in the indenture
for the Notes). Furthermore, the indenture forNlmees prohibits us from engaging in certain mergeracquisitions unless, among other thi
the surviving entity assumes our obligations uriderNotes.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203l Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents some stockholdetdihg more than 15% of our outstanding commonlksfoam engaging in certain business
combinations merging or combining with us withoppeoval of the holders of a substantial majorityathfof our outstanding common stock.

Our failure to raise additional capital or generatée significant capital necessary to expand ourepgtions and invest in new solutions
could reduce our ability to compete and could haour business.

We may need to raise additional funds, and we naayp@ able to obtain additional debt or equity ficiag on favorable terms, if at
If we raise additional equity financing, our stoolders may experience significant dilution of thaivnership interests and the per share value
of our common stock could decline. If we issue ggsécurities in any additional financing, the neeurities may have rights and preference:
senior to our common stock. If we engage in defatrfting, we may be required to accept terms tisaticeour ability to incur additional
indebtedness and force us to maintain specifiaddity or other ratios. If we need additional capand cannot raise it on acceptable terms, w
may not be able to, among other things:

« develop or enhance our application and sen

» continue to expand our product development, saldsearketing organizatior
* acquire complementary technologies, products oinkase:

» expand operations, in the United States or inteynally;

e hire, train and retain employees

* respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatadkivwg capital requiremen

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends, andadingly, stockholders must rely on stock appreaiat for any return on their
investment.

32




Table of Contents

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on oumraon stock in the future. As a result, only apjatéan of the price of our
common stock will provide a return to our stockteskl Investors seeking cash dividends should wefsinin our common stock.

The terms of our credit agreement also prohibfras paying dividends.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters, which includes ouratjpers and research and development facilitidscisted in Sunnyvale, California,
and currently consists of 95,557 square feet ofespader a lease that expires in 2019, with ayear extension option.

We lease additional U.S. offices in Minuteman, Uaald Herndon, Virginia. We also lease offices imorwo, Canada; Paris, France;
Tokyo, Japan; Singapore; Reading, United Kingdomnidh, Germany; Belfast, Ireland; and Taipei, Taiwé&/e believe our facilities are
adequate for our current needs and for the foreseéature.

The following is a list of our locations and thenpary functions.

Location Primary function
Sunnyvale, California, U.S. Research and development, sales, marketing anchestiration
Minuteman, Utah, U.S. Research and developmeles,smarketing and administration
Herndon, Virginia, U.S. Sales
Westminster, Colorado, U.S. Research and developme
Toronto, Canada Research and development, sales, marketing andhediration
Reading, United Kingdom Research and developnsefgs and marketing
Paris, France Sales
Tokyo, Japan Sales
Singapore Sales
Belfast, Ireland Research and development, salésrarketing
Taipei, Taiwan Research and development, sales, marketing andhsdiration
Munich, Germany Sales and marketing

We operate eight data centers at third-party faslithroughout the world: four in the United Statevo in Canada, one each in the
Netherlands and Germar

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Refer to Note 7,Commitments and Contingencig® the consolidated financial statements forscdption of a legal proceeding
currently pending against the Company.

From time to time, we may be involved in other lgg@ceedings and subject to claims in the ordiranyrse of business. Although
results of these proceedings and claims cannotdziigbed with certainty, we do not believe themdéite cost to resolve these matters would
individually, or taken together, have a materialeade effect on our business, operating resulsh) ftaws or financial condition. Regardless of
the outcome, such proceedings can have an advepset on us because of defense and settlement div&ssion of resources and other
factors, and there can be no assurances that fagaratcomes will be obtained.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
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Not applicable
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PART II.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price of Our Common Stock
Our common stock has traded on the NASDAQ Globalkliasince April 20, 2012, under the symbol PFPIoRo this date, there

was no public market for our common stock. Theofwlhg table set forth, for the periods, indicatéd high and low sales price of our
common shares as reported by the NASDAQ Global ktark

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2014

First Quarter $ 4531 % 32.4(
Second Quarter $ 37.7¢ % 24.4¢
Third Quarter $ 4158 % 33.2¢
Fourth Quarter $ 50.2C $ 33.4¢
Year Ended December 31, 2013

First Quarter $ 1712 $ 12.57
Second Quarter $ 24.3¢ % 16.6:
Third Quarter $ 321z $ 23.52
Fourth Quarter $ 3351 $ 26.81

Holders of our Common Shares

As of February 13, 2015 , there were 54 stockhsldérecord, although we believe that there asrger number of beneficial owners
as many of our shares of our common stock arethelttokers and other institutions on behalf of khmdders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaig future earnings and do not
expect to pay any cash dividends on our commork$todhe foreseeable future. Any determinatiopay dividends in the future will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will bgdrdent on a number of factors, including our eg®i capital requirements and overall

financial conditions. In addition, the terms of @guipment loan agreement with Silicon Valley Béiniit our ability to pay dividends.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On October 31, 2014, Proofpoint issued 53,528 shafr®roofpoint's common stock to certain stockleoddof Nexgate as partial
consideration, with an aggregate value of approtetya2 million, paid by Proofpoint in connectioritivthe consummation of Proofpoint’s
acquisition of Nexgate. The shares were not regidtander the Securities Act of 1933, as amendséddirities Act”) in reliance upon the
exemption from registration pursuant to Section(2feof the Securities Act for a transaction byigsuer not involving a public offering.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stéc
There has been no material change in the use oépds from our initial public offering in April 221

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from Apfi| 2012 through December 31, 2014 , of the cunuddttal return for our
common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and tA&NAQ Computer Index. The graph assumes an
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investment of $100 on April 20, 2012 and reinvestiw# any dividends. The comparisons in the graglbwe are required by the Securities anc
Exchange Commission and are not intended to forecdse indicative of possible future performanéeur common shares.

Comparison of 11 Quarter Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of 5100
December 2014
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—#— Proofpoint, Inc. —@—MNASDAQ Composite-Total Returns MNASDAQ Computer Index
Three months ended
April 20, June 30, September 30, December March 31, June 30, September 30, December March 31, June 30, September 30, December
2012 2012 2012 31, 2012 2013 2013 2013 31, 2013 2014 2014 2014 31, 2014
Proofpoint, Inc. 100.00 120.38 105.47 87.43 119.74 172.23 228.13 235.58 263.35 266.05 263.78 342.54
NASDAQ Composite - Total
Returns 100.00 98.09 104.50 101.92 110.60 115.60 128.54 142.87 143.67 151.30 154.69 163.50
NASDAQ Computer Index 100.00 96.61 102.81 95.61 98.11 100.36 111.94 128.24 130.66 141.80 149.33 156.01

The above stock Performance Graph and related métion shall not be deemed "filed" with the SEC bt to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of Proofpoint, Inc. maateder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,eo6#turities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables present selected historiaadficial data for our business. You should read itifisrmation together with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operations" and the cadatéd financial statements, related
notes and other financial information included @bere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The gelkconsolidated financial data in this
section are not intended to replace the consoliditgancial statements and are qualified in thaitieety by the consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhetésmnnual Report on Form 10-K.

We derived the consolidated statements of opemtiata for the years ended December 31, 2014, &1 2012, and the consolida
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014 andfi@dur audited consolidated financial statemamtkided elsewhere in this report. We
derived the consolidated statements of operatiates for the years ended December 31, 2011 and &td the consolidated balance sheet dat:
as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 from outexlifinancial statements not included in this mepbhe financial data below includes the
impact of the acquisitions (see Note 2 "AcquisiinOur historical results are not necessarilyaative of the results to be expected in the
future.

36




Table of Contents

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Subscription $ 187,52° $ 132,06: $ 101,47 $ 73,89t $ 57,65’
Hardware and services 8,08( 5,86¢ 4,82t 7,94z 7,13:
Total revenue 195,60° 137,93: 106,29! 81,83¢ 64,79(
Cost of revenugl)
Subscription 53,13¢ 35,43¢ 28,24t 24,19: 24,52
Hardware and services 12,54: 6,12¢ 4,86 5,531 4,08:
Total cost of revenue 65,67¢ 41,56 33,11 29,73( 28,60¢
Gross profit 129,92¢ 96,36¢ 73,18: 52,10¢ 36,18t
Operating expensetr)
Research and development 51,90: 34,44¢ 24,82’ 19,77¢ 17,58
Sales and marketing 102,45! 71,78: 55,23¢ 42,67¢ 31,16:
General and administrative 26,67¢ 19,62: 12,69: 9,231 7,46
Total operating expense 181,03 125,85 92,75¢ 71,69: 56,20¢
Operating loss (51,109 (29,487 (19,577 (19,589 (20,029
Interest expense, net (11,219 (6417) (10¢) (300 (340
Other (expense) income, net (2,230) (21%) (154) 113 (25¢)
Loss before benefit from (provision for) incomedax (64,557) (30,339 (19,839 (29,777) (20,627)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 313 2,80¢ (521) (370 (243%)
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,360) $ (20,14) $ (20,86%)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 1.7z $ 079 $ (0.85) $ (5.09 $ (5.8%)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic anediihy 37,38: 34,87+ 24,05¢ 4,00¢ 3,57¢
(1) Includes stockased compensation and amortization of intangiseta as follow
Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Stock-based compensation:
Cost of subscription revenue $ 2,40¢ % 1,000 % 657 $ 36€ 357
Cost of hardware and services revenue 604 19¢ 70 29 17
Research and development 10,20: 3,60¢ 1,86¢ 1,243 1,01C
Sales and marketing 10,79 4,27( 3,10¢ 1,97¢ 1,11
General and administrative 6,991 3,00z 1,622 93C 86¢
Amortization of intangible assets:
Cost of subscription revenue $ 4,157 $ 2220 $ 2,78 % 3,77 3,74F
Research and development 93 47 30 1 —
Sales and marketing 4,49¢ 1,74 461 76¢ 637
General and administrative 46 34 — — —

(2) See Note 12, "Net Loss Per Share" of our nmtesnsolidated financial statements includedvetgege in this report for an explanation of the akltions of basic and diluted

net loss per share of common stock.
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As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 214,98t $ 251,80 $ 86,517 $ 12,71 $ 12,747
Property and equipment, net 18,71¢ 11,22: 8,56( 7,35¢ 4,63(
Total assets 424,25( 390,55¢ 140,44: 67,95: 62,35:
Convertible senior notes 161,63( 152,92¢ — — —
Debt, current and long-term 69t 2,35( 4,012 4,981 264
Deferred revenue, current and long-term 162,67" 123,98: 86,85¢ 76,24( 69,10:
Convertible preferred stock — — — 109,91: 109,82
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 56,47: 77,16( 33,80¢ (137,34) (128,40)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our
"Selected Consolidated Financial Data" and our aditated financial statements and related noteduided elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-iogkstatements that involve risks and uncertainti@®sr actual results could differ
materially from those forward-looking statementtole Factors that could cause or contribute to thakfferences include, but are not limited
to, those identified below and those discusseldrsection entitled "Risk Factors" included elsesghe this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwabking statements” within the meaning of Sectio 8l the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These staésrare often identified by the use of words sisctmay,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “i could,” “estimate,” or “co ntinue,” and similar expressions or variations. Sforwardlooking statements are subj

intend,
to risks, uncertainties and other factors that ebchuse actual results and the timing of certaiergs to differ materially from future results
expressed or implied by such forward-looking staets1 Factors that could cause or contribute tohsdifferences include, but are not limited
to, those identified herein, and those discussebérsection titled “Risk Factors”, set forth in Rd, Item 1A of this Form 10-K. Except as
required by law, we disclaim any obligation to upelany forward-looking statements to reflect eventsircumstances after the date of such
statements.

Overview

Proofpoint is a leading security-as-a-service (Saarovider that enables large and mid-sized degdions worldwide to defend,
protect, archive and govern their most sensitiva.daur SaaS platform is comprised of an integratet of on-demand data protection
solutions, including threat management and incidesponse, regulatory compliance, archiving, dateeghance and eDiscovery, and secure
communication.

We were founded in 2002 to provide a unified solutio help enterprises address their growing datariy requirements. Our first
solution was commercially released in 2003 to cantburgeoning problem of spam and viruses aei ilmpact on corporate email syste
As the threat environment has continued to evalisehave dedicated significant resources to meeatrtigeing challenges that this highly
dynamic environment creates for our customers agdhvesting significantly to expand the breadtlbwf data protection platform with
$11.6 million and $7.1 million spent in 2014 and.20respectively, on capital spending to suppdrasiructure expansion. These expenditure
are primarily in connection with the replacement apgrade of equipment to lower the cost of depleynas well as to improve the efficiency
for our cloud-based architecture.

Since early 2013, we have launched Proofpoint Egdena suite of SaaS security and compliancelilipas designed to meet the
needs of managed service providers and dedicatedityeresellers, enabling these partners to dffeir customers this full suite of cloumksec
solutions. We also introduced Proofpoint's SoclatfBrm for Archiving, which provides our customexgjuick path to regulatory compliance
regarding their social media usage, enabling trelevierage a wide range of social media platforath s Yammer, Chatter and Facebook
while adhering to strict compliance standards. #iddally, we introduced Proofpoint Secure Sharechtdllows enterprises to securely
exchange large files with ease in a cloud-based@mwent.
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Additionally, during 2014, we have completed twayaisitions to complement our solutions offeringstiBof our 2014 acquisitions
are described in Note 2 to our consolidated fir@rstatements included in this report.

With the Nexgate Inc. acquisition on October 3114£0we introduced a social media security and c@npé solution which enables
customers to effectively protect their online bramesence and social media communication infrastrecNexgate technology automatically
identifies and remediates fraudulent social med@ants, account hacks, and content that contaésare, spam and abusive language. In
addition, the Nexgate solution enables enterptsemnforce policies on authorized accounts andsgastrder to comply with a wide-range of
social media regulatory requirements including FFDRA, FFIEC, FDA, HIPAA, PHI, SEC and ABA.

Our business is based on a recurring revenue moAdelcustomers pay a subscription fee to licenseséinious components of our
Saas platform for a contract term that is typicalte to three years. At the end of the license teustomers may renew their subscription anc
in each year since the launch of our first solutio@003, we have retained over 90% of our custem&ie derive this retention rate by
calculating the total annually recurring subscdptrevenue from customers currently using our $datform and dividing it by the total
annually recurring subscription revenue from bbibse current customers as well as all businesghi@sigh non-renewal. A growing number
of our customers increase their annual subscrifées after their initial purchase by broadenirgjrthse of our platform or by adding more
users, and these sales have consistently reprdsgnatter than 15% of our billings each year sR@@8.

We market and sell our solutions to large and nedescustomers both directly through our field amlde sales teams and indirectly
through a hybrid model where our sales organizaiiively assists our network of distributors aesellers. We also derive a lesser portion of
our total revenue from the license of our solutitmstrategic partners who offer our solutionsénjanction with one or more of their own
products or services.

Our solutions are designed to be implemented, gardid and operated without the need for any trgininprofessional services. For
those customers that seek to develop deeper esgertthe use of our solutions or would like assisé with complex configurations or the
importing of data, we offer various training andfassional services. In some cases, we providedwiaae appliance to those customers that
elect to host elements of our solution behind thigwall. Increasing adoption of virtualization the data center has led to a decline in the
of our hardware appliances and a shift towardssoftware-based virtual appliances, which are deddes a download via the Internet. Our
hardware and services offerings carry lower margim are provided as a courtesy to our customeeseXxfyect the overall proportion of
revenue derived from the hardware and servicesiongfe to generally remain below 10% of our totalenreue.

Historically, the majority of our revenue is derivEom our customers in the United States. We beltbe markets outside of the
United States offer an opportunity for growth anelimend to make additional investments in salesraarketing to expand in these markets.
Revenue from customers outside of the United Stams 58% for the year ended December 31, 2014mpared to prior year. As of
December 31, 2014, we had approximately 3,300 met® around the world, including 45 of the Fort@08. In terms of customer
concentration, there was one partner that accodatel?% of our total revenue for the year endedddeber 31, 2014, although the partner
sold to a number of end-user customers, none wagchunted for more than 10% of our total revenubefthan the aforementioned partner
above, there were no other single partners or me&t®that accounted for more than 10% of our tetatnue in 2014.

We have not been profitable to date and will n@egrbw revenue at a rate faster than our investnartost of revenue and operating
expenses in order to achieve profitability, asussed in more detail below.

Key Opportunities and Challenges

The majority of costs associated with generatilgfamer agreements are incurred up front. Thes@niposts include direct
incremental sales commissions, which are recogniped the billing of the contract. The costs asaed with the teams tasked with closing
business with new customers and additional busiwébsour existing customers have represented rin@e 90% of our total sales and
marketing costs since 2008. Although we expectotosts to be profitable over the duration of the@uer relationship, these upfront costs
typically exceed related revenue during the eap@rods of a contract. As a result, while our peacof invoicing our customers for the entire
amount of the contract at the start of the ternvigies us with a relatively immediate contributiencish flow, the revenue is recognized rat
over the term of the contract, and hence contidmstioward operating income are limited in thegubrhere these sales and marketing costs
are incurred. Accordingly, an increase in the nfir@wv customers as a percentage of total custowmutd likely negatively impact our near-
term operating results. On the other hand, we éxpatan increase in the mix of existing custonzsra
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percentage of total customers would positively iotgaur operating results over time. As we accuneutatstomers that continue to renew their
contracts, we anticipate that our mix of existingtomers will increase, contributing to a decréas®ir sales and marketing costs as a
percentage of total revenue and a commensurat@uaprent in our operating income.

As part of maintaining our SaaS platform, we previchgoing updates and enhancements to the plaffiamices both in terms of the
software as well as the underlying hardware and damtter infrastructure. These updates and enhamtsmre provided to our customers at nc
additional charge as part of the subscription fesd for the use of our platform. While more traatill products eventually become obsolete
and require replacement, we are constantly updatiignaintaining our cloud-based services and @s they operate with a continuous
product life cycle. Much of this work is designedioth maintain and enhance the customers' experi@ver time while also lowering our
costs to deliver the service. Our SaaS platforenshared infrastructure that is used by all ofaustomers. Accordingly, the costs of the
platform are spread in a relatively uniform manaenmoss the entire customer base and no specifasinficture elements are directly attache
any particular customer. As such, in the eventahaistomer chooses to not renew its subscripthenunderlying resources are reallocated
either to new customers or to accommodate the ekpgameeds of our existing customers and, as dtyegido not believe that the loss of any
particular customer has a meaningful impact ongooss profit as long as we continue to grow outamsr base.

To date, our customers have primarily used ourtwis in conjunction with email messaging cont&vié have developed solutions to
address the new and evolving messaging solutiats @sisocial media and file sharing applications these solutions are relatively nascer
customers increase their use of these new messsgjimgpns in the future, we anticipate that owvgth in revenue associated with email
messaging solutions may slow over time. Althougleneie associated with our social media and fileisbapplications has not been material
to date, we believe that our ability to providewsitg, archiving, governance and discovery for theew solutions will be viewed as valuable
by our existing customers, enabling us to derivemnee from these new forms of messaging and conuation.

While the majority of our current and prospectivstomers run their email systems on premise, wieumethat there is a trend for
large and mid-sized enterprises to migrate thestsys to the cloud. While our current revenue @erivom customers using cloud-based
email systems continues to grow as a percentagerdbtal revenue, many of these cloud-based esohitions offer some form of threat
protection and governance services, potentiallygating the need for customers to buy these capabifrom third parties such as ourselves.
We believe that we can continue to provide secuaitghiving, governance, and discovery solutioms #ne differentiated from the services
offered by cloud-based email providers, and as suctplatform will continue to be viewed as valiahb enterprises once they have migrated
their email services to the cloud, enabling usaietinue to derive revenue from this new trend tal@oud-based email deployment models.

With the majority of our business, we invoice oustomers for the entire contract amount at the efahe term and these amounts
recorded as deferred revenue on our balance shitiethe dollar weighted average duration of themetracts for any given period over the
past three years typically ranging from 17 to 2zthe. As a result, while our practice of invoicitigstomers for the entire amount of the
contract at the start of the term provides us witklatively immediate contribution to cash flolwe trevenue is recognized ratably over the tert
of the contract, and hence contributions towardatpgy income are realized over an extended peAsduch, our efforts to improve our
profitability require us to invest far less in ogting expenses than the cash flow generated bigusiness might otherwise allow. As we strive
to invest in an effort to continue to increaseslm and scale of our business, we expect thdéted of investment afforded by our growth in
revenue should be sufficient to fund the investm&meded to drive revenue growth and broaden agiupt line.

Considering all of these factors, we do not expette profitable based on accounting principlesegally accepted in the Unites Ste
of America, or GAAP, basis in the near term andrigher to achieve profitability we will need to graevenue at a rate faster than our
investments in operating expenses and cost of teven

We intend to grow our revenue through acquiring sestomers by investing in our sales and marketaiiyities. We believe that an
increase in new customers in the near term willltés a larger base of renewal customers, whigley time we expect to be more profitable
us.

Sales and marketing is our largest expense anceteesignificant contributing factor to our opergtlnsses. Given that our costs to
acquire new revenue sources, either in the formeaf customers or the sale of additional solutionsxisting customers, often exceed the
actual revenue recognized in the initial periods,hglieve that our opportunity to improve our ratan investment in sales and marketing ¢
relies primarily on our ongoing ability to cost-ettively renew our business with existing customiereby lowering our overall sales and
marketing costs as a percentage of revenue asixhef mevenue derived from this more profitableaasml activity increases over time.
Therefore, we anticipate that our initial signifitanvestments in sales and marketing activitidbavier time generate a larger base of more
profitable customers.
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Cost of subscription revenue is also a signifiextense for us, and we expect to continue to lmuilthe improvements over the past three
years, such as in replacing tt-party technology with our proprietary technologydamproving the utilization of our fixed investnierin
equipment and infrastructure, in order to provige epportunity for improved subscription gross nra@ver time. Although we plan to
continue enhancing our solutions, we intend to loote rate of investment in research and developme®@ percentage of revenue over tim
deriving additional revenue from our existing pdath of solutions rather than by adding entirely reategories of solutions. In addition, as
personnel costs are one of the primary driverb@fiicreases in our operating expenses, we pleedtee our historical rate of headcount
growth over time.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includihg following key metrics presented in the unawtiteble below, to evaluate our
business, measure our performance, identify trendar business, prepare financial projections rmadte strategic decisions. Many of these
key metrics, such as adjusted subscription grasii poillings and adjusted EBITDA, are non-GAAP aseires. This non-GAAP information is
not necessarily comparable to non-GAAP informatibnther companies. Non-GAAP information should betviewed as a substitute for, or
superior to, net loss prepared in accordance wkABas a measure of our profitability or liquiditysers of this financial information should
consider the types of events and transactions ficiwadjustments have been made.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Total revenue $ 195600 $ 137,93 $ 106,29
Growth 42% 3C% 30%
Subscription revenue $ 187,527 $ 132,060 $ 101,47(
Growth 42% 3C% 3%
Adjusted subscription gross profit $ 140,95: $ 99,85 % 76,66¢
% of subscription revenue 75% 7€% 76%
Billings $ 233,69 $ 160,50t $ 116,91
Growth 46% 37% 31%
Adjusted EBITDA $ (495 $ (4,320 $ (4,549

Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue represents the recurring sipisn fees paid by our customers and recognizegeenue during the period for
the use of our security-as-a-service platform,dglly licensed for one to three years at a time.dMesider subscription revenue to be a key
business metric because it reflects the recurrépget of our business model and is the primaryedi¥ growth for our business over time. The
consistent growth in subscription revenue ovempth&t several years has resulted from our ongowestment in sales and marketing persor
our efforts to expand our customer base, and dartefto broaden the use of our platform with @rigicustomers.

Adjusted subscription gross profit

We have included adjusted subscription gross p@fitor- GAAP financial measure, in this report becauss & key measure used by
our management and board of directors to understadatvaluate our operating results, core operanfprmance, and trends to prepare and
approve our annual budget and to develop shemtd longterm operational plans. We have provided a reciaticih between subscription grc
profit, the most directly comparable GAAP finanaiaasure, and adjusted subscription gross profitbdlieve that adjusted subscription gi
profit provides useful information to investors asttiers in understanding and evaluating our opegatsults in the same manner as our
management and board of directors.

Our use of adjusted subscription gross profit mgdtions as an analytical tool, and you shoultigamsider it in isolation or as a
substitute for analysis of our results as repoutedier GAAP. Because of these limitations, you sti@ohsider adjusted subscription gross
profit alongside other financial performance measuincluding subscription gross profit and ourcotBAAP results.

The following table presents the reconciliatiorsobscription gross profit to adjusted subscriptiomss profit for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:
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Subscription revenue

Cost of subscription revenue
Subscription gross profit
Add back:

Stock-based compensation
Amortization of intangible assets
Adjusted subscription gross profit

Billings

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
187,52 $ 132,06: $ 101,47(

53,13¢ 35,43¢ 28,24¢
134,39: 96,62¢ 73,22¢
2,404 1,003 657
4,15 2,22 2,78¢
140,95: $ 99,85. ¢ 76,66¢

We have included billings, a neAAP financial measure, in this report becauss & key measure used by our management and
board of directors to manage our business and oromitr near term cash flows. We have provided arreitiation between total revenue, the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measura bitlings. Accordingly, we believe that billingsqvides useful information to investors
and others in understanding and evaluating ouratipgr results in the same manner as our managendrtioard of directors.

Our use of billings as a non-GAAP measure hasditioihs as an analytical tool, and you should nosier it in isolation or as a
substitute for revenue or an analysis of our resagtreported under GAAP. Some of these limitatioas

« Billings is not a substitute for revenue, asitiein billings are not directly correlated to flsrin revenue except when measured

over longer periods of time;

» Billings is affected by a combination of factorgliding the timing of renewals, the sales of odutsons to both new and existi
customers, the relative duration of contracts sahdl the relative amount of business derived frivategic partners. As each of
these elements has unique characteristics in tatomeship between billings and revenue, our bgiiractivity is not closely

correlated to revenue except over longer periodsraf; and

e Other companies, including companies in our §idy may not use billings, may calculate billirdi§erently, or may use other
financial measures to evaluate their performaned of which reduce the usefulness of billingsaasomparative measure.

The following table presents the reconciliationtatfl revenue to billings for the years ended Ddwen31, 2014, 2013 and 2012;

Total revenue
Deferred revenue
Ending

Beginning

Net change

Less: deferred revenue contributed by acquisitions

Billings

Adjusted EBITDA
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)

$ 195,60 $ 137,93: $ 106,29
162,67 123,98: 86,85¢
123,98 86,85¢ 76,24(

38,609: 37,12 10,61¢
(600) (14,549 —
$ 233,60¢ $ 160,50¢ $ 116,91«
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We define adjusted EBITDA as net loss, adjustegktdude: depreciation, amortization of intangibleggrest income (expense), net,
provision for (benefit from) income taxes, steblased compensation, acquisiti@md litigation-related expense, other income, ahdro
expense. We believe that adjusted EBITDA is ugefuhvestors and other users of our financial staf&s in evaluating our operating
performance because it provides them with an aafdititool to compare business performance acraspanies and across periods. We bel
that:

* Adjusted EBITDA provides investors and otherrasg our financial information consistency and gamability with our past
financial performance, facilitates period-to-permmmparisons of operations and facilitates compagswith our peer companies,
many of which use similar non-GAAP financial me&suto supplement their GAAP results; and

» ltis useful to exclude certain non-cash chargesh as depreciation, amortization of intangésisets and stoekased
compensation and non-core operational charges,aiabquisition and litigation-related expenses, from adjustedTEB\
because the amount of such expenses in any speeifisd may not be directly correlated to the ulyileg performance of our
business operations and these expenses can vaificsigtly between periods as a result of new agitjans, full amortization of
previously acquired tangible and intangible assetbe timing of new stockased awards, as the case may be.

We use adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with traditid GAAP operating performance measures as pauirodverall assessment of
our performance, for planning purposes, includmgpreparation of our annual operating budgetyaduate the effectiveness of our business
strategies and to communicate with our board @fatlirs concerning our financial performance.

We do not place undue reliance on adjusted EBITBAw only measures of operating performance. AefUEBITDA should not be
considered as a substitute for other measuresarfidial performance reported in accordance with BAFhere are limitations to using non-
GAAP financial measures, including that other conipa may calculate these measures differently weado, that they do not reflect our
capital expenditures or future requirements folitehpxpenditures and that they do not reflect gjesnin, or cash requirements for, our worl
capital.

The following table presents the reconciliatiomef loss to adjusted EBITDA for the years endeddbdwer 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,36()
Depreciation 9,03: 5,92z 4,43¢
Amortization of intangible assets 8,79( 4,044 3,27¢
Interest expense, net 11,21 641 10¢€
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (319 (2,80¢) 521
EBITDA (35,51¢) (19,73)) (12,027
Stock-based compensation expense 31,00« 12,08: 7,321
Acquisition-related expense 612 3,107 3
Litigation-related expense 1,17¢ — —
Other income (135) (37 (18)
Other expense 2,36¢ 252 172
Adjusted EBITDA $ (499 $ (4320 $ (4,549

Components of Our Results of Operations

Business Combination
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In each of our acquisitions, we used the purchastaod of accounting which requires us to alloch&efair value of the total
consideration transferred to tangible and idertiéantangible assets acquired and liabilities asslibased on their estimated fair values or
date of the acquisition, with the difference betw#ee net assets acquired and the total considaerttinsferred recorded as goodwill. The fair
values assigned, defined as the price that woulgdxived to sell an asset or paid to transfeataliiy in an orderly transaction between willi
market participants, are based on significant egésiand assumptions determined by management €hmsates and assumptions are
inherently uncertain and subject to refinemeng assult, during the adjustment period, which mayp to one year from the acquisition date,
we may record adjustments to the assets acquirkabdities assumed with any corresponding ofteejoodwill. Upon conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of thees of assets acquired or liabilities assumedcheénier comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded within our consolidatatéstents of operations.

We used either the discounted cash flow methotl@reaplacement cost method to assign fair valuasdaired identifiable intangible
assets. This method requires significant managejudgient to forecast future operating results esteblish residual growth rates and
discount factors. These models are based on rdalgoestimates and assumptions given available gatircumstances, including industry
estimates and averages, as of the acquisition datkare consistent with the plans and estimaggsitd use to manage our business. If the
subsequent actual results and updated projectfaig anderlying business activity change compavrigd the estimates and assumptions usec
to develop these values, we could experience imgait charges. In addition, we have estimated tbeaic lives of certain acquired assets
and these lives are used to calculate depreciatidramortization expense. If our estimates of tumemic lives change, depreciation or
amortization expenses could be accelerated or slowe

Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily through the liceobearious solutions and services on our secw@#ya-service platform on a
subscription basis, supplemented by the salesiuiitig, professional services and hardware depgngion our customers' requirements.

Subscription. We license our platform and its associated smhstiand services on a subscription basis. Theafeesharged on a per
user, per year basis. Subscriptions are typically/to three years in duration. We invoice our ausie upon signing for the entire term of the
contract. The invoiced amounts billed in advaneestazated as deferred revenue on the balance ah@eatre recognized ratably, in accordance
with the appropriate revenue recognition guidelima®r the term of the contract. See "Critical Aatting Policies - Revenue Recognition”.
We also derive a portion of our subscription reveefram the license of our solutions to strategidnmxs. We bill these strategic partners
monthly. We expect our subscription revenue wititimue to grow and remain above 90% of our toteéneie.

Hardware and services. We provide hardware appliances as a conveniengartcustomers and as such it represents a saralbp
our business. Our solutions are designed to besimgahted, configured and operated without the needry training or professional services.
For those customers that seek to develop deepertesgin the use of our solutions or would likeisgnce with complex configurations or the
importing of data, we offer various training andfassional services. We typically invoice the costo for hardware at the time of shipment.
We typically invoice customers for services attihee the order is placed and recognize this reveatably over the term of the contract. On
occasion, customers may retain us for special gi®guch as archiving import and export servidessé types of services are recognized upor
completion of the project. We expect the overatigartion of revenue derived from hardware and serwiferings to remain below 10% of our
total revenue.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenues consists of cost of subsoripgvenue and cost of hardware and services rev&arsonnel costs, which consist
of salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stbesed compensation, data center costs and hardestseare the most significant components of our
cost of revenues. We expect personnel costs téncento increase in absolute dollars as we hire exlployees to continue to grow our
business.

Cost of Subscription Revenue Cost of subscription revenue primarily includesspanel costs, consisting of salaries, benefits,
bonuses, and stoekased compensation, for employees who provide suppuorvices to our customers and operate our daiers. Other costs
include fees paid to contractors who supplemensapport and data center personnel; expensesdétatie use of thirgparty data centers in
both the United States and internationally; deatémm of data center equipment; amortization adiging fees and royalties paid for the use of
third—party technology; amortization of internally deyedal intangible assets; and the amortization ofhigitde assets acquired through
business combinations. Growth in subscription reeegenerally consumes production resources, reguils to gradually increase our cost of
subscription
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revenue in absolute dollars as we expand our imergtin data center equipment, the third-party datder space required to house this
equipment, and the personnel needed to managkigiier level of activity.

Cost of Hardware and Services RevenueCost of hardware and services revenue inclpdesonnel costs for employees who proy
training and professional services to our custoraergell as the cost of server hardware shippedit@ustomers that we procure from third
parties and configure with our software solutions.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research andogewent, sales and marketing, and general and asinaitive expenses. Personnel
costs, which consist of salaries, benefits, bonusas stockbased compensation, are the most significant coamgasf our operating expens
We expect personnel costs to continue to increaabsolute dollars as we hire new employees tarassto grow our business. Our
headcount has increased from 376 employees asaefniler 31, 2011 to 859 employees as of Decemb&034, As a result of this growth i
headcount, operating expenses have increasedisagniy over these periods. We expect personnés¢oscontinue to increase in absolute
dollars as we hire new employees to continue tavgror business.

Research and Developmemesearch and development expenses include persmsis] consulting services and depreciation. We
believe that these investments have played an tammole in broadening the capabilities of ourtfiplan over the course of our operating
history, enhancing the relevance of our solutionthe market in general and helping us to retaincastomers over time. We expect to
continue to devote substantial resources to relseard development in an effort to continuously iover our existing solutions as well as to
develop new offerings. We believe that these invests are necessary to maintain and improve oupebtive position, however, over the
longer term, we intend to monitor these costs so @ecrease this spending as a percentage of¢éotatiue. Our research efforts include both
software developed for our internal use on beHatfun customers as well as software elements tosbd by our customers in their own
facilities. To date, capitalized costs for softwdexeloped for internal use on behalf of our cusianwere not material. For the software
developed for use on our customers’ premises,dbts @ssociated with the development work betwegimblogical feasibility and the general
availability has not been material and as such awe mot capitalized any of these development ¢osiate.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses include personats, @ales commissions, and other costs includavgltand
entertainment, marketing and promotional eventblipuelations and marketing activities. All of #ecosts are expensed as incurred. These
costs also include amortization of intangible asasta result of our past acquisitions. Due tocoatinued investment in growing our sales anc
marketing operations, both domestically and inteonally, headcount increases were reflected ilvdiggcompensation expense consistent witl
our revenue growth. Our sales personnel are typinat immediately productive, and therefore theré@ase in sales and marketing expense
incur when we add new sales representatives ismmoediately offset by increased revenue and mayewmatlt in increased revenue over the
long-term if these new sales people fail to becpneeluctive. The timing of our hiring of new salesgonnel and the rate at which they
generate incremental revenue will affect our fufimmancial performance. We expect that sales andetiag expenses will continue to increi
in absolute dollars and be among the most sigmficamponents of our operating expenses.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consistisiomnel costs, consulting services, audit fegs, ta
services, legal expenses and other general cogpibeats. As a result of our operational growth,expect our general and administrative
expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fygar®ds as we continue to expand our operationdaadadditional personnel.

Total Other Income (Expense), Net

Total other income (expense), net, consists of@stancome (expense), net and other income (erpemst. Interest income
(expense), net, consists primarily of interest meaarned on our cash, cash equivalents and enortitvestments offset by the interest
expense related to our convertible senior notascapital lease payments and borrowings under guipenent loans. Other income (expense),
net, consists primarily of the net effect of foreigurrency transaction gains and losses.

(Provision For) Benefit From Income Taxes
For 2013 and prior years, the (provision for) bérfedm income taxes was related to certain statéfareign income taxes. As we
have incurred operating losses in all periods te dad recorded a full valuation allowance againstdeferred tax assets, we have not

historically recorded a provision for federal inomtaxes. In 2014, however, we recognized a $0.8
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million deferred tax benefit related to the releat¥).S. valuation allowance as a result of Nexgatguisition in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Realization of any of our deferred tax assets dépepon future earnings, the timing and amounttdtivare uncertain. Utilization of our net
operating losses may be subject to substantialahimitation due to the ownership change limitagrovided by the Internal Revenue Code
and similar state provisions. Analyses have beadwcted to determine whether an ownership chand®teurred since inception. The
analyses have indicated that although an ownerdtapge occurred in a prior year, the net operdtisgses and research and development
credits would not expire before utilization as suleof the ownership change. In the event we IsaNxsequent changes in ownership, net
operating losses and research and development cezdiovers could be limited and may expire uirgd as a result of the subsequent
ownership change.

Results of Operations
The following table is a summary of our consolides¢gatements of operations.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Revenue:

Subscription $ 187,52 $ 132,06: $ 101,47(
Hardware and services 8,08( 5,86¢ 4,82t
Total revenue 195,60 137,93: 106,29!
Cost of revenugi)

Subscription 53,13¢ 35,43¢ 28,24¢
Hardware and services 12,54 6,12¢ 4,861
Total cost of revenue 65,67¢ 41,56: 33,11
Gross profit 129,92¢ 96,36 73,18
Operating expensétr)

Research and development 51,90: 34,44¢ 24,825
Sales and marketing 102,45! 71,78: 55,23¢
General and administrative 26,67¢ 19,62: 12,69:
Total operating expense 181,03 125,85 92,75¢
Operating loss (51,109 (29,487) (29,577
Interest expense, net (11,219 (641) (10¢)
Other expense, net (2,230 (21%) (154)
Loss before benefit from (provision for) incomedax (64,557) (30,339 (19,839
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 31: 2,80¢ (527)
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,360

The following table sets forth our consolidatedufessof operations for the specified periods as@@ntage of our total revenue for
those periods.
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Revenue:

Subscription

Hardware and services
Total revenue

Cost of revenugl)
Subscription

Hardware and services
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expensetr)

Research and development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total operating expense
Operating loss
Interest expense, net

Other income expense, net

Loss before benefit from (provision for) incomeeaax
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes

Net loss

Year Ended December 31,

(1) Includes stockased compensation and amortization of intangtkdeta as follow

Stock-based compensation:
Cost of subscription revenue

Cost of hardware and services revenue

Research and development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Amortization of intangible assets:

Cost of subscription revenue
Research and development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Revenue

Subscription
Hardware and services

Total revenue

2014 2013 2012
96 % 96 % 95 %
4 4 5
10C 10C 10C
27 26 27
7 4 4
34 30 31
66 70 69
26 25 23
52 52 52
14 15 12
92 92 87
(26) (22 (18
(6) — —
1) — —
(33 (22 (18
— 2 (1)
(339% (20)% (19%
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
$ 240 $ 1,000 $ 657
604 19€ 70
10,20¢ 3,60¢ 1,86¢
10,79¢ 4,27( 3,10¢
6,997 3,00z 1,62
$ 4157 $ 222( $ 2,78t
93 47 30
4,49¢ 1,74 461
46 34 =
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
$ 187,520 $ 132,06: $ 55,46¢ 42% $ 132,06. $ 101,47(C $ 30,59: 30%
8,08( 5,86¢ 2,211 38% 5,86¢ 4,82¢ 1,044 22%
$ 195600 $ 137,93; $ 57,67¢ 420 $ 137,93 $ 106,29! $ 31,63 30%
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Subscription revenue increased $55.5 million ar@ &anillion , or 42% and 30% , respectively, fol20and 2013. These increases
were primarily due to a $42.8 million and $25.9lioi increase in revenue from the United States tméd lesser extent, a $12.7 million and
$4.7 millionfrom international customers for 2014 and 2013yeetvely. The revenue increases were due to inrget@emand for our platfor
worldwide due to a shift in the overall threat lacape, the growth of business-to-business collibaras well as the consumerization of IT
which led to the increase in demand for data ptme@nd governance solutions. Additionally, theereue released from acquired deferred
revenue related to the acquisitions made in 20842813 was $7.1 million and $2.8 million, respeeiyv

Hardware and services revenue increased $2.2 mijllio 38% , in 2014 primarily due to higher reveritom hardware units sold as
we sold a higher number of hardware units with pobanix. The number of units sold in 2014 increasé® as compared to 2013. In 2013,
hardware and service revenue increased $1.0 mjlliwr22% , as compared to 2012, primarily dueighér revenue from professional services
as we almost doubled our personnel in the serdepartment from 2012 and focused on meeting custeareice needs .

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Subscription $ 53,13¢ $ 3543t $ 17,69¢ 50% $ 3543t $ 28,24¢ $ 7,19: 25%
Hardware and services 12,54 6,12¢ 6,41¢ 105% 6,12¢ 4,867 1,25i 26%
Total cost of revenue $ 65,67¢ $ 41,56: $ 24,11° 58% $ 4156 $ 33,11: $ 8,44¢ 26%

Cost of subscription revenue increased $17.7 millior 50%, in 2014 as compared to 2013. The increase in 2@K4primarily due t
an increase in operations-related expense of $#i®@mas a result of increased headcount, deptieciaxpense as a result of higher capital
expenditures to support our growth, and intangani®rtization expense of developed technology frleenacquisitions. Additionally, support-
related expenses increased $3.9 million primatilg tb higher headcount and consulting costs. Daitec costs increased $3.0 million
primarily due to subscription revenue growth in olaud-based solutions. Royalty expense increasedsillion in 2014 as compared to 2013
due to an increase in related revenues, primaiyn fSendmail acquisition.

Cost of subscription revenue increased $7.2 million25% , in 2013 as compared to 2012. The iser@a2013 was primarily due to
an increase in operations-related expenses ofrliBn as a result of increased headcount, deptieei and ISP network expenses, partially
offset by a net reduction in intangible amortizatexpense on developed technology from past atiguisioffset by the amortization expense
from current year acquisitions. Customer suppdeted expenses increased by $2.9 million primaslgted to higher consulting and
headcount-related costs. The increase in datarcemdts of $0.8 million was the result of ongoimgwth in usage by new and existing
customers. Other increase of $0.4 million waslaitable to higher licensing fees and professioealise costs in association with our growth.
All these increases were partially offset by lowayalty expense of $0.3 million driven by the remment of thirdparty licensed technology,
well as improved economic terms associated withomigioing licensing agreements.

Cost of hardware and services revenue increasddndiion , or 105% , in 2014 primarily due to ieerses in hardware cost of $1.9
million as a result of more units sold as well 45$illion from increased headcount-related anusatiing costs due to the increase in
revenue. Cost of hardware and services revenuedsed $1.3 million , or 26% , in 2013 primarily daéncreased professional services costs
of $1.9 million from increased headcount-related eonsulting costs due to the increase in revehie.increase was partially offset by lower
hardware costs of $0.7 million due to the continiregact from the adoption of new revenue recognigjaidance.

Operating Expenses
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Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Research and development $ 51,90! $ 34,44¢ $ 17,45 51% $ 34,44¢ $ 24,827 $ 9,62 39%
Percent of total revenue 27% 25% 25% 23%

Research and development expenses increased $illvof end $9.6 million , or 51% and 39% , for 204dd 2013, respectively. The
increases were primarily due to personnel-relatestiscof $14.3 million and $7.1 million for 2014 aP@l13, respectively, from higher
headcount, including those from the integratiothefacquisitions in 2014 and 2013. Additionallyrpmrate expense increased $2.6 million
$1.7 million, respectively, primarily due to highawsts from expanded operations, higher allocabstsdrom facilities, human resources and
IT-related expense as we grew year-over-year, @eréased consulting costs of $0.4 million and $il8on in 2014 and 2013, respectively, as
we grew rapidly in both years.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 102,45 $71,78 $ 30,67« 43% $ 71,78. $ 5523¢ $ 16,54: 30%
Percent of total revenue 52% 52% 52% 52%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $30.7 mdlfid $16.5 million , or 43% and 30% , for 2014 a0d3, respectively. The
increase in headcount on a worldwide basis resuitéttreased personnel-related and commissiorts 06$25.0 million and $10.9 million,
respectively. Travel expenses increased $0.4 millic2014 and $0.9 million in 2013. Corporate exggincreased $1.2 million in both 2014
and 2013 due to costs related to our acquisitiodshigher allocated costs as the company expaf@ilities related expense increased $1.0
million and $0.7 million, and expense for outsiéevices increased $0.1 million and $0.8 millior2B4 and 2013, respectively. Customer
relationships, trade name and non-compete agresraerdrtization increased $2.8 million in 2014 afdi$nillion in 2013 due to prior
acquisitions.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
General and administrative $ 26,67¢ $ 19,62: $ 7,05] 36% $ 19,62: $ 12,69 $6,92¢ 55%
Percent of total revenue 15% 15% 15% 12%

General and administrative expenses increasedndiflidn and $6.9 million , or 36% and 55% , for 204nd 2013, respectively,
primarily due to increases in personnel-relatedscog$6.6 million and $3.2 million for 2014 and1A) respectively, to support our continued
growth as a public company and acquisitions in 2&id 2013. Acquisition related expense decreasgdrilion in 2014 and increased $2.8
million in 2013 due to the timing of the acquisit® Professional fees increased $0.8 million and &illion in 2014 and 2013, respectively,
due to the timing of new hire and transition fraemporary to permanent staffing. Legal expense asaé $1.2 million in 2014 as compared to
2013 due to ongoing legal litigation with Finjan.

Total Interest Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Total interest expense, net (12,219 (641) (10,572 (1,649% (647) (10¢) (539) (4949)%
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Total net interest expense increased $10.6 millic?014 and $0.5 million in 2013, primarily duehigher interest expense related to
the issuance of the convertible senior notes irebdxer 2013 and the associated interest expengetianmf the debt discount and debt
issuance costs.

Total Other (Expense) Income, Net

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Total other expense, net $ (2,230 $ (215 $(2,01%) 930% $ (215 $ (159 $ (62) 40%

Total net other expense increased $2.0 million0b42as compared to 2013 primarily due to the sttesmang of the U.S. Dollar
against other currencies, in particular the Eure,Japanese Yen and the British Pound in 2014cfiiege in total net other expense was
immaterial in 2013.

Benefit From (Provision For) Income Taxe

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ % 2013 2012 $ $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Benefit from (provision for)
income taxes $ 31 $ 2806 $ (2,49 89% 2,80¢ (521) $ 3,32¢ 63%%

Total income tax benefit decreased $2.5 millio2@14 as compared to 2013. The decrease is printard to a full year tax benefit
$3.2 million related to the reversal of a signific@ortion of our valuation allowance on certaim@dian deferred tax assets in 2013, partially
offset by 2014 tax benefit of $0.8 million relatedthe reversal of valuation allowance resultirapirthe Nexgate acquisition.

Total income tax expense decreased $3.3 milli®0i8 as compared to 2012 primarily due to a fuliryex benefit
of $3.2 million related to the reversal of a sigraht portion of our valuation allowance on cert@enadian deferred tax
assets.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited qudyteonsolidated statements of operations dataéoh of the eight quarters in the
period ended December 31, 2014 . We have preplaeegutarterly data on a basis consistent with oditedi annual financial statements,
including, in the opinion of management, all normeadurring adjustments necessary for the fair state of the financial information contain
in these statements. The historical results arm@odssarily indicative of future results and stidad read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes incledelvhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue:
Subscription $ 52,770  $ 48,50¢ $ 45,047 $ 41,20: $ 39,33( $ 33,46: $ 30,81¢ $ 28,45:
Hardware and services 3,424 1,80% 1,351 1,50( 1,507 1,03¢ 1,011 2,31z
Total revenue 56,19¢ 50,31: 46,39¢ 42,70: 40,837 34,50! 31,827 30,76¢
Cost of revenue:(1)
Subscription 14,84: 14,30( 12,54« 11,45: 10,39¢ 8,93 8,27¢ 7,82¢
Hardware and services 4,60z 2,96¢ 2,715 2,26( 2,27: 1,40¢ 1,20t 1,23¢
Total cost of revenue 19,44: 17,26 15,26: 13,71: 12,66¢ 10,34¢ 9,47¢ 9,06¢
Gross profit 36,75: 33,047 31,137 28,99: 28,16¢ 24,15: 22,34¢ 21,69¢
Operating expense:(1)
Research and development 14,20: 13,45« 12,29¢ 11,94¢ 10,98t¢ 8,301 7,591 7,562
Sales and marketing 29,79¢ 25,66: 24,18( 22,81¢ 21,99¢ 17,41t 16,23¢ 16,12¢
General and administrative 7,194 7,13:¢ 6,84¢ 5,50¢ 6,18¢ 5,75¢ 3,771 3,90z
Total operating expense 51,19: 46,24¢ 43,32¢ 40,27: 39,17: 31,48( 27,60 27,59:
Operating loss (14,44) (13,209 (12,187 (11,279 (11,009 (7,329) (5,259 (5,896
Interest (expense) income, net (2,82¢) (2,819 (2,79%) (2,777 (637) (11) 5) 12
Other (expense) income, net (85€) (1,180 7 (199 (52) 352 (24¥¢) (367)
Loss before (provision for)
benefit from income taxes (18,127 (17,19¢) (14,979 (14,257) (11,699 (6,982) (5,417 (6,257)
Benefit from (provision for) income
taxes 758 (149) (147) (144) (190) (207) 3,347 (142)
Net loss $ (7,379 $ (17,34 $ (15,129 $ (14,39 $ (11,88) $ (7,189 $ (2,065 $ (6,399
Net loss per share, basic and
diluted $ (0.45) % (0.46) 3 (041 % (039 % (037 % (020 % (0.06) $ (0.19
Weighted average shares
outstanding, basic and diluted 38,26t 37,55 37,11 36,56 35,97 35,43 34,62 33,46

(1) Includes stoclbased compensation expense and amortization oigile assets as follov

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

(in thousands)
Stock-based compensation:

Cost of subscription revenue ~ $ 766 % 71E % 511 % 41z $ 37¢ % 202 % 19€ % 23z
Cost of hardware and services

revenue 178 15¢ 144 12¢ 76 45 39 36
Research and development 2,721 2,99¢ 2,45( 2,03¢ 2,04z 50z 55¢ 50¢&
Sales and marketing 3,632 2,65¢ 2,40¢ 2,097 1,76¢ 881 847 774
General and administrative 1,91¢ 1,96¢€ 1,81¢ 1,301 1,21¢ 74¢€ 511 524
Total stock based compensatiol

expenses $ 9,207 $ 8,49¢ $ 7,32¢  $ 597 $ 5481 $ 237¢ $ 2,152 $ 2,071
Amortization of intangible assets:

Cost of subscription revenue  $ 124 $ 1,11¢  $ 974 % 82¢ % 91t % 56 $ 41 % 32¢
Research and development 23 23 24 23 23 8 8 8
Sales and marketing 1,192 1,10¢ 1,10¢ 1,097 1,12« 321 22¢ 70
General and administrative 12 12 11 11 11 12 11 —
Total amortization of intangible

assets $ 2,471 % 2,25 % 2,10¢ % 196 $ 2,071 % 90¢ $ 66C $ 404
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The following unaudited table sets forth our coitsikd results of operations data as a percentagéabrevenue.

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Subscription 94 % 96 % 97 % 96 % 9€ % 97 % 97 % 92 %
Hardware and services 6 4 3 4 4 3 3 8
Total revenue 10C 10C 10C 10C 10C 10C 10C 10C
Cost of revenue:
Subscription 26 28 27 27 25 26 26 25
Hardware and services 8 6 6 5 6 4 4 4
Total cost of revenue 34 34 39 32 31 30 30 29
Gross profit 66 66 67 68 6¢ 70 70 71
Operating expense:
Research and development 25 27 27 28 27 24 24 25
Sales and marketing 5 51 52 5 54 50 51 52
General and administrative 13 14 15 13 15 17 12 13
Total operating expense 91 92 94 94 9€ 91 87 90
Operating loss (25) (26) 27 (26) 27 (21) ()] (29
Interest (expense) income, ne 5) (6) (6) @) 2 — — —
Other income (expense), net 2 2 — — — 1 — ()
Loss before (provision for)
benefit from income taxes (32 (34) (33) (33 (29) (20 a7) (20
(Provision for) benefit from
income taxes 1 — — — — Q) 11 —
Net loss BY% (39% (339% (33% (29% @n% 6% 29%

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During our initial public offering, in April and Ma2012, we raised net proceeds of $68.3 milliouiding proceeds from the
underwriters' partial exercise of their oxa@lstment option. Prior to that, we have histoiligaélied principally on sales of our preferredctdo
fund our operating activities. To date, we haveeadi$92.8 million from the sale of preferred stock.

In December 2013, we issued principal amount ofil$2nillion of 1.25% convertible senior notes (thiotes") for net proceeds of
$195.4 million after $5.8 million of discount arsbuance costs. The Notes bear interest at 1.25%eperand are payable in arrears every Jur
15 and December 15, beginning on June 15, 2014, ifa¢ure on December 15, 2018 and will be subjeotdemption, conversion or
repurchase based on certain terms and conditiamstprthe maturity date, with the conversion retibject to change depending on various
factors. The Notes are initially convertible int®.@271shares of our stock per $1,000 principal amoumtobés which equates to approxima
5.2 million shares of common stock, or a convergince of $39.02 per share of common stock. Therersion rate at the time of redemption,
conversion or repurchase will be dependent on ioefidators noted in Note 8 "Convertible Senior NitéVe intend to use the proceeds from
the Notes for working capital and general corpopatgoses, including the funding of future potdrdizquisitions.

We have also utilized equipment lines to fund @adgitirchases. We entered into an equipment loaeagnt with Silicon Valley
Bank in April 2011 for an aggregate loan principaiount of $6.0 million. Interest on the advancesgisal to the prime rate plus 0.50%. As of
December 31, 2014 , the interest rate on the outstg advances was 4.50%. We had the ability tevdlawn on this equipment line through
April 19, 2012 and each drawn amount is due 48 h®atter funding. Borrowings outstanding underdgbaipment loan at December 31, 2014
were $0.7 million . Equipment financed under tloiar arrangement is collateralized by the respeetsgets underlying the loan. The terms of
the loan restrict our ability to pay dividends. Tihan includes a covenant that requires us to mairdash and cash equivalents plus net
accounts receivables of at least two times the atmiall outstanding indebtedness, excluding thpact from the Notes. As of December 31,
2014 , we were in compliance with the financial @oant.
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We plan to grow our customer base by continuingnphasize investments in sales and marketing tmeddcustomers, expand our
customers’ use of our platform, and maintain higihemwal rates. We also expect to incur additional obsubscription revenue in accordance
with the resulting growth in our customer base. hgkeve that the combination of our ongoing imprmeats in gross margins, the benefits of
lower sales and marketing costs associated witlemawal activity, and the fact that our contraots structured to bill our customers in
advance should enable us to improve our cash flom bperations as we grow. Based on our curreet lgfvoperations and anticipated grov
both of which are expected to be consistent witlemeé quarters, we believe that our existing souotdiguidity will be sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next 12 months. Owréutapital requirements will depend on many fagtmrcluding our rate of revenue growth,
expansion of our sales and marketing activitied, the timing and extent of spending to support pobdevelopment efforts and expansion
new territories, and the timing of introductionsnefw features and enhancements to our solutionthélextent that existing cash and cash
equivalents and cash from operations are insulffidie fund our future activities, we may need tseaadditional funds through public or
private equity or debt financing. We have invested] plan to continue investing in acquiring comptatary businesses, applications and
technologies, and may continue to make such inve#irin the future, any of which could also requisdo seek equity or debt financing in
addition to our Notes. Additional funds may notawailable on terms favorable to us or at all.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of oursaidated cash flows for the periods indicated:

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 21,27F $ 1262« $ 6,83¢
Net cash used in investing activities (95,120 (9,96¢) (50,73%)
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,39¢ 201,87t 73,38¢

Net Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

Our net loss and cash flows from operating acésitire significantly influenced by our investmentieadcount and data center
operations to support anticipated growth. Our dkshis are also influenced by cash payments frontoensrs. We invoice customers for the
entire contract amount at the start of the terrd, asuch our cash flow from operations is alsecéid by the length of a customer contract.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $24ilBon in 2014 as compared to $12.6 million in130 The increase of $8.7 million
was primarily due to:

* Anincrease in amortization of intangible assét$4.7 million due to the acquisitions made ii2@&nd 2013, and an increase in
depreciation of fixed assets of $3.1 million duétte increase in capital expenditure;

» Stock-based compensation expense increased $ill8cdh due to the increase in headcount and valuatiomasftg madt

» Deferred income tax change increased $2.8 mifiomarily due to the release of valuation allos&im Canada of $3.2 million in
2013 offset by the release of the acquired defemediability of $0.8 million in 2014;

Amortization of debt issuance costs and acanatiodebt discount increased $8.3 millidme to the issuance of our convertible note
December 2013;

* Anincrease in deferred rent of $2.8 millidue to new lease agreements signed in 2014, imgudnant allowances receiv
* Anincrease in deferred revenue change of $ifll®n due to higher billing:

* Anincrease in accrued liabilities of $2.1 noiliidue to the timing of compensation and other pays;
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» The increase was offset by a net loss chan§8®7 million , an increase in a change in accoretsivable of $10.2 milliodue to th
increase in billings and sales growth, an increageepaid expense of $1.6 million and deferredipod costs of $0.9 million due to
prepaid royalties, maintenance and other arrang&smen

Net cash provided by operating activities was $12ilBon in 2013 as compared to $6.8 million in 20The increase of $5.8 million
was primarily due to:

* Anincrease in amortization of intangible ass#t$0.8 million due to the acquisitions made iri20and an increase in depreciation of
fixed assets of $1.5 million due to the increaseapital expenditure;

» Stockbased compensation expense increased $4.8 millierticdthe increase in headcount and valuationaftgmrmad
* Anincrease in deferred revenue change of $12anilliue to the higher billing

* The increase was offset by a net loss chan§& @ million, a $3.4 million deferred tax chargénparily due to the release of valuation
allowance in Canada of $3.2 million; an increasa @hange in accounts receivable of $2.1 millioe tfuthe increase in billings and
sales growth, and a decrease in change in acdai#lities of $1.6 million due to timing of compeaatfon payments and employee
stock purchase plan contribution.

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities consisted of agifions of businesses, capital expenditures in aupd expanding our infrastructure
and workforce and the purchase and sale of shortitevestments. As our business grows, we expeactapital expenditures and our
investment activity to continue to increase. We ralsp target other companies for acquisition, havgethere are none currently pending.

Net cash used in investing activities was $95.lionilin 2014 as compared to $10.0 million in 20TBe increase of $85.2 milliomas
due to higher business acquisition cost of $12lliami, an increase in capital expenditures of $WiBion for infrastructure expansion and
daily operations. The purchase of short-term immesits increased $17.4 million and proceeds from @adl maturities of short-term
investments decreased $47.7 million as more cashirwasted into available-for-sale investments.

Net cash used in investing activities was $10.0ianilin 2013 as compared to $50.7 million in 20TBe decrease of $40.8 milliavas
due to higher proceeds from sales and maturitishoft-term investments of $43.8 million , lessgmases of short-term investments of $39.7
million , offset by an increase in capital expenditof $1.8 million and cash paid for five businasguisitions of $41.0 million in 2013.

Net Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $Ifillion in 2014 as compared to $201.9 million @13. The decrease of $191.5
million is primarily due to proceeds of $195.6 noili from the issuance of the Notes in December 2013014, we withheld $4.2 million of
taxes related to restricted stock net share segtiesnAdditionally, in 2014 we paid $0.7 million lebldback payments and $0.4 million of
contingent earn-outs related to our acquisitio® decrease was offset by lower repayments ofié8lién for equipment financing loans and
debt assumed from the acquisitions, and the prackerh issuance of common stock were higher by #ili®n in 2014 as compared to 2013.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $20illion in 2013 as compared to $73.4 million i@12. The increase of $128.5
million was primarily related to proceeds of $19Bmlion from the issuance of the Notes in Decent¥@t3. Proceeds from issuance of
common stock increased $10.2 million in 2013 asmamed to 2012. The increase was offset by $68.[Bomibf proceeds from initial public
offering in 2012, net of offering costs, and $9.illion increase in repayments of our equipmentficiag loans and debt assumed from the
acquisitions.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our principal commitments consist of obligationslenour outstanding leases for our office spacethind-party data centers as well
as equipment leases and loans for certain compatepffice equipment. The following table summasiper contractual obligations as of

December 31, 2014 (in thousands):
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Payment Due By Period

Less Than More than 5
Total (7) 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years years

Convertible senior not&s) $ 201,250 $ — % — $ 201,25 $ —
Interest paymentg) 10,06: 2,51¢ 5,031 2,51¢ —
Debt obligationg3) 684 684 — — —
Interest expense paymeims 8 8 — — —
Capital and operating lease obligati@ss 25,95! 7,972 10,71 7,26¢ —
Purchase obligations) 1,802 854 94¢ — —
Total $ 239,75t $ 12,03: % 16,69C $ 211,03: $ =

(1) Represents the 1.25% convertible senior notesdssueecember 2013. See Note 8, "Convertible Sexates" for further informatio

(2) Represents interest payments on the 1.25% semweedéble notes issued in December 2!

(3) Represents our outstanding debt under our equipiogm

(4) Represents interest payments on our outstandingudeler our equipment loan, including the loan egdipment agreement commencing April 2(
(5) Consists of capital leases and contractual obbigatunder operating leases for office space aradaggiter:

(6) Consists of purchase obligations for servarssimilar equipment to support our thjperty data centel

(7) As we are unable to reasonably predict thegnof settlement of liabilities related to unren@ged tax benefits, net, the table does not inc&@® million of such non-
current liabilities included in deferred and otkeex liabilities recorded on our consolidated baéaskeets as of December 31, 2014 .

In connection with our Sunnyvale headquarters leasdssued an irrevocable letter of credit of $iBion to secure our obligations
under the lease. This contingent commitment igeit¢cted in the table above.

We have recorded a liability for sales and usedagevariety of factors could affect the liabilitywhich factors include recovery of
amounts from customers and any changes in relstaiites in the various states in which we have dwsiness. To the extent that the actual
amount of our liabilities for sales and use taxesamally differs from the amount we have recordadur consolidated balance sheet, our
future results of operations and cash flows coelachégatively affected.

As of December 31, 2014 , the amount of cash ask equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries $2&1 million , including
intercompany receivable balances. If these funde weeded for our operations in the United Statesyould be required to withhold foreign
taxes on the funds repatriated of approximatel® $@illion . We have only provided $0.2 million firese taxes, as it is our intention that the
majority of these funds are indefinitely reinvestedside the United States and our current plansoldlemonstrate a need to repatriate these
funds to our United States operations.

Under the indemnification provisions of our stamtlanstomer agreements, we agree to indemnify, defad hold harmless our
customers against, among other things, infringeraeahy patents, trademarks or copyrights undercamtry's laws or the misappropriation
of any trade secrets arising from the customegallese of our solutions. Certain indemnificatisoyisions potentially expose us to losses in
excess of the aggregate amount paid to us by steroer under the applicable customer agreemenmaterial claims have been made agains
us pursuant to these indemnification provisionddte.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not havedonowre currently have, any relationships with unodidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entities¢clivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangatmer other contractually narrow or limited purpesWe are therefore not exposed to any
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk thatwd arise if we had engaged in those types ofiogiahips.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management's discussion and analysis of caindial condition and results of operations are th@seour consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordatit&&AAP. GAAP requires us to make certain
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estimates and judgments that can affect the repharteounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosfi@ntingencies, and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses. We base our estimatéstoridal experience and on various other assumgtibat we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which fitrerbasis for making judgments about the carrymlges of assets and liabilities. If actual
results or events differ materially from those ewnplated by us in making these estimates, our tegdinancial condition and results of
operations for future periods could be materiaffgcted. See "Risk Factors" for certain matters thay affect our future financial condition or
results of operations. An accounting policy is dedrto be critical if it requires an accounting mstie to be made based on assumptions abot
matters that are uncertain at the time the estimateade, if different estimates reasonably coaldehbeen used, or if the changes in estimate
that are reasonably likely to occur could mateyiatipact the financial statements.

Our significant accounting policies, including teasonsidered to be critical accounting policies, sarmmarized in Note 1 "The
Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Refitto the accompanying consolidated financiatesteents in this report. The following
critical accounting policies reflect significantgments and estimates used in the preparationrafamsolidated financial statements:

* Revenue recognitio
»  Stockbased compensation expel
» Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities aggiim business combinatio
* Impairment assessment of goodwill, intangibleets and other lonkjved asset
» Loss contingency; ai
» Recognition and measurement of current and defémcene taxe:
Revenue Recoghnitio

We derive our revenue primarily from two sourcds3:qubscription revenue for rights related to the af our software and security-as
a-service platform and (2) hardware, training, prafessional services revenue provided to custonedated to their use of our platform.
Subscription revenue is derived from a subscripbiased enterprise licensing model with contrachsetypically ranging from one to three
years, and consists of (i) subscription fees frbenlicensing of our software and sect-as-a-service platform, (ii) subscription feesdoress
to the on-demand elements of our platform andgiifscription fees for the right to access ourarast support services.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingeria have been met:

e Persuasive evidence of an arrangement €

» Delivery has occurred or services have been reds

e Sales price is fixed or determinable;

Collectability is reasonably assur

We apply industry-specific software revenue rectigniguidance to transactions involving the licewgsof software, as well as related
support, training, and other professional servi€edtware revenue recognition guidance requiresmeg earned on software arrangements
involving multiple elements such as software liggrsipport, training, and other professional ses/to be allocated to each element based o
the relative fair values of these elements. Thevaiue of an element must be based on vesgecific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair val
VSOE of fair value of each element is based omptiee charged when the element is sold separately.

We have analyzed all of the elements included mnauitiple element software arrangements and haterchined that we do not have
sufficient VSOE of fair value to allocate revenoeotur software license agreements, support, tr@irdnd professional services. We defer all
revenue under the arrangement until the commendenfigime subscription services and any associatefégsional services. Once the
subscription services and the associated profesissenvices have commenced, the entire fee fromarttamgement is recognized ratably over
the remaining period of the arrangement. If thdgasional services
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are essential to the functionality of the subs@iptthen the revenue recognition does not commantiesuch services are completed.

Our arrangements typically include subscriptiorviees to our security-as-a-service platform. Thessgted on demand service
arrangements do not provide customers with the tgtake possession of the software supportinditisted services. Certain arrangements
also include the sale of hardware appliances. Re&éom hardware appliances containing softwarepmrants and hardware components
function together to deliver the hardware appligsiessential functionality is excluded from thepseof the industry specific revenue
recognition guidance. We recognize revenue fromhosted on demand services in accordance with gerefenue recognition accounting
guidance. Only revenue derived from the licensihthe software is recognized in accordance withittldeistry specific revenue guidance.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elemsuntd as hardware appliances, subscription sepvitstomer support services,
and/or professional services, we allocate reveowath element based on a selling price hieratohyultiple element arrangements, revenue
is allocated to each separate unit of accountiimgue relative selling prices of each of the wslables in the arrangement based on the s
price hierarchy. An element constitutes a sepanaiteof accounting when the delivered item hasd#done value and delivery of the
undelivered element is probable and within our @n¥When applying the relative selling price mathwe determine the selling price for each
deliverable using vendor-specific objective evide(fd/SOE”) of selling price. If VSOE does not exigte use third-party evidence (“TPE”) of
selling price. If neither VSOE nor TPE of sellingge exist for a deliverable, we use our best estiinof selling price ("BESP") for that
deliverable. Revenue allocated to each elemehtis tecognized when the basic revenue recognititeria are met for each element. We
determine BESP for an individual element within altiple element revenue arrangement using the saetbods utilized to determine the
selling price of an element sold on a standalorsisbiVe estimate the selling price for our subsicnipsolutions by considering internal factors
such as historical pricing practices and we estinta selling price of our hardware and other sessusing a combination of our historical
costs paired with external measurements regartimgticing of similar products and services in amindustries.

Hardware appliance revenue is recognized upon @mprubscription and support revenue are recodmzer the contract period
commencing on the start date of the contract. Bsideal services and training, when sold with hamwappliances or subscription and sup
services, are accounted for separately when trasees have standalone value. In determining vergihofessional services and training
services can be accounted for separately from splis and support services, we consider the falhg factors: availability of the services
from other vendors, the nature of the services,thadiependence of the subscription services onus®mer's decision to buy the professione
services. If professional services and traininghdbqualify for separate accounting, we recogriieefrofessional services and training ratably
over the contract term of the subscription services

Delivery generally occurs when the hardware appbas delivered to a common carrier freight on Haaripping point by us or the
hosted service has been activated and communitathd customer accordingly. Our fees are typicadigsidered to be fixed or determinable
at the inception of an arrangement and are negdtetthe outset of an arrangement, generally basegecific products and quantities to be
delivered. In the event payment terms are provttatdiffer significantly from our standard busisgsactices, the fees are deemed to not be
fixed or determinable and revenue is recognizeti@$ees become paid.

We assess collectability based on a number of faditacluding credit worthiness of the customer padt transaction history of the
customer. Through December 31, 2014 , we havexparienced any significant credit losses.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation modeistimate the fair value of stock options and ESiRPes. This valuation model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptjdhe most significant of which is our estimateggpected volatility and the expected term o
the award.

As our common stock has been publicly traded fss than three years, and therefore we have a fagdngpany-specific historical
and implied volatility data, we have determined $hare price volatility for options granted basadaa analysis of reported data for a peer
group of companies that granted options with sutbistily similar terms. We analyzed a populatiorpossible comparable companies and
selected those for our peer group that we congiderbe the most comparable to us in terms of imgimisiness model, revenue, growth and
gross profit margins. The expected volatility ofiops granted has been determined using an avefabe historical volatility measures of this
peer group of companies for a period equal to fpeeted life of the option. We intend to continaecbnsistently apply this process using the
same or similar entities until a sufficient amoahhistorical information regarding the volatiliof our own share price becomes
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available, or unless circumstances change suchhbadentified entities are no longer similar t Ln this latter case, more suitable entities
whose share prices are publicly available wouldtized in the calculation.

The expected life of options granted has been mhited utilizing the "simplified” method as permitby the SEC. The risk-free
interest rate is based on a daily treasury yieldeuate whose term is consistent with the expelfiedf the stock options. We have not,
historically, paid and, in the future, do not aitate paying cash dividends on our shares of constark and therefore, the expected dividenc
yield is assumed to be ze

We recognize stock-based compensation expensalfptimse shares expected to vest over the regusitvice period of the award.
We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsbfsbur actual forfeitures and will continue takiate the appropriateness of the forfeiture
rate based on historical forfeiture activity anghested future employee turnover, if any. Changdhearestimated forfeiture rate can have a
significant effect on reported share-based compgEmsaxpense, as the cumulative effect of adjudtirgrate for all expense is recognized in
the period the forfeiture estimate is changed.

Prior to our IPO, we have historically granted Ktoptions at exercise prices no less than thenfaiket value as determined by our
board of directors, who used a number of factoit imput from management and a third-party valuafirm.

For our valuations, we calculated the enterprideeshy applying both the market approach and therire approach. In the market
approach, the valuations and outcomes of compapedglecompanies in the public market were reviewaed.income approach consisted of a
discounted cash flow analysis. The methodology sexluderived equity values utilizing a probabilitgighted expected return method. Under
this approach, the value of our common stock wtmated based upon an analysis of values for oonmeon stock assuming the following
various possible future events for the companyuding initial public offering, strategic merger sale, remaining a private company, and
dissolution of the business with no resulting vatueommon stockholders.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assachin business combinations

We recognize the assets acquired and the liabiktgsumed at their acquisition date fair valuearsggly from goodwill. Goodwill as
of the acquisition date is measured as the exdasmsideration transferred over the net of theugition date fair values of the assets acquire
and the liabilities assumed. While we use our beinates and assumptions to accurately valuesaasgtired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date as well as contingent considenatidere applicable, our estimates are inheremttertain and subject to refinement. As a
result, during the measurement period, which may® one year from the acquisition date, we nepird adjustments to the assets acquire
and liabilities assumed with the correspondingetdffe goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measwrthperiod or final determination of the
values of assets acquired or liabilities assumdiiGhever comes first, any subsequent adjustmeateeaprded to our consolidated statements
of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires canagement to make significant estimates and asgumspespecially at the
acquisition date including our estimates for inihfegassets, contractual obligations assumed ueasting liabilities, pre-acquisition
contingencies and contingent consideration, whppdiable. Although we believe the assumptions estinates we have made in the past
have been reasonable and appropriate, they ard lmepart on historical experience and informatrtained from the management of the
acquired companies and are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certdinhe intangible assets we have acquired includeatminot limited to:

» future expected cash flows from our revenue stre

» the acquired company’s brand and competitivetioos as well as assumptions about the periodhod the acquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined company’s proglortfolio; and

» discount rate

Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocatinty affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions, estimates or actual
results.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie+aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiateand may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafficient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of thevédile estimates of assets acquired and liaksildEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.
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If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteelaby the end of the
measurement period, which is generally the casengive nature of such matters, we will recognizasset or a liability for such pre-
acquisition contingency if: (i) it is probable that asset existed or a liability had been incuatettie acquisition date and (ii) the amount of the
asset or liability can be reasonably estimateds8gibent to the measurement period, changes irstinrages of such contingencies will affect
earnings and could have a material effect on @ulte of operations and financial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax redateluation allowances assumed in connection wiithsiness combination are initie
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinzunoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary estésdeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatiothe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatetl@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statements of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived gets - Impairment Assessments

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wiegar events or changes in circumstances indicatmaitying value may not be
recoverable. For the purposes of impairment testirgghave determined that we have one reporting \ife perform the two-step impairment
test, whereby we compare the fair value of the ntampunit to its carrying value. If the fair valwé the reporting unit exceeds the carrying
value of the net assets assigned to that unit,wgillad not considered impaired and we are not nemlito perform further testing. If the
carrying value of the net assets assigned to {hatiag unit exceeds the fair value of the repagrtimit, then we must perform the second step
of the impairment test in order to determine thplied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwilf.the carrying value of a reporting unit's
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then weulebrecord impairment loss equal to the differe¢e.impairment has been noted to date.

We periodically review the carrying amounts of ndéble assets and other long-lived assets for impait whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carmyahge of these assets may not be recoverable. ¥ésume the recoverability of these assets
by comparing the carrying amount of such assetagset group) to the future undiscounted cash fevexpect the assets (or asset group) to
generate. If we consider any of these assets imb&ired, the impairment to be recognized equasathount by which the carrying value of
the assets exceeds its fair value. We make judgnadrtut the recoverability of purchased intangitsigsets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that impairment may exist.

Each period we evaluate the estimated remaininfyisees of intangible assets and other long-liasdets to assess whether a
revision to the remaining periods of amortizatismaquired. Assumptions and estimates about rentauseful lives of our intangible and otl
long-ived assets are subjective. They can be affegte\fariety of factors, including external factsigh as industry and economic trends
internal factors such as changes in our businestegy. Although we believe the historical assuomgiand estimates we have made are
reasonable and appropriate, different assumptiodatimates could materially impact our reportadrfcial results. We did not recognize any
intangible asset impairment charges to date.

Loss contingenc)

We evaluate contingent liabilities including thexad or pending litigation in accordance with ththaritative guidance on
contingencies. We assess the likelihood of any mevigdgments or outcomes from potential claimegal proceedings, as well as potential
ranges of probable losses, when the outcomes aldivas or proceedings are probable and reasomatilpable. A determination of the
amount of accrued liabilities required, if any, foese contingencies is made after the analyssacii separate matter. Because of uncertaintie
related to these matters, we base our estimatdgednformation available at the time of our asses#. As additional information becomes
available, we reassess the potential liabilitytegldo our pending claims and litigation and mayse our estimates. Any revisions in the
estimates of potential liabilities could have a@n@t impact on our operating results and finanga@ition.

Income Taxes

We determine our current and deferred tax provsslmsed on estimates and assumptions that cotdd fldm the actual results
reflected in our income tax returns filed during gubsequent year. We record adjustments basel@dmneturns when we have identified and
finalized them, which is generally in the third dodrth quarters of the subsequent year for U.@erf@ and state provisions, respectively. We
have placed a full valuation allowance on all neb \tleferred tax assets because realization of tagsbenefits through future taxable income
cannot be reasonably assured. We intend to maititain
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valuation allowance until sufficient positive evide exists to support the reversal of the valuaditowance. Any decision to reverse part ol
of the valuation allowance would be based on otimase of future profitability. If our estimate weto be wrong, we could be required to
charge potentially significant amounts to incomedapense to establish a new valuation allowance.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dertandistributed foreign earnings for which we [aly provided taxes because we
plan to reinvest majority of such earnings indeélyi outside the United States. We plan foreigmiags remittance amounts based on proje
cash flow needs as well as the working capitallangd-term investment requirements of our foreighssdiaries and our domestic operations.
Material changes in our estimates of cash, workeqgtal and long-term investment requirements éwrious jurisdictions in which we do
business could impact our effective tax rate. Wesaibject to income taxes in the United Statescan@din foreign countries, and we are sut
to corporate income tax audits in some of thedediations. We believe that our tax return posisi@me fully supported, but tax authorities are
likely to challenge certain positions, which may he fully sustained. However, our income tax exgeeincludes amounts intended to satisfy
income tax assessments that result from theseeclgals. Determining the income tax expense for thetntial assessments and recording the
related assets and liabilities requires managejudgtnents and estimates. We evaluate our unceggipositions in accordance with the
guidance for accounting for uncertainty in incoraees. We believe that our liability for uncertadx positions is adequate. We review our
liability for uncertain tax positions quarterly,chive may adjust such liability because of propassskssments by tax authorities, changes in
facts and circumstances, issuance of new regutationew case law, previously unavailable infororatibtained during the course of an
examination, negotiations between tax authoritfedifferent countries concerning our transfer psicer the expiration of statutes of limitatio

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1 of the notes to our consolidatadricial statements in Part I, Item 8 of this ArriReport on Form 10-K for a full
description of recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We have operations both within the United Statekiaternationally, and we are exposed to marké&sris the ordinary course of our
business. These risks primarily include interets, rioreign exchange and inflation risks, as weltisks relating to changes in the general
economic conditions in the countries where we cohbusiness. To reduce certain of these risks, waitor the financial condition of our lar
clients and limit credit exposure by collectingaidvance and setting credit limits as we deem apjaitep In addition, our investment strategy
has been to invest in financial instruments thatraghly liquid and readily convertible into cadin date, we have not used derivative
instruments to mitigate the impact of our marksk exposures. We have also not used, nor do wedrteuse, derivatives for trading or
speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risl

We are exposed to market risk related to changiggarest rates. Our investments primarily consishoney market funds, corporate
debt securities and certificates of deposit. ABefember 31, 2014 , we had cash, cash equivalerdsshort-term investments of $215.0
million . The carrying amount of our cash equivéseand short-term investments reasonably approgsrfair value, due to the short maturities
of these investments. The primary objectives ofiouestment activities are the preservation of tedpihe fulfillment of liquidity needs and the
fiduciary control of cash and investments. We dbartder into investments for trading or speculafiugposes. Our investments are exposed f
market risk due to a fluctuation in interest ratelsich may affect our interest income and the iia@rket value of our investments. Due to the
short-term nature of our investment portfolio, vedidwe only dramatic fluctuations in interest ratemuld have a material effect on our
investments. We do not believe that an immedia%é k@rease in interest rates would have a mateffiatt on the fair market value of our
portfolio. As such we do not expect our operatiesuits or cash flows to be materially affected lspdden change in market interest rates.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had an outstandingnical of $201.3 milliomggregate principal amount of the Notes, whichahfised
interest rate of 1.25% , and other outstandingdwairigs with principal amounts of $0.7 million , whihas a fixed interest rate of 4.5% . We
carry these instruments at face value, less reld#iv value of conversion option allocated to égand unamortized discounts, on our
consolidated balance sheets. Since these instrerheat interest at fixed rates, we have no finhsté@ement risk associated with changes in
interest rates. However, the fair value of thestriments fluctuates as interest rate changesratitg case of the Notes, primarily when the
market price of our common stock fluctuates.

Foreign Currency Risk
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The functional currency for our wholly owned foreigubsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, subsidiaries remeasure monetary
assets and liabilities at period-end exchange ratieile nonmonetary items are remeasured at historates. Income and expense accounts al
remeasured at the average exchange rates in dffieng the year. Remeasurement adjustments argnmzea in the consolidated statements o
operations as foreign currency transaction gairlesses in the year of occurrence. Aggregate fareigrency transaction losses included in
determining net loss were 2.2 million for 2014, &@d2 million for both 2013 and 2012. Transacti@ing and losses are included in other
income expense, net.

As our international operations grow, our risksoagsted with fluctuation in currency rates will lo@ece greater, and we will continue
to reassess our approach to managing this riséddiition, currency fluctuations or a weakening Wi&lar can increase the costs of our
international expansion. For our operating resarts cash flows, we evaluated the effects of a 10%6ia exchange rates between those
currencies and the U.S. dollar. We have determihatithere would not be a material effect on osults of operations from such a shift. To
date, we have not entered into any foreign currémaziging contracts, since exchange rate fluctuati@ve not had a material impact on our
operating results and cash flows. Based on ouenuinternational structure, we do not plan on gitgain hedging activities in the near futt

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefifdct on our business, financial condition owuitssof operations. Nonetheless, if
our costs were to become subject to significahafivihary pressures, we may not be able to fulfgeifsuch higher costs through price
increases. Our inability or failure to do so cobmétm our business, financial condition and resaflisperations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information in response to this item is incldide our consolidated financial statements, togettith the report thereon of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, appearing in Item thisfAnnual Report on Form 10-K, and in Item 7 enthe heading Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act 8#18r the Exchange Act, require public companieduding us, to maintain
“disclosure controls and procedures,” which areérgkef in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) to meeonapany’s controls and other
procedures that are designed to ensure that infammgequired to be disclosed in the reports thfileis or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported mvtithitime periods specified in the SEC's rules famahs. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controlglgasrocedures designed to ensure that informatiquired to be disclosed in our reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accwatad and communicated to management, includingbief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timelyisions regarding required disclosures. Our managg with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ewvaled the effectiveness of the Company's disclosomérols and procedures as of
December 31, 2014 . Based on their evaluationf eoember 31, 2014 , our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer have
concluded that the Company's disclosure contradspgacedures were effective.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ové&iinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule-15¢). Our management, including our Chief ExewaiOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiv@nef our internal control over financial reportingsed on the framework imternal
Control - Integrated Framework2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgituns of the Treadway Commission. Based on its
evaluation under the frameworklimernal Control - Integrated
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Framework(2013), our management concluded that our intermatrol over financial reporting was effective ds@ecember 31, 2014 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 31, 2014 , has beeited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registmiblic accounting firm, as stated in their rémdrich appears in Iltem 15(a) of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control

There have been no changes in our internal coowen financial reporting during the quarter endest®mber 31, 2014 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Internal control over financial reporting has indr@rlimitations. Internal control over financiaprting is a process that involves
human diligence and compliance and is subjectgsds in judgment and breakdowns resulting from mufaiures. Internal control over
financial reporting also can be circumvented byusibn or improper management override. Becauseicii limitations, there is a risk that
material misstatements will not be prevented oedtetd on a timely basis by internal control oveaficial reporting. However, these inherent
limitations are known features of the financialagjng process. Therefore, it is possible to de@igm the process safeguards to reduce, thoug
not eliminate, this risk. Our disclosure contratsl procedures and internal control over finan@glorting are designed to provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives and aextiffe at the reasonable assurance level. Howeuemanagement does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedures or our intezaatrol over financial reporting will prevent alirers and all fraud. A control system, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can prooidg reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must refle fact that there are resource constraintstamtienefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitéitions in all control systems, no evaluatiortoftrols can provide absolute assurance that a
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, Hmen detected. These inherent limitations incthdeealities that judgments in decision
making can be faulty and that breakdowns can doecause of a simple error or mistake. Additionalbntrols can be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of ttv more people or by management override of timtrols. The design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assonmgtabout the likelihood of future events and ¢hean be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under adingatl future conditions; over time, controls macbme inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with pekodr procedures may deteriorate. Because of tiegent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraagl occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 24, 2015, our Compensation Committee“@ommittee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Bdg approved the
Corporate Bonus Program (the “Bonus Program”). Bbeus Program provides for bonus payments to ligible employees, including our
executive officers, who are regular active empleyatethe time of payout. The Committee may seitiadel eligibility requirements for each
Bonus Program period, including, but not limitedttte length of time an employee must be employed full-time and active basis and the
level or positions of employees eligible to pagate. The Committee will establish, based on diefExecutive Officer's recommendations,
the design of the Bonus Program for each BonusrBrogeriod, including, but not limited to, compagrformance metrics, the frequency
timing of funding the bonus pool, bonus targetdjvidual performance metrics, the weighting of goahd timing of bonus payments. The
Committee will determine the form in which bonugél be paid, whether by cash or equity awardse Térms of equity awards will be
determined by the Committee and may be made pursmanr equity incentive plans. Our Chief ExeeeatOfficer may not establish
individual goals for himself or have any authotyer his own bonus. In addition, if deemed adisdly the Committee in order to satisfy
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1@8@her applicable law, our Chief Executive Cdfienay not establish performance or
individual metrics or have authority over the booéiexecutive officers. A copy of the Bonus Pragria filed as Exhibit 10.05 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be setth in the definitive Proxy Statement for our 204anual Meeting of Stockholders
(the "Proxy Statement") and is incorporated infs teport by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated ihis report by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated ihis report by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated fhis report by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated fhis report by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(@)
(1) Financial Statements

The list of consolidated financial statements actftedules set forth in the accompanying Index tabesolidated Financial
Statements at page 64 of this annual report igjpacated herein by reference. Such consolidatethéiial statements and schedules are filed &
part of this annual report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The schedule required by this item is included @ieé\4 to the consolidated financial statementso#ier financial statement schedt
are not required or are inapplicable and therdfieree been omitted.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index thigits in Item 15(b) below are filed or incorporatey reference as part of this
annual report on Form 10-K. See Exhibit Index imratady following the Signature Pages.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ppooft, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ba#asheets and the related consolidated statemfeogpei@tions, of comprehensive
loss, of changes in convertible preferred stockstodkholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flowsgent fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Proofpoint, Inc. and its sidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013 , and thdtseof their operations and their cash flow:s
for each of the three years in the period endec®éer 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting prpies generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Compamgintained, in all material respects, effectivielinal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014 , based on criteria establighbdérnal Control - Integrated FramewoR013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Tbmpany's management is responsible for thesedial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efniat control over financial reporting, included
in Management's Annual Report on Internal Contu@rd=inancial Reporting appearing under ltem 9Ar f@gponsibility is to express opinic
on these financial statements and on the Compargisial control over financial reporting basedooam audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Compacypunting Oversight Board (United States). Thetsendards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurammet avhether the financial statements are freeatenal misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audits of tharfcial statements included examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts antbdiges in the financial statements, assessingabeunting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autiiht®rnal control over financial reportii
included obtaining an understanding of internaltcmrover financial reporting, assessing the rtsktta material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectis®é internal control based on the assessedQiskaudits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthuenstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdhose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéganaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or a¢tmisstatements. Also, projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becimadequate because of changes in condit
or that the degree of compliance with the poligeprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2015
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

At December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 180,33 % 243,78t
Short-term investments 34,64¢ 8,01t
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdfttounts of $429 and $276 at December 31, 2012@18| respectively 40,91: 26,22:
Inventory 49¢ 86C
Deferred product costs 1,841 1,004
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,99¢ 7,96:
Total current assets 266,23t 287,84¢
Property and equipment, net 18,71¢ 11,22:
Deferred product costs 307 357
Goodwill 107,50 63,76«
Intangible assets, net 27,08¢ 22,97¢
Other assets 4,391 4,397
Total assets $ 424250 % 390,55¢
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 9,24¢ $ 7,281
Accrued liabilities 24,22( 19,26(
Notes payable and lease obligations 69t 1,65¢
Deferred rent 56¢ 297
Deferred revenue 123,55( 89,45(
Total current liabilities 158,28: 117,94¢
Convertible senior notes 161,63( 152,92¢
Long-term notes payable and lease obligations — 69t
Long-term deferred rent 2,09¢ 56
Other long-term liabilities 6,64( 7,244
Long-term deferred revenue 39,12¢ 34,53¢
Total liabilities 367,77 313,39¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders' equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par valueQ® §hares authorized; no shares issued and outsgeasliof December 31,
2014 and 2013 — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 200,000 sharémared at December 31, 2014 and 2013; 38,665 &/idi8 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013 ctgply 4 4
Additional paid-in capital 330,74« 287,16!
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 27 —
Accumulated deficit (274,249 (210,009
Total stockholders' equity 56,47: 77,16(
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 424250 $ 390,55!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue:
Subscription $ 187,52 $ 132,06: $ 101,47(
Hardware and services 8,08( 5,86¢ 4,82t
Total revenue 195,60° 137,93 106,29!
Cost of revenue:(1)(2)
Subscription 53,13¢ 35,43¢ 28,24t
Hardware and services 12,54: 6,124 4,86
Total cost of revenue 65,67¢ 41,56: 33,11¢
Gross profit 129,92¢ 96,36¢ 73,18.
Operating expense:(1)(2)
Research and development 51,90: 34,44¢ 24,82°
Sales and marketing 102,45! 71,78 55,23¢
General and administrative 26,67¢ 19,62% 12,69¢
Total operating expense 181,03 125,85: 92,75¢
Operating loss (51,109 (29,487) (29,577
Interest expense, net (11,219 (641 (20¢)
Other expense, net (2,230 (215) (154)
Loss before benefit from (provision for) incomedax (64,557) (30,339 (19,839
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 31: 2,80¢ (521)
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,36()
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ @72 $ 0.79 $ (0.85)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic artedlilu 37,38 34,87 24,05¢
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expent®lass:
Cost of subscription revenue $ 2,40¢  $ 1,000 $ 657
Cost of hardware and services revenue 604 19¢ 7C
Research and development 10,20 3,60¢ 1,86¢
Sales and marketing 10,79 4,27( 3,10:
General and administrative 6,991 3,00z 1,622
(2) Includes intangible amortization expensecdiews:
Cost of subscription revenue $ 4,157 % 2,22( % 2,78t
Research and development 93 a7 3C
Sales and marketing 4,49 1,74: 461
General and administrative 46 34 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,360)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized (losses) gains on investments, net (27) (©)] 6
Comprehensive loss $ (64,260 ¢ (2753) % (20,359

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheasolidated financial statements.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertibler&erred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Convertible »
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-In Comprehensive  Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit) Equity
Balances at December 31, 2011 38,94 $109,91: 4,961 $ 1 $ 24770 % B $ (162,11) $ (137,34)
Net loss — — — — — — (20,36() (20,360
Unrealized gain on short-term investments — — — — — 6 — 6
Issuance of common stock in April 2012
initial public offering at $13.00 per share, net
of issuance costs of $7,879 — — 5,86( 1 68,29« — — 68,29t
Conversion of preferred stock into shares |
common stock (38,949 (109,91) 19,567 1 109,91( — — 109,91:
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 7,321 — — 7,321
Stock options exercised — — 2,54 — 4,94¢ — — 4,94¢
Issuance of common stock in connection with
vested restricted stock units assumed with
acquisition — — 21 — — — — —
Tax withholding upon vesting of restricted
stock awards — — (@) — (83) — — (83
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 93 — 1,09: — — 1,09¢
Vesting of early exercise options = = — — 26 — — 26
Balances at December 31, 2012 — — 33,04« 3 216,28( 3 (182,47)) 33,80¢
Net loss — — — — — — (27,53)) (27,53))
Unrealized loss on short-term investments — — — — — 3 — ©)]
Embedded conversion feature on Converti
Senior Notes — — — — 43,29¢ — — 43,29¢
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 11,23: — — 11,23:
Stock options exercised — — 2,87¢ 1 13,50¢ — — 13,51(
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 217 — 2,83¢ — — 2,83¢
Vesting of early exercise options = = — — 13 — — 13
Balances at December 31, 2013 — — 36,14( 4 287,16! — (210,00 77,16(
Net loss — — — — — — (64,239 (64,239
Unrealized loss on short-term investments — — — — — 27 — 27
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 29,23: — — 29,23:
Common stock issued under stock-based
compensation plans — — 2,574 — 18,51¢ — — 18,51¢
Tax withholding upon vesting of restricted
stock awards — — (105) — (4,170 — — (4,170)
Exercise of warrants — — 2 — — — — —
Issuance of restricted stock — — 54 — — — — —
Vesting of early exercise options — — — — 3 — — 3
Balances at December 31, 2014 - $ — 38,66¢ $ 4 $ 330,74« $ (27) $ (274,243) $ 56,47:

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (2753) $ (20,36()
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexvby operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 17,82: 9,967 7,71(
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 2 2 —
Amortization of investment premiums, net of acanetof purchase discounts 31z 57¢ 52
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts 17t 40 54
Stock-based compensation 31,00¢ 12,08: 7,321
Deferred income taxes (697) (3,45¢) —
Change in fair value of contingent earn-outs 5 9 —
Amortization of debt issuance costs and accretfatebt discount 8,75 48¢ —

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effe@aofuisitions:

Accounts receivable (14,66¢) (4,500 (2,38()
Inventory 32¢ (2293) 162
Deferred products costs (797) 14¢ 1,28(
Prepaid expenses (94%) 63€ 2C
Other current assets (357) (24¢) (954)
Long-term assets (23) (316) 97
Accounts payable 18¢ 931 (68%)
Accrued liabilities 3,99t 1,88¢ 3,48t
Earn-out payment (23) (0] —
Deferred rent 2,31t (43¢) (5%)
Deferred revenue 38,09: 22,57¢ 10,61¢
Net cash provided by operating activities 21,27¢ 12,62« 6,83¢
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-teuasiments 11,35! 59,04¢ 15,26«
Purchase of short-term investments (37,80%) (20,37¢) (60,09Y)
Purchase of property and equipment, net (14,989 (7,66€) (5,909
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired (53,68() (40,977) —
Net cash used in investing activities (95,12() (9,96¢) (50,73Y)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofcbpses 17,64( 16,36 6,14:
Withholding taxes related to restricted stock metre settlement (4,17() — (83)
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of ofifeg costs — — 68,29¢
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior natpf discount and issuance costs — 195,64: —
Payments of debt issuance costs (19) — —
Repayments of notes payable and loans (1,65%) (10,037 (969)
Holdback payments for prior acquisitions (747) — —
Payment of contingent earn-outs (487) (99) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,39¢ 201,87¢ 73,38¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (63,449 204,53. 29,48’
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 243,78t 39,254 9,76
End of period $ 180,33 $ 243,78t % 39,25¢

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere: $ 2,58 $ 148 $ 4¢



Cash paid for taxes 491 38t
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing andnfancing activities

Unpaid deferred offering costs $ — % 19t

Unpaid purchases of property and equipment 2,57¢ 1,03¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars and share amounts in thousands, except pshare amounts)

1. The Company and Summary of Significant Accountig Policies
The Company
Proofpoint, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporataedielaware in June 2002 and is headquartered ifo€aa.

Proofpoint is a leading security-as-a-service giewithat enables large and mid-sized organizatieilwide to defend, protect,
archive and govern their most sensitive data. Thmany's security-as-a-service platform is comgrigfea number of data protection
solutions, including threat protection and incidesgponse, regulatory compliance, archiving, goaece and eDiscovery, and secure
communication.

Reverse Stock Split

On March 30, 2012, the Company's Board of Direcamsroved a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of the Canyys common stock. The
reverse stock split became effective on April 21.20Upon the effectiveness of the reverse stodk ¢plevery two shares of outstanding
common stock was decreased to one share of comtma §i) the number of shares of common stock iwhich each outstanding option to
purchase common stock is exercisable was propattjodecreased on a 1-for-2 basis, (iii) the exsa@rice of each outstanding option to
purchase common stock was proportionately increaseal 1-for-2 basis, and (iv) the conversion r&dioeach share of preferred stock
outstanding was proportionately reduced on a 12fbasis. All of the share numbers, share pricedearrcise prices have been retrospectivel
adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tomants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminateshsotidation.

In 2014 and 2013, the Company completed a numbacafisitions which are more fully described in &t "Acquisitions”. The
consolidated financial statements include the tesafloperations from these business combinati@m their date of acquisition.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States
America (GAAP) requires management to make estisnaitel assumptions that affect the reported amadirtssets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiekhatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ materially frahmose estimates. Significant items subject to sstimates and assumptions include those
related to revenue recognition, stdzksed compensation expense, fair value of assgtiired and liabilities assumed in business comhanaj
impairment assessments of goodwill, intangible tassed other long-lived assets, loss contingenaies the recognition and measurement of
current and deferred income taxes.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement and Transactions

The functional currency for the Company's whollyrma foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Acaugty, the subsidiaries
remeasure monetary assets and liabilities at p@modexchange rates, while nonmonetary items aneasured at historical rates. Income and
expense accounts are remeasured at the averagmgeatates in effect during the year. Remeasureatustments are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations as transagéims or losses within other income (expensd),iméhe period of occurrence. Aggregate
transaction gain losses included in determinindoss were $2,182 , $180 and $157 for the yearsceDatcember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
(dollars and share amounts in thousands, except pshare amounts)

The Company considers currency on hand, demandsigptime deposits, money market funds and atliitiquid investments with
an original maturity of three months or less atdh& of purchase to be cash and cash equivaesss. and cash equivalents are held in va
financial institutions in the United States ancingationally.

Investments

The Company classifies all its investments as albgtfor-sale at the time of purchase since itamagement's intent that these
investments be available for current operationd,ansuch, includes these investments as shortiteestments on its balance sheets. These
investments consist of fixed-term deposits, comimépaper and investment-grade corporate debt gesuwith original maturities longer than
three months. Short-term investments classifiealvadable-for-sale are recorded at fair value lih related unrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive incflass), a component of stockholders' equity. Redligains and losses are recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations and compsealeeloss based on specific identification.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or markfitey, with costs computed on a first-in, first-basis. Cost is determined using
standard costs which approximate actual costs.Chmepany periodically reviews its inventories focess and obsolete items and adjusts
carrying costs to estimated net realizable valuasnithey are determined to be less than cost.

Inventories held at December 31, 2014 and 201 3istomsmarily of finished goods.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue primarily from searrces: (1) subscription revenue for rights relatethe use of the security-as-a-
service platform and (2) hardware, training andgssional services revenue provided to customéateckto their use of the platform. The
Company records its revenues net of any value addsdles tax. Subscription revenue is derived faosnbscriptionbased enterprise
licensing model with contract terms typically ramgifrom one to three years, and consists of (issuption fees from the licensing of the
security-as-a-service platform, (ii) subscripti@e$ for access to the on-demand elements of tiferptaand (iii) subscription fees for the right
to access the Company’s customer support services.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingeria have been met:
e Persuasive evidence of an arrangement €
» Delivery has occurred or services have been reds
» Sales price is fixed or determinable;
» Collectability is reasonably assur

The Company applies industry-specific software nexerecognition guidance to transactions involthmglicensing of software, as
well as related support, training, and other prsifasal services. The Company has analyzed allo&lbments included in its multiple element
software arrangements and has determined thaeé dot have sufficient VSOE of fair value to all@ceevenue to its subscription and softw
license agreements, support, training, and prajeasservices. The Company defers all revenue uhedesoftware arrangement until the
commencement of the subscription services and ssycsated professional services. Once the subiseripérvices and the associated
professional services have commenced, the entréden the arrangement is recognized ratably dwerémaining period of the arrangement.
If the professional services are essential to tinetfonality of the subscription, then the revenemognition does not commence until such
services are completed.

The Company's revenue arrangements typically irc8ubscription services to its security-as-a-serpiatform. These hosted on
demand service arrangements do not provide cussowitr the right to take possession of the softveangporting the hosted services. Certain
arrangements also include the sale of hardwaréaaqmgls. Revenue from hardware appliances contastfiggare components and hardware
components that function together to deliver thelWvare appliance's essential functionality is edetlifrom the scope of the industry specific
revenue recognition guidance. The Company recogmeeenue from its hosted on demand services iordance with general revenue
recognition accounting guidance.
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Proofpoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
(dollars and share amounts in thousands, except pshare amounts)

Only revenue derived from the licensing of the wafie is recognized in accordance with the induspecific revenue guidance.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elemsuntd as hardware appliances, subscription seqvicstomer
support services, and/or professional servicesCtirapany allocates revenue to each unit of accogmti element based on a selling price
hierarchy. An element constitutes a separate d@igitcounting when the delivered item has standalaiige and delivery of the undelivered
element is probable and within the Company's cantvihen applying the relative selling price methtitlg Company determines the selling
price for each deliverable using vendor-specifieotive evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price. If VSGdbes not exist, the Company uses third-
party evidence (“TPE") of selling price. If neithé6OE nor TPE of selling price exist for a delivieieg the Company uses its best estimate of
selling price ("BESP") for that deliverable. Reverallocated to each element is then recognized wWieehasic revenue recognition criteria are
met for each element. The Company determines BEGS&nfindividual element within a multiple elemeatenue arrangement using the same
methods utilized to determine the selling pricawofelement sold on a standalone basis. The Congstimyates the selling price for its
subscription solutions by considering internal éastsuch as historical pricing practices and itestes the selling price of hardware and other
services using a cost plus model.

Hardware appliance revenue is recognized upon smprubscription and support revenue are recodmzer the contract period
commencing on the start date of the contract. Bsideal services and training, when sold with hamwappliances or subscription and sup
services, are accounted for separately when thtasees have standalone value. In determining vergihofessional services and training
services can be accounted for separately from splis and support services, the Company consittergollowing factors: availability of the
services from other vendors, the nature of theisesyand the dependence of the subscription s=raio the customer’s decision to buy the
professional services. If professional servicestamiding do not qualify for separate accountitg €ompany recognizes the professional
services and training ratably over the contraechtef the subscription services.

Delivery generally occurs when the hardware appbas delivered to a common carrier freight on daaripping point by the
Company or the hosted service has been activattd@anmunicated to the customer accordingly. The omy's fees are typically considered
to be fixed or determinable at the inception oharangement and are negotiated at the outset afrangement, generally based on specific
products and quantities to be delivered. In thenegayment terms are provided that differ signifibafrom the Company's standard business
practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixe@gt@rhinable and revenue is recognized as the fsEme paid.

The Company assesses collectability based on aewaofifactors, including credit worthiness of thestomer and past transaction
history of the customer. Through December 31, 2ahé Company has not experienced material crests.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of billingspalyments received in advance of revenue recogrfition the sale of the Company’s
subscription fees, training and professional ses/i©nce the revenue recognition criteria are thistyevenue is recognized ratably over the
term of the associated contract.

Deferred Product Costs

Deferred product costs are the incremental coatsatte directly associated with each noncancelledstomer contract or hosting
agreement and primarily consist of cost of appksnand royalty payments made to third parties, fndram the Company has obtained
licenses to integrate certain software into itdpiais. The costs are deferred and amortized oeendhcancellable term of the related custome
contract or hosting agreement, which typically efrgm 12 to 36 months.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depi@tia computed using the straight-line methodrdiie estimated useful life of the
related asset. Amortization of leasehold improvesmencomputed using the straight-line method éhershorter of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the asset or improvem€ntt of maintenance and repairs that do not impoovextend the lives of the respective as
are expensed as incurred. When property and equipsne retired or
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otherwise disposed of, the cost and related acateuidepreciation are removed from the balance sinethe resulting gain or loss is
included in other (expense) income, net.

Impairment of Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets, suchapepy and equipment, including intangible ass#israthan goodwill, for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurastaimdicate that the carrying value of an assgtmoabe recoverable. Recoverability of
these assets is measured by comparison of thargaagnount of such assets (or asset group) tautineef undiscounted cash flows the asset
asset group) is expected to generate. If the agsetonsidered to be impaired, the amount of mpairment is measured as the difference
between the carrying value and the fair value efithpaired assets. The Company also evaluatestineaged remaining useful lives of
intangible assets and other long-lived assetsgesaswhether a revision to the remaining periodsrairtization is required. No assets were
determined to be impaired to date.

Advertising and Promotion Costs

Expenses related to advertising and promotion letisos is charged to sales and marketing expesngecarred. The Company did t
incur any significant advertising and promotion enpes during the years ended December 31, 2013,a20i12012 .

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pfithe acquired enterprise over the fair valugentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The Company performs an angoatlwill impairment test during the fourth quardéthe Company's fiscal year and more
frequently if an event or circumstances indicaled impairment may have occurred. For the purpoS@spairment testing, the Company has
determined that it has one operating segment aadeaporting unit. The Company performs a tstep impairment test of goodwill whereby
fair value of the reporting unit is compared todsrying value. If the fair value of the reportingit exceeds the carrying value of the net asse
assigned to that unit, goodwill is not consideragaired and further testing is not required. If taerying value of the net assets assigned t
reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the rapgrtinit, then the Company must perform the sestag of the impairment test in order to
determine the implied fair value of the reportingtis goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporgirunit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, then impairment loss equal to the differeésaecorded. The identification and measuremegpofdwill impairment involves the
estimation of the fair value of the Company. Thiineste of fair value of the Company, based on th& lnformation available as of the date of
the assessment, is subjective and requires judginehtding management assumptions about expeuatadefrevenue forecasts and discount
rates, changes in the overall economy, trendsarsthck price and other factors. No impairment idestified by the Company as of
December 31, 2014 .

Intangible assets consist of developed technologstomer relationships, non-compete arrangemeatgmarks and patents, order
backlog and in-process research and developmesit d$® values assigned to intangibles are basedtimates and judgments regarding
expectations for success and life cycle of solgtiand technologies acquired.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straightdases over their estimated lives, which approxintlaéepattern in which the economic
benefits of the intangible assets are consumefd|lasss (in years):

Low High
Patents 4 5
Developed technology 3 7
Customer relationships 2 7
Non-compete agreements 2 4
Order backlog 2 2
Tradenames and trademarks 1 5

In-process research and development asset is rastiaed until the associated project is completed.
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Warranty

The Company provides limited warranties on all saled provides for the estimated cost of the wégsat the date of sale, to the
extent not already provided by its own vendors. &iamated cost of warranties has not been materthte.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeauthoritative guidance, which requires us¢hefasset and liability
method. Under this method, deferred income taxtassel liabilities are determined based on thesdifice between the consolidated financial
statements carrying amounts and the tax basissetsiand liabilities and are measured using thetethdax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which the differences amgeeted to be reversed.

The Company records net deferred tax assets texteat the Company believes these assets will tilaly than not be realized. In
making such determination, the Company considé¢gsvallable positive and negative evidence, inalgduture reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences, projected future taxabl®ine, tax planning strategies and recent finangiatations.

The Company has elected to use the "with and witheqproach as described in ASC 740-20, "IntragkTiax Allocation” in
determining the order in which tax attributes aitzed. As a result, the Company will only recogmia tax benefit from stock-based awards ir
additional paid-in capital if an incremental taxnbét is realized after all other tax attributesremtly available to the Company have been
utilized. In addition, the Company has electeddroaint for the impact of stock-based awards onrdtheattributes, such as the research tax
credit, within the consolidated statements of ofi@na.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiessrbtatuncertain tax positions within the incomedagense line in the consolidated
statements of operations. Accrued interest andlfiemare included within the related tax liabillige on the consolidated balance sheets.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribyilan covering all employees. The Company may madaetionary contributior
to the 401(k). To date, no contributions have beade by the Company.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company issues stock-based compensation ateaedsployees and directors in the form of stockomst, restricted stock units
("RSUs"), performance stock units ("PSUs") and eypeé stock purchase plan ("ESPP") awards (collelgtivawards").

The Company measures and recognizes compensapensaxfor all stock-based awards based on the a\Wandvalue. Stock-based
compensation for RSUs and PSUs is measured basthe @alue of the Company's common stock on thetgtate. Stock-based compensatior
for employee stock options and ESPP awards areurezhen the date of grant using a Black-Schole®ogricing model.

Awards vest either on a graded schedule or in @lsam. The Company determines the fair value dfi@aard as a single award and
recognizes the expense on a straight-line basistbeeservice period of the award, which is gemgthke vesting period. The exercise price of
stock options granted is equal to the fair valuthefCompany's common stock on the date of grantk®ptions expire ten years from the ¢
of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense for stock optrRBIgs, PSUs and the ESPP is based on awards telynexpected to vest, and
the expense is recorded net of estimated forfeiture

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changesjinty that are not the result of transaction$wtockholders. The Company’s
comprehensive income (loss) consists of its net &gl changes in unrealized gains (losses) onaikable-for-sale investments.

Loss Contingencies

The Company may be involved in various lawsuitaines and proceedings that arise in the ordinaryseoof business. The Company
records a provision for a liability when it beliesvéihat it is both probable that a liability has ié@gcurred and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgment is required to datee both probability and the estimated amouné Tlompany reviews these provisions at
least quarterly and adjusts these provisions tegethe impact of negotiations, settlements, gdirand updated information.

Recent Accounting Policies

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014A&;ounting for Share-Based Payments When the Tafrens Award Provide That a
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the RiéguService Perio, a new accounting standard update that clarifiesatcounting for
share-based payments when the terms of an awawd falf a performance target to be achieved aftegraployee completes the requisite
period. The amendments require that a performargettthat affects vesting and that could be aehiafter the requisite period be treated
performance condition. A company should apply éxgsguidance in Topic 718 as it relates to awarils performance conditions that affect
vesting to account for such awards. Compensatishatmuld be recognized in the period in whicheitdimes probable that the performance
target will be achieved and should represent tinepemsation cost attribute to the period(s) for Wwhite requisite service has already been
rendered. The new guidance will become effectivatfe Company on January 1, 2016 with early adagigermitted. The adoption of this
guidance is not expected to have material impat¢herCompany's consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standardddtie No. 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Topic 66U
2014-09), to supersede nearly all existing revaraegnition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The coreqipie of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize
revenues when promised goods or services are ¢éraedfto customers in an amount that reflects dmsideration that is expected to be
received for those goods or services. ASU 2014dihes a five step process to achieve this corejplie and, in doing so, it is possible more
judgment and estimates may be required within ¢élvemue recognition process than required undetimxis.S. GAAP including identifyini
performance obligations in the contract, estimativegamount of variable consideration to includéhmtransaction price and allocating the
transaction price to each separate performancgaihin. ASU 2014-09 is effective for the Compargrtatg January 1, 2017 using either of
two methods: (i) retrospective to each prior reipgrperiod presented with the option to elect éenpaactical expedients as defined within A
2014-09; or (ii) retrospective with the cumulat®féect of initially applying ASU 2014-09 recognizatithe date of initial application and
providing certain additional disclosures as defiped ASU 2014-09. The Company is currently evahgathe impact of the adoption of ASU
2014-09 on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Acquisitions

In 2014 and 2013, the Company entered into agresnemcquire two and five companies (collectivéhg "Acquisitions”),
respectively. Each acquisition was accounted faleuthe purchase method of accounting in whichidhgible and identifiable intangible
assets and liabilities of each acquired companywarorded at their respective fair values as dfi @aquisition date, including an amount for
goodwill representing the difference between ttspeetive acquisition consideration and fair valoieiglentifiable assets acquired and liabili
assumed. The Company believes the combined entitiezchieve savings in corporate overhead costsapportunities for growth through
expanded geographic and customer segment diveviiiythe ability to leverage additional productslarapabilities. These factors, among
others, contributed to a purchase price in excktsecestimated fair value of each acquired comgamgt identifiable assets acquired and, as «
result, goodwill was recorded in connection witleleacquisition. Goodwill related to each acquisifiother than eDynamics LLC, is not
deductible for tax purposes.

For each of the acquisitions, the Company disclosatérial revenue amounts in the acquisition yieatr due to the continued
integration of the combined businesses, it was atfgral to determine the earnings.
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Nexgate, Inc.

On October 31, 2014 (the "Nexgate Acquisition Datplirsuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plateoger, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Nesginc. ("Nexgate"), with Nexgate surviving asfeolly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Formerly based in Burlingame, CaliforiNexgate provides cloudased brand protection and compliance for entergasial medi
accounts. With this acquisition, the Company'saustrs can effectively protect their online branesgnce and social media communication
infrastructure. Nexgate technology identifies amehediates fraudulent social media accounts, acdmaks, and content that contains malw
spam and abusive language. In addition, the Ne>sgatgion enforces policy on authorized accounts@osts for compliance with a wide-
range of social media regulatory requirements.

The Company has provisionally estimated the fawesfor the acquired tangible and identifiabl@ngible assets and liabilities
assumed at the Nexgate Acquisition Date. The amsaepbrted were considered provisional as the Cagnpas completing the valuation
work to determine the fair value of certain assetguired and liabilities assumed.

The results of operations and the provisionalaltes of the acquired assets and liabilities assuinave been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsedine Nexgate Acquisition Date. Revenue from Nexgats not material for the year endec
December 31, 2014.

At the Nexgate Acquisition Date, the Company p&Ril,771 in cash consideration, net of cash acduif&1,032 . Of the cash
consideration paid, $5,250 was held in escrosetture indemnification obligations, which has regreleased as of the filing date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company incurré281% in acquisition-related costs which were reedrdithin operating expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2014.

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assut
The determination of the fair values of the asaetpiired and liabilities assumed has been pregaredprovisional basis and changes

to that determination may occur as additional imfation becomes available. The following table sumimea the fair values of tangible assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, intangible assetsgoodwill:

Estimated Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)
Current assets acquired $ 1,34( N/A
Fixed assets acquired 15 N/A
Liabilities assumed (88) N/A
Deferred revenue assumed (600) N/A
Customer relationships 3,00( 7
Order backlog 20C 2
Core/developed technology 3,20( 4
In-process research and development 90C N/A
Deferred tax liability, net (792) N/A
Goodwill 25,62¢ Indefinite
$ 32,80

NetCitadel, Inc.

On May 13, 2014 (the "NetCitadel Acquisition Datgd)irsuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plaviesfer, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Natf2l, Inc. ("NetCitadel"), with NetCitadel suritig as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Formerly based in Mountain View, Califa;riNetCitadel is a pioneer in the field of autordagecurity incident response. The
acquisition extends the reach and capabilitieb®Qompany's existing advanced threat solutiordingdadditional threat verification and
containment capabilities via an open platform thdfies products from the Company and other vendors
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The Company has provisionally estimated fair vafoeshe acquired tangible and identifiable intdgiassets and liabilities assumed
at the NetCitadel Acquisition Date. The amountregrl were considered provisional as the Comparsyasapleting the valuation work to
determine the fair value of certain assets acquiretlliabilities assumed.

The results of operations and the provisionalalues of the acquired assets and liabilities assiinave been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsedine NetCitadel Acquisition Date. Revenue fromQitsidel was not material for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

At the NetCitadel Acquisition Date, the Companydp&22,731 . Of the cash consideration paid, $8,8&s held in escrow to secure
indemnification obligations, which has not beerasked as of the filing date of this Form 10-K. Twenpany incurred $345 in acquisition-
related costs which were recorded within operatixgenses for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assut
The determination of the fair values of the asaetpiired and liabilities assumed has been pregaredprovisional basis and changes

to that determination may occur as additional imfation becomes available. The following table sumimea the fair values of tangible assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, intangible assetsgoodwill:

Estimated Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life
Tangible assets acquired $ 14 N/A
Liabilities assumed (1,267%) N/A
Customer relationships 10C 5
Core/developed technology 5,50( 5
Goodwill 18,38¢ Indefinite
$ 22,73:

Sendmail, Inc.

On October 1, 2013 (the "Sendmail Acquisition Datpursuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plameoger, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company merged with and into &gaitj Inc. ("Sendmail"), with Sendmail surviving asvholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Formerly based in Emeryville, CaliforrB@ndmail is a leading provider of messaging infracstire solutions to enterprises whose
solutions ensure global email connectivity, routimgl message delivery between people, systemspatidadions located on-premise, in-cloud
or on mobile devices. The acquisition of SendmitoMas the Company access to its Sentrion Emailfétat business, customers, core
engineering and professional teams which have detraiad a sustained level of expertise in messagfrastructure.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, thegaosncompleted the valuation of the estimatedvalines of the acquired
tangible and identifiable intangible assets ankiliiies assumed at the Sendmail Acquisition Date] the results of operations and the fair
values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumave been included in the consolidated finarstéiements since the Sendmail Acquisition
Date. The Company recorded 2,975 in revenue frond®ail for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

At the Sendmail Acquisition Date, the Company [#%i@,463 in cash consideration, net of cash acquif&d,117 . Of the cash
consideration paid, $3,422 was held in escrow torgeindemnification obligations, of which $ 719sar@covered from indemnification claims
in 2014. As part of the acquisition, the Comparguased and paid off $7,933 in long-term debt onSaedmail Acquisition Date. The
Company incurred $1,877 in acquisition-related €@gtich were recorded within operating expensesii®iyear ended December 31, 2013 .

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assuat
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The following table summarizes the fair valuesaofgible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, gibda assets and goodwill:

Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)

Tangible assets acquired $ 5,20z N/A
Liabilities assumed (5,162 N/A
Deferred revenue assumed (14,549 N/A
Long-term debt assumed (7,939 N/A
Trade name 40C 5
Customer relationships 8,00( 3
Patents 30C 5
Core/developed technology 3,00( 3
Goodwill 24,32: Indefinite

$ 13,58(

Armorize Technologies, Inc.

On September 5, 2013 (the "Armorize Acquisitionddgtpursuant to the terms of an Agreement and &iaerger, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Aiizeo Technologies, Inc. ("Armorize"), with Armorizeirviving as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Based in Taiwan, Armmedevelops and markets leading cloud-based Saa®almtare products and will add
real-time dynamic detection of next generationdtse@nd malware to the Company's existing capigisilit

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, tmep@ny completed the valuation of the estimatedviaimes of the acquired
tangible and identifiable intangible assets anbilittes assumed at the Armorize Acquisition Dated the results of operations and the fair
values of the acquired assets and liabilities assuimave been included in the consolidated finarstédements since the Armorize Acquisition
Date. The Company recorded $ 781 in revenue fromofize for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

At the Armorize Acquisition Date, the Company p&#,215 in cash consideration, net of cash acquif&d,746 . Of the cash
consideration paid, $3,750 was held in escrow ¢toirgeindemnification obligations, which has notmeeleased as of the filing date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company incurred®in acquisition-related costs which were recondéHin operating expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2C.

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assal

The following table summarizes the fair valuesaofgible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, gibda assets and goodwill:

Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)
Tangible assets acquired $ 2,75¢ N/A
Liabilities assumed (1,239 N/A
Customer relationships 1,30(C 2
Non-compete agreements 50C 3
Core/developed technology 3,85( 5
Goodwill 18,79 Indefinite
$ 25,96!
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Abaca Technology Corporation

On July 19, 2013 (the "Abaca Technology Acquisitidate"), pursuant to the terms of an AgreementRiad of Merger, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company merged with anal Atiaca Technology Corporation ("Abaca Technologwijh Abaca Technology
surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the CompaAbaca Technology specializes in email filteramyl protection algorithms and their
cloud-based, in-memory threat scoring technologiesexpected to complement the Company's contimvedtment in anti-spam and threat
detection capabilities.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, tmep@ny completed the valuation of the estimatedviaies of the acquired
tangible and identifiable intangible assets anbiliites at the Abaca Technology Acquisition Daded the results of operations and the fair
values of the acquired assets and liabilities assuimave been included in the consolidated finarstéaéments since the Abaca Technology
Acquisition Date. The Company recorded $311 in nereefrom Abaca Technology for the year ended Deegr8b, 2013 .

At the Abaca Technology Acquisition Date, the Comppaid $23 in cash consideration, net of cashieeduwf $3 . The purchase
consideration included an additional amount of $Q,&hich was held back to secure contingent liaedirelated to indemnification
obligations. The initial fair values of the conterg liabilities of $1,397 were recorded in otherdeterm liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet. The indemnification obligations have notbedeased as of the filing date of this Annual ®&epn Form 10-K. The Company incurred
$218 in acquisition-related costs which were reedrdithin operating expenses for the year endec¢dber 31, 2013 .

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assul

The following table summarizes the fair valuesasfgible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, gitdae assets and goodwiill:

Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)
Tangible assets acquired $ 311 N/A
Liabilities assumed (962) N/A
Customer relationships 40 3
Core/developed technology 1,77C 5
Goodwill 264 Indefinite

$ 1,42:

eDynamics, LLC

On July 10, 2013 (the "eDynamics Acquisition Dat@lrsuant to the terms of an Asset Purchase Agreerthe Company purchased
substantially all of the business intellectual gndp and assumed certain liabilities of eDynamids; ("eDynamics"). eDynamics is a social
media archiving company and is expected to be tgial part of the Company's broader effort iningllout a comprehensive social media
archiving platform for customers.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, tmep@ny completed the valuation of the estimatedviaies of the acquired
tangible and identifiable intangible assets ankilittes assumed at the eDynamics Acquisition Datel the results of operations and the fair
values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumave been included in the consolidated finarsté@iements since the eDynamics Acquis
Date. Revenue from eDynamics was not materialferyear ended December 31, 2013 .

At the eDynamics Acquisition Date, the Company B60 in cash consideration. The Company also dgrepay earn-out
consideration ("Acquisition-related contingent eatr liability") of up to $600 through April 2014uch liability being contingent upon the
achievement of specified product development mileess. The initial fair value of the contingent eau liability of $586 was recorded as part
of the purchase consideration. The purchase camagide also included an additional amount of $1@hich was held back to secure any
claims that may arise in the 12-month period dfter
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eDynamics Acquisition Date. The initial fair valoEsuch amount withheld of $72 as well as the Astjion-related contingent earn-out
liability were recorded in accrued liabilities dretconsolidated balance sheet. The Company paid §flibe contingent earn-out liability
during the year ended December 31, 2013, the réngaéarn-out consideration and holdback amount waei@ in full in year ended December
31, 2014 . The Company incurred $6 in acquisitielated costs which were recorded within operatigeases for the year ended December
31, 2013.

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assal

The following table summarizes the fair valuesaofgible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, gibda assets and goodwill:

Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)
Customer relationships $ 248 3.5
Non-compete agreements 75 2
Core/developed technology 733 3.5
Goodwill 107 Indefinite

$ 1,15¢

Mail Distiller Limited

On April 5, 2013 (the "Mail Distiller Acquisition &e"), pursuant to the terms of a share transfexemgent, the Company purchased
all of the outstanding share capital of Mail DistilLimited, a Northern Ireland Company ("Mail Dikr"). Mail Distiller is a European-based
provider of the SaaS email security solutions. NDadtiller allowed the Company to create the Proafp Essentials product line, a suite of
SaasS security and compliance solutions specificibigned for distribution across managed servigeigers and dedicated security resellers.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2013, the Compamypleted the valuation of the estimated fair alaf the acquired tangible and
identifiable intangible assets and liabilities aned at the Mail Distiller Acquisition Date, and ttesults of operations and the fair values of thi
acquired assets and liabilities assumed have be&rded in the consolidated financial statememisesthe Mail Distiller Acquisition Date. The
Company recognized $216 in revenue from Mail Destifor the year ended December 31, 2013 .

At the Mail Distiller Acquisition Date, the Compaipgid $3,771 in cash consideration, net of cashised of $60 . The purchase
consideration included an additional amount of $66ékl back to secure indemnification obligationkjalk was recorded in accrued liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheet as of Decemb@033 . The indemnification obligations has besdaased in year ended December 31,
2014 . The Company incurred $258 in acquisitiomtes costs which were recorded within operatingeazps for the year ended December 3:
2013.

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assual

The following table summarizes the fair valuesaofdgible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, gibda assets and goodwill:
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Estimated
Fair Value in USD Useful Life (in years)

Tangible assets acquired $ 204 N/A
Liabilities assumed (1,052 N/A
Trade name 7 1
Customer relationships 1,291 2
Non-compete agreements 128 2
Core/developed technology 2,47¢ 7
Goodwill 1,45 Indefinite

$ 4,50(

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortizan presents the combined results of operationthimyears ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 as though the acquisitionsott@atrred during the reporting periods had occuadf the beginning of the comparable
prior annual reporting periods, with adjustmentgite effect to pro forma events that are direatlyibutable to the acquisitions such as
amortization expense of acquired intangible ass&sk-based compensation directly attributabliaéoacquisitions and acquisition-related
transaction costs. The unaudited pro forma reslaltsot reflect any operating efficiencies or poentost savings which may result from the
consolidation of the operations of the Company arglisitions. Accordingly, these unaudited pro fasmesults are presented for informati
purposes only and are not necessarily indicatiwghaft the actual results of operations of the comdbicompany would have been if the
acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of #@ogd presented, nor are they indicative of futesults of operations:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Total revenue $ 196,70 $ 166,57° $ 150,93«
Net loss (70,87 (46,090 (28,229
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (190 $ 1.37) $ (1.19)

The unaudited pro forma financial information irtds acquisition-related transaction costs of $578He year ended year ended
December 31, 2014 .

3. Concentration of Risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject @mmpany to credit risk consist principally of casid cash equivalents, short-term
investments and accounts receivable.

The Company limits its concentration of risk in lca@guivalents and short-term investments by diféngj its investments among a
variety of industries and issuers and by limitihg iverage maturity to one year or less. The Coppanofessional portfolio managers adhere
to this investment policy as approved by the ComgjsaRoard of Directors.

The Company's investment policy is to invest onlfixed income investments denominated and payialleS. dollars. Investment in
obligations of the U.S. government and its agencremey market instruments, commercial paper,faetes of deposit, bankers' acceptances
corporate bonds of U.S. companies, municipal seesrand asset backed securities are allowed. Bhg@ny does not invest in auction rate
securities, futures contracts, or hedging instrunen

The Company's accounts receivables are derived feeenue earned from customers primarily locatetiénUnited States of
America. The Company performs periodic evaluatiofiss customers' financial condition and generdthes not require its customers to
provide collateral or other security to support@ats receivable, and maintains an allowance fabtfal accounts. Credit losses historically
have not been significant.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014 , one mestaccounted for 12% of total revenue. One cust@oeounted for 149%f total
revenue in the years ended December 31, 2013 & 20

At years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there mo customers that accounted for more than ¥®%iad accounts receivable.
4. Balance Sheet Components

Allowance for doubtful accounts activity and bales@re presented below:

Balance at Additions Balance at
Beginning of to Costs and Write End of
Period Expenses Offs Period
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 23: % 54 % (100) $ 187
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 187 $ 91 % 2 3 27¢
Year ended December 31, 2014 $ 27¢ % 156 % 5 $ 42¢

Property and equipment at December 31, 2014 an8 @isist of the following:

December 31,

Useful Life
(in years) 2014 2013

Computer equipment 2t0 3 $ 42,93! $ 31,30¢
Software 2 1,85( 1,782
Furniture 5 17C 7€
Office equipment 2t05 582 397
Leasehold improvements 5 years, or lease term, 4,341 1,29¢

shorter
Other 2 5¢ 5¢
Construction in progress 643 33¢
50,57¢ 35,25¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation (31,860 (24,035
$ 18,71¢ $ 11,22:

Property and equipment acquired under capital fease
December 31,
2014 2013

Computer equipment $ 34€ % 34¢€
Less: Accumulated depreciation (33€) (317)
$ 10 $ 29

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@034, 2013 and 2012 , was approximately $9,883923 , and $4,434 ,
respectively. This included depreciation expenseasets under capital leases of $19 , $48 andod4Be years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company capitalized software development aafs$g00 in the year ended December 31, 2011. Araditin of capitalized

software development costs was approximately $089$200 for the years ended December 31, 2013 @h?l 2respectively. Capitalized
software development costs were fully amortizedfddecember 31, 2014 and 2013 .
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Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 20d13s¢sted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
Accrued compensation $ 15,20¢ % 8,88¢
Customer deposits 1,48¢ 2,09¢
Accrued royalties 70€ 76€
Other 6,82¢ 7,51(

$ 2422( $ 19,26(

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The goodwill activity and balances are presentdovize

December 31,

2014 2013
Opening balance $ 63,76¢ $ 18,55’
Add: Goodwill from acquisitions 44,01t 45,20"
Less: Other adjustments to Goodwill (275) —
Closing balance $ 107,50¢ $ 63,76+

The goodwill balance as of December 31, 2014 wasdhult of the acquisitions of Fortiva, Inc., SecData in Motion, Inc.,
Everyone.net, Inc., Spam and Open Relay Blockirate3y from GFI Software Ltd., NextPage, Inc., Maigtidler, eDynamics, Abaca,
Armorize, Sendmail and the Acquisitions completadmyy the year ended December 31, 2014 (see Nd#ecguisitions").

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets excluding goodwill consistedhef following:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology $ 38,16¢ $ (21,539 $ 16,63( $ 29,46¢ % (17,389 $ 12,08t
Customer relationships 16,38: (7,899 8,48¢ 13,28: (3,726 9,55¢
Non-compete agreements 804 (462) 34z 804 (270 634
Trademark and patents 80¢€ (264) 542 80¢€ (10%) 701
Order backlog 20C a7 182 — — —
In-process research and
development 90C — 90C — — —
$ 57,26( $ (30,179 $ 27,08¢ $ 4436( $  (21,38) $  22,97¢

Amortization expense of intangibles totaled $8,798,044 and $3,276 during the years ended Dece&ih@014, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.

Future estimated amortization costs of intangilsteets as of December 31, 2014 are presented below:
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Year Ended December 31,

2015 $ 9,71
2016 7,42¢
2017 4,19t
2018 3,61¢
2019 1,252
Thereafter 882

$ 27,08¢

6. Fair Value Measurements and Investments

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would lmeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitglfi.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the umeasent date. A hierarchy for inputs used in maaguair value has been defined to
minimize the use of unobservable inputs by reqgitire use of observable market data when avail@iservable inputs are inputs that ma
participants would use in pricing the asset oriliigthbased on active market data. Unobservabletaare inputs that reflect the Company’s
assumptions about the assumptions market partisipesuld use in pricing the asset or liability bches the best information available in the
circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputsitiiree broad levels:
e Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markar identical assets or liabilitit
The Company’s Level 1 assets generally consistafey market funds.

* Level 2: Observable inputs other than quotedgsrincluded in Level 1, such as quoted pricesifailar assets or liabilities in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or massets or liabilities in markets that are rative; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observableahdata for substantially the full term of theetss liability.

The Company’s Level 2 assets and liabilities gdhyecansist of corporate debt securities, comméuégoers, certificates of
deposit and convertible senior notes.

» Level 3: Unobservable inputs to the valuation mddiogy that are supported by little or no markeivity and that are significar
to the measurement of the fair value of the aswdiabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities inde those whose fair value
measurements are determined using pricing modsisguhted cash flow methodologies or similar vabratechniques, as well
significant management judgment or estimation.

In connection with the acquisition of eDynamic013, a liability was recognized on the eDynamicsgjuéisition Date for the
estimate of the fair value of the Company's comimigearn-out payments related to eDynamics. Thepaosndetermined the fair
value of the Acquisition-related contingent earn@ability based on the probability-based attaiminef product development
milestones. The fair value measurements were bass@ynificant inputs not observable in the made thus represent Level 3
measurements, which reflected the Company's owmgssons concerning achievement of the product ldgweent milestones
eDynamics, in measuring the fair value of the auggnt earn-out liability related to the acquisitafreDynamics. This contingent
earn-out liability was extinguished during the yeaded December 31, 2014.

The following tables summarize, for each categdrgssets or liabilities carried at fair value, teepective fair value as of December
31, 2014 and 2013 and the classification by let@ut within the fair value hierarchy:
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Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Balance as of Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 139,64« 139,64« — —
Shortterm investments:
Corporate debt securities 31,65 — 31,65 —
Commercial papers 2,99¢ — 2,99¢ —
Total financial assets $ 174,29: 139,64« 34,64¢ —
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Balance as of Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 215,09: 215,09: — —
Shortterm investments:
Corporate debt securities 6,01t — 6,01t —
Certificates of deposit 2,00( — 2,00¢ —
Total financial assets $ 223,10¢ 215,09: 8,01¢ —
Liabilities
Acquisition-related contingent earn-out
liability $ 49t — — 49E

Based on quoted market prices as of December 34, 2be fair value of the Senior Convertible Nafeste 8) was approximately
$277,725 , determined using Level 2 inputs as #greynot actively traded in markets.

The following table represents a reconciliationtaf Acquisition-related contingent earn-out lighilneasured at fair value on a
recurring basis, using significant unobservableitagLevel 3) for the year ended December 31, 2014

Balance at December 31, 2013
Payments during the period

Fair Value

Measurements Using

Significant

Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

Adjustments to fair value during the period recarde
General and Administrative expenses

Balance at December 31, 2014
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The carrying amounts of the Company's cash equit@laccounts receivable, accounts payable andedtdiabilities approximate
their fair values due to their short maturitiess&a on borrowing rates that are available to the@my for loans with similar terms and
consideration of the Company's credit risk, theyiag value of the notes payable approximates flagivalues using Level 2 inputs.

Investments

The cost and fair value of the Company’s cash amdable-for-sale investments as of December 3142dhd 2013 were as follows:

December 31, 2014

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash $ 40,69: % — % — % 40,69
Money market funds 139,64« — — 139,64-
Total $ 180,337 $ —  $ — 3 180,33
Shortterm investments:

Corporate debt securities $ 31,67¢ $ — 3 27 $ 31,65:
Commercial paper 2,99¢ — — 2,99¢
Total $ 34,67¢ $ — $ 27 $ 34,64¢

December 31, 2013

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash $ 28,69: $ — 3 28,69:
Money market funds 215,09 — 215,09:
Total $ 243,78t $ — 3 243,78t
Shortterm investments:
Corporate debt securities $ 6,01¢ $ — % 6,01¢
Certificate of deposit 2,00¢ — 2,00(
Total $ 8,01t $ — 3 8,01¢

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, all investmeraire in less than one year . Estimated fair walaemarketable securities are
based on quoted market prices for the same oraifnitruments.

The Company reviews its investments on a quartea$ys to identify and evaluate investments thaelaavindication of possible
impairment and has determined that no other-thanpéeary impairments associated with credit losseiewequired to be recognized during
the year ended December 31, 2014.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain of its facilities undercancellable operating leases with various etipiralates through February 2020.
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Premises rent expense was $3,283 , $1,774 and®hbthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 @h?l 2respectively.
Capital Leases

In July 2012, the Company entered into two leaseaagents to lease certain office equipment wittiraiipn dates in July and
October 2015. The leases bear an annual intetestrd.50% and are secured by fixed assets usie i@ompany's office locations.

At December 31, 2014 , future annual minimum lgzsgments under noncancellable operating and cdp#sés were as follows:

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
2015 $ 11 % 7,961
2016 — 6,94¢
2017 — 3,76%
2018 — 3,62¢
2019 — 3,61¢
Thereafter — 12t
Total minimum lease payments 11 % 25,94(
Less: Amount representing interest —
Present value of capital lease obligations 11
Less: Current portion (12)

Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ —

Contingencies

Under the indemnification provisions of the Compargustomer agreements, the Company agrees to mifyeemd defend and hold
harmless its customers against, among other thinigsigement of any patent, trademark or copyrightier any country's laws or the
misappropriation of any trade secret arising frbmd¢ustomers' legal use of the Company's solutiims exposure to the Company under thes
indemnification provisions is generally limitedttee total amount paid by the customers under tpécgble customer agreement. However,
certain indemnification provisions potentially esgahe Company to losses in excess of the aggragatant paid to the Company by the
customer under the applicable customer agreemerdate, there have been no claims against the Qogodts customers pursuant to these
indemnification provisions.

Legal Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involveceigall proceedings and subject to claims in the argtinourse of business. On
December 16, 2013, Finjan, Inc. sued the Compadyitanwholly-owned subsidiary, Armorize Technolagiénc., in the United States District
Court, Northern District of California for alleggétent infringement of a variety of its patentandeding preliminary and permanent injunc
relief, and unspecified damages. The Company antbéire filed an answer to the complaint on Februdary2014. On April 15, 2014,

Finjan’s initial disclosures in the lawsuit allegagproximately $13,500 in damages, but provideasis or facts in support of this sum. On
June 12, 2014, at the mandatory case managemefet@ace, the court ordered that the claims constnutiearing be held in May 2015 and
trial be set for January 2016, subject to lateustdpent or delay. On November 14, 2014 by courgotide court scheduled a summary
judgment hearing for December 2015 and moved thkdate to March 2016. Based on the early stagbeo€laims and evaluation of the fa
available at this time, the amount or range of@nable possible losses to which the Company or Aimads exposed cannot be estimated and
the ultimate resolution of this matter and the aigded financial impact, if any, remains uncertatithis time. The Company and Armorize
intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit. Intelledtproperty litigation is subject to inherent urteetties, and there can be no assurance that t
expenses associated with defending any litigatiah@ resolution of this dispute would not haveatemal adverse impact on the Company's
results of operations or cash flows. Regardlesh@butcome, such proceedings and claims can haadwerse impact on the Company
because of
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defense and settlement costs, diversion of reseunee other factors, and there can be no assurdraidavorable outcomes will be obtained.
8. Convertible Senior Notes

On December 11, 2013 , the Company issued $17p0Cpal amount of 1.25% Convertible Senior Ndtée "Notes") due 2018 in
a private offering to qualified institutional bugef'Holders") pursuant to Rule 144A under the SisiesrAct of 1944 (the "Exchange Act”), as
amended. The initial Holders of the Notes also dradption to purchase an additional $26,250 inggal amount which was exercised in full.
The net proceeds after discount and issuance eb$&803 from the Notes offering were approximat195,446 . The Company uses the net
proceeds for working capital and general corpopatposes, which may include funding the Comparyé&ations, capital expenditures,
potential acquisitions of businesses, productgdrologies believed to be of strategic importabe. Notes bear interest at 1.25% per year,
payable semi-annually in arrears every June 13@mugmber 15, beginning on June 15, 2014.

The Notes are unsecured and rank senior in rightigfnent to any indebtedness expressly subordimatéght of payment to the
Notes. They rank equally with the Company's otlxéstimg and future unsecured indebtedness thaitisubordinated and are structure
subordinated to any current or future secured itedirtess to the extent of the value of the assetsiag the indebtedness and other liabilities
of the Company's subsidiaries.

The initial conversion rate is 25.6271 shares ef@ompany’s common stock per $1 principal amoumodés which equates to 5,158
shares of common stock, or a conversion price edgiv of $39.02 per share of common stock. Througti® term of the Notes, the
conversion rate may be adjusted upon the occurregincertain events. The Notes mature on Decembe2dBB , unless repurchased, redeeme
or converted in accordance with their terms prosdch date.

At the Company's option, on or after December 80,62 the Company will be able redeem all or a portibthe Notes at 100% of tl
principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid ésteunder certain conditions. The Company mayemdihe Notes in shares of the
Company’s common stock, cash, or some combinafi@ach.

Prior to June 15, 2018, the Notes will be conbéatat the option of the Holders only upon thesfatition of certain conditions and
during certain periods if any of the following et®occur:

e during the calendar quarter commencing afterdd&1, 2014, if the last reported sale price ofGoenpany's common stock is greater
than or equal to 130% of the applicable converpiice on each such trading day for at least 20rigadays (whether or not
consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutiaditrg days ending on the last trading day of teegding calendar quarter;

e during the 5 business day period after any Seoutive trading day period in which the tradiniggras defined, per $1 principal
amount of Notes for each trading day of such messent period was less than 98¥the product of the last reported sale pricehe!
Company's common stock and the applicable conwersi@ on each such trading day;

* upon a notice of redemption by the Compan

» upon the occurrence of specified corporate traiwe

Subsequent to June 15, 2018 , Holders may corhrtlotes at the applicable conversion rate attimng prior to the close of
business on the second scheduled trading day inateddpreceding the maturity date.

Holders of the Notes also have the right to reqtieeCompany to repurchase all or a portion ofNbees at 100% of the principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid special inteffestyi, upon the occurrence of certain fundamerttahges to the Company.

In accordance with the authoritative accountinglgace, the Company allocated the total amounteoNthtes into liability and equity
components. The carrying value of the liability gmment at issuance was calculated as the preskeiet efits cash flows using a discount rate
of 6.5% based on the a blended rate between thkrgite for a Moody's B1-rating and the average datie for comparable convertible
transactions from similar companies. The differelbesveen the Notes principal and the carrying valuée liability component, representing
the value of conversion premium assigned to théygqamponent, was recorded as an increase toiadditpaid in capital and as a debt
discount on the issuance date. The equity compasdming accreted using the effective interes na¢thod over the period from the issuance
date through December 15, 2018 as a non-cash ctaangerest expense. The amount recorded to additpaid in capital is not
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remeasured as long as it continues to meet thataomifor equity classification. Upon issuancetlog Notes, the Company recorded $156,672
as debt and $44,578 as additional paid in capithimvstockholders' equity.

Additionally, the Notes holders' discount and isgieacosts were bifurcated into debt issuance ¢agttibutable to the liability
component) and equity issuance costs (attributabtiee equity component) based on their relatiievidlues. The debt issuance costs were
capitalized and recorded as deferred offering dastsher noncurrent assets and are being amortizéderest expense using the effective
interest rate method from the issuance date thr@gglember 15, 2018 . The equity issuance costs weoeded as a decrease to additional
paid-in capital at the issuance date.

At December 31, 2014 , the net carrying amounhefliability component of the Notes consists of:

Liability component:

Principal $ 201,25(
Less: debt discount, net of amortization (39,620
Net carrying amount $ 161,63(
Equity component (1) $ 43,29:

(1) Recorded in the consolidated balance sheetdditional paid-in capital, net of the $1,285 ism&costs in equity

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 20&3Cdmpany incurred the interest expense relatdtktdlotes:

2014 2013
1.25% coupon $ 2,511 % 13¢
Amortization of debt discount 8,70z 48¢€
Amortization of debt issuance costs 51 3
Total $ 11,26« $ 627

9. Debt
Equipment Financing Loans

The Company entered into an equipment loan agretanignSilicon Valley Bank in April 2011 for an aggpate loan principal amot
of $6,000 . Interest on the advances is equalitogorate plus 0.50% . As of December 31, 2014 jrttezest on the outstanding advances was
4.50% . The Company had the ability to draw dowritag equipment line through April 19, 2012. Eachvdn amount is due 48 months after
funding. Borrowings outstanding under the equipnieah at December 31, 2014 were $684 payable ib.ZBquipment financed under this
loan arrangement is collateralized by the respe@ssets underlying the loan. The terms of the fesinict the Company’s ability to pay
dividends. The loan includes a covenant that regutine Company to maintain cash and cash equiggiud net accounts receivable of at leas
two times the amount of all outstanding indebtednescluding the impact from the Notes. As of DebenB1, 2014 the Company was in
compliance with the covenant.

Interest expense for equipment financing loansHeryears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 204 $6&a, $140 and $211 ,
respectively.

10. Common Stock

Initial Public Offering

In April 2012, the Company completed its initialgtie offering of its common stock to the publicRP®D”) whereby 5,859 shares of
common stock sold by the Company (inclusive of g@8res of common stock from the partial exercighef
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overallotment option granted to the underwriters) 4,370 shares of common stock sold by the sedlirageholders (inclusive of 171 shares of
common stock from the partial exercise of the ol@raent option granted to the underwriters). Thielir offering price of the shares sold in
the offering was $13.00 per share. The Companydideceive any proceeds from the sales of sharésebselling stockholders. The total
gross proceeds from the offering to the Companyew&6,200 . After deducting underwriters’ discowarisl commissions and offering
expenses, the aggregate net proceeds receivee othpany totaled approximately $68,300 . Immeljigieor to the closing of the IPO, all
shares of the Company’s outstanding redeemablecctible preferred stock automatically converted ih®,567 shares of common stock. As a
result, following the IPO, the Company has two séssof authorized stock: common stock and prefesteck.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company is authoriaessue two classes of stock totaling 205,000eshaf which 5,000 are
designated as preferred stock and 200,000 arerddsijcommon stock, each with a par value of $A.Q&0 share.

On March 30, 2012, the Company's Board of Direcamsroved a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of the Canys common stock. The
reverse stock split became effective on April 21204l of the share numbers, share prices, andcesesprices have been retrospectively

adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Number of shares of common stock reserved for fuigsuance was as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013

Shares available for future grant under the stdakh 4,33( 4,58¢
Options outstanding under stock plans 5,28¢ 7,22:
Shares available for future issuance under ESPP 92€ 75¢
Common stock issuable upon exercise of warransettttment of outstanding restricted stock

units 2,93¢ 1,21¢€
Common stock issuable upon conversion of the cdileisenior notes 5,15¢ 5,15¢
Total shares reserved 18,63¢ 18,94(

11. Stock Option Plans

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

On March 30, 2012, the Board of Directors and tben@any’s stockholders approved the 2012 Equityritice Plan (the "2012
Plan"), which became effective in April 2012. Then@pany has two equity incentive plans: the Compmma@902 stock option plan (the “2002
Plan”) and the 2012 Plan. Upon the IPO, all shdraswere reserved under the 2002 Plan but noédssand shares issued but subsequently
returned to the plan through forfeitures, cancieliest and repurchases became part of the 2012 Rthnafurther shares will be granted
pursuant to the 2002 Plan. All outstanding stockrale under the 2002 and 2012 Plans will continusetgoverned by their existing terms.
Under the 2012 Plan, the Company has the abilitgysioe incentive stock options (“ISOs”), nonstatytstock options (“NSOs”), restricted
stock awards, stock bonus awards, stock appreciggats ("SARSs"), restricted stock units, and perfance shares. The 2012 Plan also allow
direct issuance of common stock to employees, deidirectors and consultants at prices equal téeihenarket value at the date of grant of
options or issuance of common stock. Additionalhg 2012 Plan provides for the grant of performarash awards to employees, directors
consultants. The Company has the right to repuechag unvested shares (at the option exercise)iacmmmon stock issued directly or
under option exercises. The right of repurchasegdly expires over the vesting period.

Stock bonus awards are accounted for as liabilagsified awards, because the obligations are basetbminantly on fixed monetary
amounts that are generally known at the inceptfdhe@obligation, to be settled with a variable tnemof shares of the Company's common
stock.
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Under the 2002 and 2012 Plans, the term of anmjgtiant shall not exceed ten years from the daits giant and options generally
vest over a three to four -year period, with vestim a monthly or annual interval. Under the 206hP20,316 shares of common stock are
reserved for issuance to eligible participantsoABecember 31, 2014 , 4,330 shares were avaifabfeture grant. Restricted stock awards
generally vest over a four -year period. The nunadbeshares available for grant and issuance umde2®12 Plan will be increased
automatically on each January 1 of 2013 througt62)lan amount equal to 5% of the Company's sharssanding on the immediately
preceding December 31, but not to exceed 3,724shanless the Board of Directors, in its discretatetermines to make a smaller increase.

Stock Options

The fair value of options granted is estimatedtangrant date using the Black-Scholes option valnahodel. This valuation model
for stock-based compensation expense requiresdahgmeény to make assumptions and judgments abowatiebles used in the calculation,
including the expected term (weighted-average pesfdime that the options granted are expectdzkbtoutstanding), the volatility of the
common stock price and the assumed risk-free istteate. The Company recognizes stock-based corapem&xpense for only those shares
expected to vest over the requisite service pasfdtle award. The Company determines its estimiaéeiture rate based on an analysis of its
actual forfeitures and will continue to evaluate #ppropriateness of the forfeiture rate baseaoent forfeiture activity and expected future
employee turnover, if any. Changes in the estimftgditure rate can have a significant effect eparted stock-based compensation expense
as the cumulative effect of adjusting the ratealbexpense is recognized in the period the farfeiestimate is changed. No compensation co:
is recorded for options that do not vest and thregmnsation cost from vested options, whether fiadfiedr not, is not reversed.

Prior to the Company's IPO, the Board of Directorgood faith, determined the fair market valuethe Company's common stock,
based on the best information available to the 8aad the Company's management at the time of.grhetCompany performed its analysis
in accordance with applicable elements of the practid issued by the American Institute of CeztifiPublic Accountants entitldtaluation of
Privately Held Company Equity Securities IssueCampensatiol. The procedures performed to determine the fairevaf the Company's
common stock were based on a probabilitgighted expected return method to estimate theeggte equity value of the Company.

The weighted average fair value of stock optiomntgd to employees during the years ended Dece®ib@014, 2013 and 201 2vas

$20.25, $9.50 and $5.65 , respectively. The failues were estimated on the grant dates usinglgek{Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected life (in years) 5.31-6.08 5.31-6.08 5.50 - 6.08
Volatility 54% - 58% 57% - 61% 59% - 60%
Risk-free interest rate 1.79% - 1.93% 0.9% - 1.8% 0.9% - 1.2%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

The estimate for expected life of options grantftects the midpoint of the vesting term and thetactual life computed utilizing tt
simplified method as allowed by the SEC staff. Qwmpany does not have significant historical sloatéon exercise experience and hence
considers the expected term assumption calculaied the simplified method to be reasonable. SiheeCompany's stock has been publicly
traded for a limited time, the stock volatility aggptions represent an estimate of the historicktiities of the common stock of a group of
publicly-traded peer companies that operate imélai industry. The estimate was determined basetthe average historical volatilities of
these peer companies. The risk-free interest sdd was the Federal Reserve Bank's constant niegunterest rate commensurate with the
expected life of the options in effect at the tiafi¢he grant. The expected dividend yield was zasahe Company does not anticipate paying
dividend within the relevant time frame.

The Company realized no income tax benefit fronalstaption exercises in each of the periods presehte to recurring losses and
valuation allowances.

Stock option activity under the Plan is as follows:
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Shares subject to
Options Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (in years) Value
Balance at December 31, 2011 10,70 $ 3.8¢ 6.77 $ 44,46¢
Options granted 2,24: 10.2¢
Options exercised (2,547%) 1.9t
Options forfeited and canceled (769 6.2¢
Balance at December 31, 2012 9,63¢ 5.62 7.33 64,71¢
Options granted 1,61¢ 17.4¢
Options exercised (2,879 4.6¢
Options forfeited and canceled (1,152 8.6t
Balance at December 31, 2013 7,22: 8.17 6.82 180,54«
Options granted 563 36.91
Options exercised (1,989 6.5€
Options forfeited and canceled (519 16.2¢
Balance at December 31, 2014 528t $ 11.0¢ 6.31 $§ 196,60t
Exercisable, December 31, 2014 3,59¢ $ 6.52 543 $ 150,01
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2014 509t $ 10.5¢ 6.23 $ 191,88:

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 884,455 , $45,454 and $18,950 , for the years eBdegmber 31, 2014, 2013 and

2012 , respectively. Total cash proceeds from siption exercises were $13,007 , $13,509 and $4@66e years ended December 31, 2014

2013 and 2012, respectively.

The grant date fair value of options that vested $#0,755 , $8,206 and $5,736 during the yearsceDdeember 31, 2014, 2013 and

2012 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had unrecedritock-based compensation expense of $14,7 tédatastock options that

will be recognized net of forfeitures over the age remaining vesting term of the options of 2y@ars.

Restricted Stock Units

A following table summarized the activity of RSUWSUs and stock-bonus awards:
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RSUs and PSUs
Outstanding

Granted
Fair
Value
Number of Per
Shares Unit
Awarded and unvested at December 31, 2011 8 % 7.9¢
Awards granted — —
Awards vested (6) 7.9¢
Awards forfeited (@D} 7.9¢
Awarded and unvested at December 31, 2012 1 7.9¢
Awards granted 1,23¢ 28.9¢
Awards vested (D) 24.1¢
Awards forfeited (22 24.61
Awarded and unvested at December 31, 2013 1,21¢ 29.57
Awards granted 2,36z 39.7i
Awards vested (39€) 30.7¢
Awards forfeited (24¢) 31.5¢
Awarded and unvested at December 31, 2014 293¢ g 37.4¢

As of December 31, 2014 , there was $77,695 of wnéred stock-based compensation expense relataaviested RSUs and PSUSs,
which are expected to be recognized over a weiginedage period of 3.22 years.

Performance Stock Units

During 2014, the Compensation Committee approvedjtant of 121 PSUs to certain key employees. Big ¥#esting conditions
were based on individual performance targets. Térag2any recognized $267 of share-based compensatmamse, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to PSUs during 2014. Unamediexpense was $852 as of December 31, 2014, pstiofated forfeitures.

Stock Bonus Awards

The total accrued liability for the stock bonus adeawas $1,771 and $852 as of December 31, 2012@R] respectively. 22 shares
of common stock earned under the stock bonus pmogrere issued during the year ended December 34, Zpproximately 37 shares are
expected to be issued during the first three moottise year ending December 31, 2015. Stock basagensation expense related to stock
bonus program were $1,771 and $852 for the yeatsdDecember 31, 2014 and 2013.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 30, 2012, the Board of Directors and tben@any’s stockholders approved the 2012 EmployeekRurchase Plan (the
"ESPP"), which became effective in April 2012. Aaloof 745 shares of the Company's common stockinviéally reserved for future issuance
under the ESPP. The number of shares reservesisizaiice under the ESPP will increase automaticallanuary 1 of each of the first eight
years commencing with 2013 by the number of shegesl to 1% of the Company's shares outstandirtp@mmediately preceding Decem
31, but not to exceed 1,490 shares, unless thedBddirectors, in its discretion, determines tokea smaller increase. As of December 31,
2014 , there were 926 shares of the Company's constack available for future issuance under theREESP

The fair value of the option component of the ESR&es was estimated at the grant date using #uk{8choles option pricing
model with the following weighted average assumpio
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 2012*
Expected life (in years) 0.5 0.50 - 0.54 0.50 - 0.53
Volatility 45% - 52% 38% - 40% 46% - 51%
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% - 0.07% 0.08% 0.13% - 0.15%
Dividend yield —% —% —%

* Employee participation in the ESPP did not bagitil the second quarter of 2012.

The Company issued 194 shares and 217 sharesthedeSPP in 2014 and 2013, respectively, at a walighiverage exercise price
per share of $23.94 and $13.07 , respectively.fA3eaember 31, 2014 , the Company expects to reze@803 of the total unamortized
compensation cost related to employee purchases timel ESPP over a weighted average period ofy@a&.

Restricted Stock

The Company granted 54 shares of restricted stottkei fourth quarter of 2014 to certain key empésywith the total fair value of
$2,357 and two -year cliff vesting in 2016. As cdd@mber 31, 2014, there was $2,161 of unamortizett-based compensation expense
related to the unvested shares of restricted siduk.shares of restricted stock are subject te@iforie if employment terminates prior to the
lapse of the restrictions, and are expensed oeevehting period. They are considered issued atslamding shares of the Company at the
grant date and have the same rights as other stfatesnmon stock.

12. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share of common stock is cakedlby dividing the net loss by the weightasterage number of shares of common
stock outstanding for the period. The weightederage number of shares of common stock useddolag our basic net loss per share of
common stock excludes those shares subject toaleqsr related to stock options that were exergised to vesting and restricted shares
issued to certain employees as these shares ade@mied to be issued for accounting purposesthetilvest. Diluted net loss per share of
common stock is computed by dividing the net lcsisgithe weighteeaverage number of shares of common stock, exclugingmon stock
subject to repurchase, and, if dilutive, potergtedres of common stock outstanding during the geBasic and diluted net loss per common
share was the same for all periods presented asigaet of all potentially dilutive securities otéading was anti-dilutive.

The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted net loss per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss $ (64,239 $ (27,53) $ (20,36()
Denominator:
Weighted average number of common shares usedriputing basic and diluted net
loss per share 37,38: 34,87« 24,05¢
Net loss per common share
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (179 $ 0.79 $ (0.85)

The following table presents the potentially dileticommon shares outstanding that were excluded the computation of diluted r
loss per share of common stock for the periodseprtesl because including them would have been dative:

96




Table of Contents

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock options to purchase common stock 5,28¢ 7,22: 9,63¢
Restricted stock units 2,93¢ 1,214 1
Employee stock purchase plan 9C 89 13¢
Common stock subject to repurchase 54 1 4
Bonus shares 37 22 —
Common stock warrants — 2 2
Convertible senior notes 5,15¢ 5,15¢ —
Total 13,56: 13,70¢ 9,77¢

13. Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner censistth the internal reporting supported and dediby the components of an
enterprise about which separate financial infororais available, provided and is evaluated regylaylthe chief operating decision maker, or
decision making group, in deciding how to alloa@sources and in assessing performance. The Corspsnigf operating decision maker is
Chief Executive Officer. The Company's Chief ExémOfficer reviews financial information presentad a consolidated basis and as a re
the Company concluded that it has only one opegatind reportable segment.

The following set forth total revenue by solutiafered by the Company and geographic area. Revieypgeographic area is based
upon the billing address of the customer:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Total revenue by solution:
Privacy, Protection and Security $ 151,29: $ 101,08: $ 78,97¢
Archiving and Governance 44,31¢ 36,84¢ 27,31¢
Total revenue $ 195,600 $ 137,93. $ 106,29!

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Total revenue by geographic area:

United States $ 157,59 $ 113,81¢ $ 86,66
Rest of world 38,01« 24,11: 19,63«
Total revenue $ 195,60° $ 137,93. $ 106,29!

The following sets forth long-lived tangible asseysgeographic area:

December 31,

2014 2013
Long-lived assets:
United States $ 15,97 $ 9,42¢
Rest of world 2,744 1,79¢
Total long-lived assets $ 1871t § 1122

14. Income Taxes
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The domestic and foreign components of loss bdferefit from (provision for) income taxes were alfofvs for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 :

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ (69,55 $ (34,289 $ (23,50¢)
Foreign 5,00: 3,94¢ 3,667
Loss before benefit from (provision for) incomedax $ (64,55) $ (30,339 $ (19,839
The benefit from (provision for) income taxes isrqwised of:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Current tax expense:
Federal $ — % — ¢ —
State 121 70 30
Foreign 53C 641 491
Total current 651 711 521
Deferred tax expense:
Federal (792) — —
State — — —
Foreign (172) (3,519 —
Total deferred (964) (3,519 —
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (819 $ (2,80 $ 521

The reconciliation of income tax expense at theustay federal income tax rate of 34% to the incdmeprovision included in the
consolidated statements of operations for the yeadsed December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is asv&llo

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tax at federal statutory rate $ (21,949 $ (10,319 $ (6,745
Foreign income tax rate differential (600) (232 (262)
State, net of federal benefit (1,692 (1,130 (822)
Stock compensation charges 1,30¢ 63€ 1,25¢
SubPart F and other permanent items 2,57¢ 1,58: 1,204
Provision to return and other 3,621 937 1,074
Research and development credits (2,057 (2,117) (1,067)
Uncertain tax positions 391 617 301
Valuation allowance 18,08¢ 7,20¢ 5,57¢
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (19 $ (2,809 $ 521

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect thetarteffects of net operating loss and tax crealityovers and the temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liaslitor financial reporting and the amounts usednfoome tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company's deferred tax assetsasefollows for the years ended December 31, 20842013 :
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Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 75,37¢  $ 60,28(
Tax credit carryforwards 9,56¢ 8,22¢
Research expenditures 2,49¢ 3,314
Deferred revenue 11,07¢ 13,29:
Stock compensation 7,22¢ 3,69¢
Fixed assets 1,51¢ 1,262
Accruals and other 8,50¢ 7,25(
Gross deferred tax assets 115,76: 97,32:
Valuation allowance (90,929 (71,057
Total deferred tax assets 24,83¢ 26,27(
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets and other (9,617) (7,769
Interest expense on the Notes (12,91)) (16,090
Total deferred tax liabilities (22,52 (23,859
Total net deferred tax assets $ 2,31C $ 2,411
Current deferred income tax assets (included ierathrrent assets) $ 3,90 $ 4,16¢
Non-current deferred income tax liabilities (inobabin long-term liabilities) $ 159 $ 1,75¢

The Company records net deferred tax assets texteat that Company believes these assets will filaky than not be realized. In
making such determination, the Company considéssailable positive and negative evidence, inalgduture reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences, projected future taxabl®ine, tax planning strategies and recent finangiaetations.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent fygare earnings, if any, the timing and amounivbfch are uncertain. The
valuation allowance increased by approximately 18,  $2,400 and $3,700 during the years endedrbeee31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. The total valuation allowance inceeat$19,877 for the year ended December 31, 2@dldded a reduction of $792 resulting
from the acquisition of Nexgate, and an increast20d23 related to the Company's acquisition oxatlel.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Companynkadperating loss carry-forwards for federal inedax purposes of $284,974
and $187,700 , respectively. The amount of fedeztloperating loss carry-forwards at December 8142and 2013 for which a benefit will be
recorded in APIC when realized is approximately,$28 and $34,500 , respectively. The federal netatng losses will begin to expire in
2018. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Coynpad federal research credit carry-forwards 00%5,and $4,200 respectively. The
federal research and development credits will begiexpire in 2022.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Companybadperating loss carry-forwards for state incéaxepurposes of
approximately $183,913 and $146,400 , respectividlg. amount of state net-operating loss carry-fodewat December 31, 2014 and 2013 for
which a benefit will be recorded in APIC when reall is approximately $44,407 and $11,700 , respelgtiThe state net operating losses will
expire between 2015 and 2034. As of December 314 20d 2013 , the Company had research and devefdpredit carry-forwards for state
income tax purpose of $7,080 and $5,900 , respaygtiThe state research and development credis haexpiration period.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had net tipgriosses carry-forwards in its non-U.S. locasiafi approximately $3,900 ,
there were no operating losses carry-forwards &@ecember 31, 2014. In addition, as of December 31,
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2014 and 2013, the Company had research and geweid credit carry-forwards in its non-U.S. locati®f approximately $2,878 and
$2,700 , respectively. The non-U.S. research amdldpment credits will begin to expire in 2028.

Utilization of the federal and state net operatogses may be subject to substantial annual limitatue to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Codd similar state provisions. Analyses have beenlgoied to determine whether an
ownership change had occurred since inception.ahiaégyses have indicated that although an ownerdtapge occurred in a prior year, the net
operating losses and research and developmentsrealild not expire before utilization as a resdithe ownership change. In the event the
Company has subsequent changes in ownership, egitop losses and research and development cardjtovers could be limited and may
expire unutilized as a result of the subsequenteosinp change.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiesrbtatuncertain tax positions within the incomedagense line in the consolidated
statements of operations. Accrued interest andlfiemare included within the related tax liabillige in the consolidated balance sheets.
During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Coynpecrued interest and penalties of $9 as a coemaf income tax expense related to
tax contingencies and has $242 of interest andljiemeecorded as a long-term income tax liabgisyof December 31, 2014 . During the year
ended year ended December 31, 2013 , the Companyeakcinterest and penalties of $8 as a comporiént@me tax expense related to tax
contingencies and had $233 of interest and penakieorded as a long-term income tax liability.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had recandegtognized tax benefits of $1,432 that if recegdj would benefit the
Company's effective tax rate. As of December 31320he Company had recorded unrecognized taxXiteoé$1,541 that if recognized,
would benefit the Company's effective tax rate.

The Company does not anticipate that the amounhdcognized tax benefits relating to tax positieristing at December 31, 2014
will significantly increase or decrease within tiext twelve months.

Because of net operating loss and credit carry-doda, all of the Company's tax years dating toptioa in 2002 remain open to tax
examination in all major tax jurisdictions. The Qumany is not currently under audit in any matetigigdictions.

The aggregate changes in the balance of grossagmized tax benefits were as follows:

Ending balance as of December 31, 2011 $ 2,52¢
Increase in balances related to tax positions tdkeimg the current period 357
Decrease in balances related to tax positions tdkeng the prior period (13%)
Decrease in balances related to statute expiratiorisg the current period (8)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2012 2,74C
Increase in balances related to tax positions tdkeimg the current period 61€
Increase in balances related to tax positions tdkeimg the prior period 517
Decrease in balances related to tax positions tdkeng the prior period (40)
Decrease in balances related to statute expiratiorisg the current period (22
Ending balance as of December 31, 2013 3,828
Increase in balances related to tax positions tadkeimg the current period 524
Increase in balances related to tax positions tdkeimg the prior period —
Decrease in balances related to tax positions telieng the prior period (87)
Decrease in balances related to statute expiratiorisg the current period (31)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 4,22¢

As of December 31, 2014 , $200 of foreign withhotptaxes associated with the repatriation of egrofrforeign subsidiaries had
been provided on $4,000 of undistributed earniogértain foreign subsidiaries. The Company insetodreinvest the remainder of its
undistributed earnings indefinitely outside the tddiStates. As of December 31, 2014 , the Compstitp&ted that no material additional U.S.
income taxes would have to be provided if all & tmdistributed earnings of the foreign subsid&awere repatriated back to the United State:
as substantially all earnings from its foreign sdiasies
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are previously taxed income. As of December 31420he Company estimated that approximately $3%@iditional foreign withholding tax
would have to be provided if all of the undistriedtearnings of the Company's foreign subsidiarieewepatriated back to the United States.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1éf(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Corggaas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoedmly authorized, on February 26, 2015 .

PROOFPOINT INC.
By: /sl GARY STEELE

Gary Steele
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose sighature appears below constitutes anargppGary Steele and
Paul Auvil, and each of them, as his or her truelawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with fullger of substitution and resubstitution, for
him or her and in his or her name, place and siaahy and all capacities, to sign any and all mangents to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, and to file the same, with all exhibits theredad other documents in connection therewith, withSecurities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agentd,eath of them, full power and authority to do padorm each and every act and thing
requisite and necessary to be done in connecterewith, as fully to all intents and purposes asihghe might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming that all said attorneysfact and agents, or any of them or their or hikarsubstitute or substitutes, may lawfully do
or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons in the
capacities and on the date indicated:

Name Title Date
/sl GARY STEELE Chief Executive Officer February 26, 2015
Gary Steele (principal executive officer)
/s/ PAUL AUVIL Chief Financial Officer February 26, 2015
Paul Auvil (principal financial and accounting officer)
/sI ANTHONY BETTENCOURT February 26, 2015
Anthony Bettencourt Director
/sl SYDNEY CAREY February 26, 2015
Sydney Carey Director
/sl DANA EVAN February 26, 2015
Dana Evan Director
/sl JONATHAN FEIBER February 26, 2015
Jonathan Feiber Director
/sl DOUGLAS GARN February 26, 2015
Douglas Garn Director
/sl ERIC HAHN February 26, 2015
Eric Hahn Director
I/s/ KEVIN HARVEY February 26, 2015
Kevin Harvey Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference Filed
Exhibit Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title Form File No. Filing Date No. Herewith
2.01 Agreement and Plan of Merger for Armorize Technieginc. 10-Q 001-35506  November 12, 2013 2.1
2.0z Agreement and Plan of Merger for Sendmail, Inc. 10-K 001-35506  March 14, 2014 2.02
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 3.02
3.02  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 3.04
4.01 Form of Registrant's common stock certificate. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 4.01
4.0z Fourth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agee¢ by and among the S-1 333-178479 December 14, 2011 4.02
Registrant and the investors named therein of ggidtant dated February 19,
2008.
4.02  Indenture between Proofpoint, Inc. and Wells Fagok, National Association, 8-K 131-271285 December 11, 2013 4.03
dated as of December 11, 2013 including the formh.25% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2018 therein.
10.01  Form of Indemnity Agreement. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 10.01
10.0Z2 T 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and foroptibn grant. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 10.02
10.0% T 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and form of grant agnents. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 10.03
10.0¢ T 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1A 333-178479 April 9, 2012 10.04
10.0¢ T Corporate Bonus Program. X

10.0¢ Lease Agreement between Registrant and Hines VAE&Idroperties, L.P., dated  S-1 333-178479 December 14, 2011 10.05
as of March 28, 2011, as amended July 28, 2011.

10.07 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April2(8,1, as amended May 19, S-1 333-178479 December 14, 2011 10.06
2011, between the Registrant and Silicon ValleylBan

10.0¢  Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementeddtebruary 27, 2014, 10-K 001-35506  March 14, 2014 10.07
between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank

10.0¢ T Offer Letter to Gary Steele from the Registraated November 17, 2002. S-1 333-178479 December 14,2011 10.07

10.1C 1 Offer letter to Paul Auvil from the Registrangted March 9, 2007. S-1A 333-178479 January 25, 2012 10.08

10.11 T Offer Letter to David Knight from the Registradgted March 14, 2011. S-1A 333-178479 January 25, 2012 10.11

10.1Z 1 Offer Letter to Tracey Newell from the Registratated August 16, 2013. 10-K 001-35506  March 14, 2014 10.11

10.1: T Offer Letter to Darren Lee from the Registrarttedl December 19, 2011.

21.01 Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.01 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, indepenégistered public accounting
firm.

31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 13-a-14 of the Securities X
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Se@@2 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

31.0. Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRule 13-a-14 of the Securities X
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Se@@2 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.01 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuatot18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as X
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxtt of 2002.

32.0Z * Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuatat 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxtt of 2002.

101.INS * XBRL Instance Document

x

101.SCt * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Dovent
101.DEF * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docent
101.LAB * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

X X X X X X

101.PRE * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Droent

T Indicates a management contract or compensalamy p

*These exhibits are furnished with this Annual Repm Form 10-K and are not deemed filed with teewities and Exchange Commission and are notpocated by reference
in any filing of Proofpoint, Inc. under the Secia#t Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act of 1934, whethade before or after the date hereof and irreés@eaf any general
incorporation language in such filings.



Proofpoint, Inc. Corporate Bonus Progra

Proofpoint, Inc.

Corporate Bonus Program

Program Objective

« Align leadership and executives to key metricsidguhe growth and success of the busit

Program Administration

«  The Compensation Committee of the Board is chaitesth oversight for the bonus plan and the prognaetrics

e The program structure and payout for each programnog will be approved by the Compensation Commitiased upon the recommendations of the
Executive Officer (“CEQ”").

e This bonus program does not represent a contractiggit to receive awards from the Compensation Citas) the Compensation Committee |
structure and grant awards entirely within its distton. This program and all awards will be integted by the Compensation Committee, w
judgments and interpretations are final and conisles

Bonus Design Philosophy

«  The Compensation Committee shall determine thetidaraf each program peric

« Bonus percentage targets will be reviewed by the@msation Committee annua
Bonus opportunity and bonus rates (targets) wilieermined by the Compensation Committee, based tife recommendations of the CEO, and m:
prorated for changes during the program year.

« Incentive program design is intended to providetédal compensation consistent with the markettanget compensation philosophy when company
individual performance meets expectations.

« Design is intended to encourage teamwork and ¢umesional communication to accomplish go

« Program may be based and funded on achieving comnformance metrics, as well as individual gaatablished by the CEO and the Compens
Committee, except that the CEO may not establidivitiual goals for himself/ herself or have anyhauity over his or her own bonus. In additior
deemed advisable by the Compensation Committeedier @o satisfy Section 162(m) of the Internal Rewe Code of 1986 or other applicable law,
CEO may not establish performance or individualriogor have authority over the bonus of execubifficers.

«  Program will have a focus on satisfying financigbectations and internal business goals. The prognay not fund if goals are not achie\

Design Characteristics

¢ The Compensation Committee will establish, basednanagemers’recommendations, the design of the program fon @eogram period, including k
not limited to, company performance metrics, thegfrency and timing of funding the bonus pool, botangets, upside opportunities if target levels
exceeded, whether any bonuses will be paid in¥eateof company underperformance, individual pen@nce metrics, the weighting of goals and tir
of bonus payments.

¢ The Compensation Committee may delegate to the BEQ@ight to review and approve recommendationsf@anges to individual performance mel
for all employees other than himself/herself oruatjmanagemerst’ recommendations of attainment of individual penfance metrics other than
himself/herself; provided however, if deemed advisdy the Compensation Committee in order to fjaBection 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Coc
1986 or other applicable law, the CEO may not metk@nges to individual performance metrics or adjgsbmmendations of attainment of indivic
performance metrics or otherwise have authority tive bonus of executive officers

e The Compensation Committee may establish procdssesiministering the program, including but nanited to, the process by which employees
added to the program and the process of bonusarogttainment and payment

< The Compensation Committee reserves the righsatigcretion with or without notice (as requiret) review, change, amend or cancel the progra
any time; and may delegate to management such sghject to applicable law and the terms of then@ensation Committee charter and no officer
have any authority over his or her own bonus.



Employee Eligibility and Payment

¢« Must be an active regular employee through the afritie program period and a regular active emplatethe time of payout to earn and receive
bonus.

¢ The Compensation Committee may set additional kelityi requirements for each program period, inahgdthe length of time an employee mus
employed on a fultime and active basis, the level or positions oplayees eligible to participate, eligibility of eflogees on approved leaves of abse
pro-ration of new hires and/or employees newly ikelg for bonuses and eligibility of employees ofo®fpoint’s subsidiaries, including forei
subsidiaries.

« The Compensation Committee will determine the ferrwhich bonuses will be paid, whether by cashquity awards. The terms of equity awards wil
determined by the Compensation Committee and magdake pursuant to the company’s equity incentiaagl

Miscellaneous

Any liability of the company to pay a bonus sha#im only from the terms of this program and shallsbibject to the terms and conditions hereundey
interest of a participant of this program shaldpeunsecured claim against the general assets abthpany. Any right of participants to receivempayt unde
an award shall be no greater than the right ofiarsecured general creditor on claims of the comigaaysets. No participant will have any interestrig func
or in any specific asset of the company by reas@wards hereunder.

Nothing contained in the program and no action rigiersuant to the provisions of the program shaate or be construed to create a trust of any. ilo
property which may be acquired or invested by th@many in connection with the program shall be d=to be security for the obligations to particifs:
but shall be, and continue for all purposes toabgart of the general funds of the company.

The company intends that the program be unfundedafo purposes and for purposes of Title | of Engpl Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
amended, if applicable.

No member of the Board and no officer or employé¢he company shall be liable to any person for angon taken or omitted in connection with
administration of the program unless attributablsuch persos’own fraud or willful misconduct; nor shall thengpany be liable to any person for any ¢
action unless attributable to fraud or willful misaluct on the part of a director, officer or emgeyf the company.

The program shall not give any participant a righguarantee of continued employment with the cogpa affect the right of the company to termintte
employment of any participant at any time, withwathout cause, for any reason or no reason, exaepiay be restricted by law or contract.

Tax Conseguences

Payments under the program are subject to applidalleral and state withholding taxes, Social Sgcand similar taxes and the company may dedus
amount thereof from any payments required hereurRaticipants remain responsible for the paymérany and all taxes applicable to income receivk
deemed to have been received hereunder.

To the extent (a) any payments or benefits to whigtarticipant becomes entitled under this progmrmynder any agreement or plan referenced heire
connection with participard’ termination of employment with the company cduotgi deferred compensation subject to Section 46Bfhe Code and (
participant is deemed at the time of such termimatif employment to be a “specified employeater Section 409A of the Code, then such paynsatt no
be made or commence until the earliest of (i) tkgiration of the six (6)-month period measured frtma date of participant’'s “separation from serVigas
such term is at the time defined in Treasury Regna under Section 409A of the Code) from the canyp or (ii) the date of participastdeath followin
such separation from service; provided, howevest, sluch deferral shall only be effected to the mixtequired to avoid adverse tax treatment to @gent
including (without limitation) the additional twgnpercent (20%) tax for which participant would ertivise be liable under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of Gue
in the absence of such deferral. Upon the expimatfothe applicable deferral period, any paymertigciwwould have otherwise been made during thabd
(whether in a single sum or in installments) in #iesence of this paragraph shall be paid to ppatitior participans beneficiary in one lump sum (with
interest). Any termination of participant's emplognt is intended to constitute a “separation fromvise” as such term is defined in Treasury Regul
Section 1.409A-1. It is intended that each instafitnof the payments provided hereunder constiteparsite “paymentgor purposes of Treasury Regulal
Section 1.409A2(b)(2)(i). It is further intended that paymentgeéender satisfy, to the greatest extent possibkeexemption from the application of Ci
Section 409A (and any state law of similar effeot)vided under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409#(4) (as a “short-term deferral”The company ar
each participant will work together in good faithdonsider either (i) amendments to any awardijijreyvisions to any award with respect to the paptmo
any bonus amounts, which are necessary or apptefnaavoid imposition of any additional tax or @mee recognition prior to the actual payment tc
participant under Section 409A of the Code andEmasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Servi@agce thereunder.
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Exhibit 10.13

December 19, 2011

Darren Lee
688 East Canterbury Lane
Alpine, UT 84004

Dear Darren:

As you know, Proofpoint, Inc. ("Proofpoint" or tH€ompany") is in negotiations to acquire your catremployer, NextPac
Inc. ("NextPage"). Subject to and conditioned uploa closing of Proofpoint's acquisition of NextBa@he "Acquisition™)
Proofpoint would like to offer you employment witroofpoint on the following terms and conditionisT letter shall serve
confirm the terms of your employment with the Compa

1. Title & Employment Commencemeifvtour title will be Vice President of Governance ahathiving. Your employment wi
Proofpoint shall commence on the business day inatedd following the close of the Acquisition asfided in the writte
Acquisition agreement between Proofpoint and NeggPaubject to the terms and conditions hereidudiicg your successt
clearance of a background check discussed below.

2. Duties.You will report to me and | will assign and dirgatur job duties and responsibilities. You will wdifom our office:
located in Draper, Utah. Of course, the Company oienge your position, duties, and work locatianfrtime to time as
deems necessary.

3. Compensation.

a. _SalaryYou will be paid a monthly salary of $18,750.00slgmyroll deductions and all required withholdingsu will
be paid semi-monthly on the Company's regular pagates.

b. Management Bonu¥.ou will be eligible to receive a bonus targeted3@®o of your annual base salary with up
potential based upon individual and/or company @ezformance. The bonus will be subject to the teants condition
of the Proofpoint Bonus Plan Document. The Compasgrves the right to change, amend or cancepthigram at ar
time.

c. Stock Option PlartJpon the commencement of your employment and sutdgoard approval, the Company will gr
you an option to purchase 350,000 shares of thep@oys Common Stock (the "Option™) at an exercideepequal t
the fair market value on the date of grant. Thei@ddpshall be subject to the vesting restrictiond alh other terms of tt
Proofpoint's 2002 Stock Option Plan and your Stopkion Agreement.

d. Signing BonusThe Company agrees to pay to you a time upfront signing bonus in the amount of $50,000ess a
applicable taxes and withholdings within 30 daysyofir employment start date ("Signing Bonus"). e event yo
voluntarily terminate your employment within oneay®f your employment start date, you agree thatwil re-pay the
Signing Bonus back to the Company and you authdhize Company to deduct the Signing Bonus from adngl
paycheck, accrued vacation, or commissions owebeatime of separation, in accordance with applecddowv. Shoul
more of the Signing Bonus remain owing, you agreguich circumstance to pay the Company outrightivi80 days ¢
your last day of employmer

e. BenefitsYou will be eligible for the standard Company bétsdior an employee in your position health inseerdente
insurance, vacation, sick leave, holidays, 401k, iataccordance with the terms of the applicakledtfit plans.



3. Company PoliciesAs a Company employee, you will be expected to ealbgl Company rules and policies, and executt
abide by the Company's Proprietary Information bowéntions Agreement, a copy of which is attacheceto a€Exhibit A for
your execution.

4. Former Employerdn your work for the Company you will be expecteat to use or disclose any confidential informat
including trade secrets, of any former employeothier person to whom you have an obligation of iclemitiality. Rather, yc
will be expected to use only that information whishgenerally known and used by persons with tngirind experien:
comparable to your own, which is common knowledgehie industry or otherwise legally in the publienghin, or which i
otherwise provided or developed by the Companyifdguour discussions about your proposed job duyi@s,assured us that y
would be able to perform those duties within thadglines just described. You also agree that ydunei bring onto Compar
premises any confidential information or propergidmging to any former employer or other persorwttom you have ¢
obligation of confidentiality.

5. Exposure to Explicit Electronic Contefdecause of the type of business Proofpoint condulttsng the course of yc
employment and as a bona fide occupational qualiio of your employment you may be periodicallppesed to electron
content that displays sexually explicit literary tevéal and/or electronically conveyed images. Bgegting employment wi
Proofpoint it is with the full understanding thabw exposure to the content described above will interfere with th
performance of your job duties, will not cause youconsider the workplace intolerable or hostiled avill not cause you
believe that you are subject to sexual harassmehgiworkplace.

6. Alternative Dispute Resolutioifo ensure the rapid and economical resolution gfutes that may arise in connection
your employment with the Company you must agreesubmit such disputes to arbitration. Accordinglyease sign tt
Arbitration Agreement attached Bghibit B and return it to me.

7. Conflicts. As an exempt employee, you are expected to warkitimber of hours required to get the job doneveier, yol
are generally expected to be present during nobmsihess hours of the Company, which will be esthbt by the Compa
and may be changed as needed to meet the nedus lofiginess. You agree that during your employméht Proofpoint, yo
will not engage in any other employment, occupaticmmsulting or other business activity directated to the business
which Proofpoint is now involved or becomes invalvduring the term of your employment, nor will yengage in any oth
activities that conflict with your obligations tad®fpoint.

8. Employment Statud’lhe Company is an "atill" employer. This means that you may terminataryemployment with tt
Company at any time and for any reason whatsoewgalys by notifying Proofpoint. Likewise, the Compamay terminate yol
employment at any time, for any reason, with ohwaitt cause or advance notice.

9. Miscellaneous.This letter, together with your Proprietary Infoiioa and Inventions Agreement and the Arbitra
Agreement form the complete and exclusive staterobgbur employment agreement with Proofpoint.uparsedes any ott
agreements or promises made to you by anyone, etetal or written, and it can only be modifiedainvritten agreement sigr
by an Officer or the Vice President of Human Resesiof the Company.

As required by law, this offer is subject to satetbry proof of your right to work in the Uniteda$ds, your success
clearance of a routine background check (includixgcuting the consent forms to perform those chedlish are included wi
this letter attached hereto Bghibit C ), and signing the enclosed Proprietary Informaaod Arbitration Agreements. Ple.
sign and date this letter, both of its exhibitsg @ime background check consent forms and retumm tkeme by end of busine
Wednesday, December 21, 2011, if you wish to aceeytioyment with Proofpoint under the terms descdtibbove. A duplica
original of this letter in included for your recard

We look forward to working with you to make Proaifpioa success. If there are any aspects of our,offeich yot
would like, clarified, please let me know.

Best regards,

/sl Gary Steel



Gary Steele
Chief Executive Officer

Understood & Agreed:

/s/ Darren Lee

Darren Lee



Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries
PROOFPOINT CANADA INC.
PROOFPOINT EMAIL SOLUTIONS GMBH
PROOFPOINT INTERNATIONAL INC.
PROOFPOINT JAPAN KK
PROOFPOINT LIMITED

PROOFPOINT MALTA LTD
PROOFPOINT PTY LTD

PROOFPOINT SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
NEXTPAGE, INC.

PROOFPOINT NI LTD.

ABACA TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
ARMORIZE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (US)
ARMORIZE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. (Taiwan)
ARCHING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
SENDMAIL, INC.

SENDMAIL INTERNATIONAL, INC.
SENDMAIL, LTD.

SENDMAIL SOFTWARE GMBH
SENDMAIL SARL

SENDMAIL KK

NASCENT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NETCITADEL, INC.

NEXGATE, INC.

List of Subsidiaries of Proofpoint Inc.

Ontario, Canada

Delaware, USA
Japan

England and Wales

Republic of Malta

Delaware, USA
Northern Ireland
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Taiwan
Taiwan
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
United Kingdom
Germany
France
Japan
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA
Delaware, USA

Exhibit 21.01

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Federal Repubtif Germany

Commonwealth of Australia
Republic of Singapore



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Fora8 $No. 333-180839, N0.333-187321 and No0.33:
194599) of Proofpoint, Inc. of our report dated ey 26, 2015 relating to the financial statemamd the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, which appears in thisfadr0-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gary Steele, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16f#roofpoint, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifas designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttie reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportiftat occurred during the registramthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2015

/sl GARY STEELE

Gary Steele

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officey




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul Auvil, certify that:
1. I have reviewed thiAnnual Report on Form 10-K of Proofpoint, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifas designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttie reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportiftat occurred during the registramthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2015

/s/ PAUL AUVIL

Paul Auvil

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gary Steele, Chief Executive Officer of Proofpiilnc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuto 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that:

« the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamytifie year ended December 31, 2014 (the "Reparty) Eomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&esrExchange Act of 1934; and

« the information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2015

/sl GARY STEELE

Gary Steele

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officey

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®ey Section 906 has been provided to the Compadwll be retained by it and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its gfafh request.



EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Paul Auvil, Chief Financial Officer of Proofpdirinc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursttm18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that:

< the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamytifie year ended December 31, 2014 (the "Reparty) éomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&earExchange Act of 1934; and

< the information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2015

/sl PAUL AUVIL

Paul Auvil

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadwll be retained by it and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its gfadh request.



